

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

## Kindergarten Teachers' Implementation Methods for School Readiness Skills in a Rural School

Beverly Vashon Woods Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

## Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Beverly Vashon Woods

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Derek Schroll, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Jo DeSoto, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Mary Howe, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

#### Abstract

Kindergarten Teachers' Implementation Methods for School Readiness Skills in a Rural School

by

Beverly Vashon Woods

EdS, Troy State University, 1990

MAE, Troy State University, 1986

BS, Georgia College & State University, 1978

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2021

#### Abstract

Kindergarten students in a Title 1 elementary school are lacking school readiness skills. When students enter kindergarten unprepared to learn, they may experience difficulties with approaches toward learning skills related to physical, language, social, emotional, and cognitive development, which are reliable predictors of subsequent academic and life success. The purpose of this qualitative bounded case study with a constructivist framework was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. Convenience sampling was used within a bounded system of four kindergarten teachers in a Title 1 elementary school. Semistructured interviews and observations provided data for thematic qualitative analysis using open and selective codes. Findings indicated that all kindergarten teachers taught the five domains of school readiness using differentiated instruction and used encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. Based on the findings, a summer kindergarten boot camp was designed to improve kindergarten teachers' pedagogy and affective teaching strategies to improve incoming kindergarten students' readiness skills. The project may promote positive social change by helping kindergarten teachers and leaders to improve their pedagogical approaches and affective teaching strategies. The development of differentiated instruction and encouragement may enhance students' preparation for kindergarten.

# Kindergarten Teachers' Implementation Methods for School Readiness Skills in a Rural School

by

Beverly Vashon Woods

EdS, Troy State University, 1990

MAE, Troy State University, 1986

BS, Georgia College & State University, 1978

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2021

#### Dedication

In memory of my parents, Mary and Alexander (Alex) Woods; brothers, Andrew (Andy), James Alexander, and Chester Woods; nephew, Michael Belmar; nieces, Eleanor Irving and Danita Joy Woods; family friend Ronald J. Taylor; and mentor Dr. Jerome Franson, who is the wind beneath my wings. To my family, thank you for your unconditional love and support throughout this journey. To my Godmother, Dr. Judith Franson, thank you for teaching me to follow my dreams, for as I dream, so shall I become. I especially recognize my Sunday school and Schoolhouse children; thank you for teaching me the significance of perseverance, endurance, and absolute assurance. To my professional colleagues, thank you for believing in me unconditionally, and most importantly, to my Sister, Dr. Tracee M. Synco, who encouraged me to reach beyond racial microaggressions and to chant our mantra, "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me" Philippians 4:13 (NIV).

#### Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge multiple individuals who contributed to my Doctor of Education (Ed) journey. Christian A. Patterson-Hurt, Kendra Ann Flournoy-Ware, and DePaula N. Woods, without your encouragement, editing abilities, and support, the journey would not have been possible. Special thanks to my doctoral committee, Dr. Derek Schroll, Dr. Jo DeSoto, and Dr. Mary Howe; without your commitment, dedication, and willingness to challenge me to reach beyond my grasp, this journey would have been incomplete. I am very grateful to my lifetime friends, Monica Manns, Cathy Phillips, Jacqueline White, Carrie Williams, and Sheila Wagner, for supporting my elusive dream of achieving a Doctor of Education (Ed.D.).

### Table of Contents

List of Tables	v	V
Section 1: The Problem		[
The Local Problem	1	1
Definition of the Problem		1
Rationale	3	3
Evidence of the Problem at the	Local Level	3
Evidence of the Problem From	the Professional Literature	[
Definitions of Terms	11	1
Significance of the Study	14	1
Research Question	14	1
Review of Literature	15	5
Conceptual Framework		5
Social Constructivist Theory		5
Review of the Broader Problem	31	1
Implications	36	5
Summary	36	5
Section 2: The Methodology		3
Qualitative Research Design and A	pproach38	3
Justification of the Research Desig	n42	2
Participants	42	2
Criteria for Selecting Participal	nts	2
Justification for Number of Par	ticipants43	3

Procedure for Gaining Access	44
Methods of Establishing Working Relationships	44
Methods for Ethical Protection	45
Data Collection	46
Interviews	47
Nonparticipant Observations	48
Semistructured Interview Plan	50
Nonparticipant Observation Plan	51
Data Collection and Recording	52
Systems for Tracking Data	53
Storage and Handling of Data	54
Data Analysis	55
How and When Data Were Analyzed	56
Thematic Analysis for Semistructured Interviews	56
Thematic Analysis for Nonparticipant Observation Descriptive Notes	60
Evidence of Quality	65
Discrepant Cases	67
Data Analysis	68
Semistructured Interviews	68
Nonparticipant Observations	71
Results	74
Theme 1: Differentiated Instruction	74
Theme 2: Encouragement	82

Summary of Findings	86
Project Deliverable	91
Conclusions	92
Section 3: The Project	93
Introduction	93
Rationale	94
Review of the Literature	95
Differentiated Instruction	96
Tiered Instruction	97
Collaborative Learning	98
Self-Regulation	100
Anchor Activities	101
Encouragement	101
Conscious Discipline	102
Project Description	103
Project Evaluation Plan	110
Project Implications	112
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	115
Project Strengths and Limitations	115
Project Strengths	115
Project Limitations	116
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	117
Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change	119

Leadership and Change	119
Project Development	120
Scholarship	121
Reflection on the Importance of the Work	122
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	123
Directions for Future Research	123
Applications	124
Implications	124
Conclusion	125
References	126
Appendix A: The Project	153
Appendix B: Kindergarten Teachers' Interview Questions	208
Annendix C: Observation Protocol	211

## List of Tables

Table 1. Open Coding Example for How the Five Domains Are Taught	69
Table 2. Open Coding Example for How the Five Domains Are Taught	72
Table 3. Implementation Timeline	106
Table 4. Personnel and Students: Roles and Responsibilities	107
Table 5. Equipment, Materials, and Resources	109
Table A1. Implementation Timeline	157
Table A2. Personnel and Students: Roles and Responsibilities	158
Table A3. Equipment, Materials, and Resources	161

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### The Local Problem

The transition from preschool to kindergarten is challenging for students who have not developed school readiness skills. School readiness is a stage of child development indicated by five early-development dimensions: (a) cognition and general knowledge, (b) physical wellbeing and motor development, (c) language and literacy development, (d) approaches toward learning, and (e) social and emotional development (Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University [CDCHU], 2011). These five domains of school readiness are aligned with the Georgia Standards of Excellence (GSE) for kindergarten children (Kagan et al., 2011). Children who have not developed these learning competencies are expected to meet or exceed GSE expectations during the kindergarten year in order to be prepared for first grade (Annie E. Casey Foundation [AECF], 2014).

The construct of school readiness is broadly defined (Brown, 2010; Farran, 2011; Ursache et al., 2011). The term generally applies to a child who has reached (or will reach) the age of 5 years prior to September 1 to start kindergarten in Georgia (Georgia Department of Education [GDOE], n.d.). School readiness is a stage of development that includes language, social, motor, perceptual, and conceptual competencies (CDCHU, 2011). The Head Start program's definition of school readiness indicates that it entails skills and capabilities of children in essential developmental domains, which include (a) language and literacy, (b) social-emotional development, (c) cognition, (d) approaches toward learning, and (e) physical health and motor development (Office of Head Start

[OHS], 2014a). School readiness arises from interactions that children experience culturally and environmentally that maximize their developmental outcomes (Farran, 2011). School readiness is regarded by some kindergarten teachers as a set of common core standards for social, emotional, and intellectual development that will prepare children for future academic success (National Center on Quality Teaching and Learning [NCQTL], n.d.). These constructs of the five domains of school readiness suggest that learning and development are interconnected and interrelated across all areas of development.

The five domains of school readiness are seen as developing in all children (birth through age 8 years) and as supporting their learning competencies and readiness for school (OHS, 2014b). These five domains connect to children's cognitive, social, emotional, and linguistic skills, as well as to their environment. Development within the domains of school readiness is important for all children to become successful throughout school and life (OHS, 2014a).

Kindergarten teachers play essential roles in preparing students to exhibit school readiness competencies. These teachers are held to increased accountability demands (National Association for the Education of Young Children [NAEYC], 2015).

Kindergarten teachers anticipate that incoming kindergarten children will enter their classrooms prepared to meet certain personal needs, which include using the bathroom without help and cleaning their hands (NAEYC). These are basic self-help skills that give children the opportunity to acquire new learning skills (Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning [GDECAL], n.d.a).

In general, kindergarten teachers spend from 6 to 8 hours a day providing structured learning activities in which kindergartners are expected to ask for help, sit and listen, and follow classroom routines (NCQTL, n.d.). Kindergarten teachers also provide opportunities for children to develop learning competencies through instructional routines, whole-class instruction, learning centers, seat work, and playground time (NCQTL, n.d.). Early childhood educators spend numerous hours of instruction with kindergarten children in multiple environments with different kindergarten readiness skills, levels of preparedness, and general knowledge.

Kindergarten teachers' expectations of the readiness skills of kindergarten students from various environments have changed over time (Bassok et al., 2016). Their expectations have shifted with a move from play-based instruction to explicit instruction. Previously, kindergarten teachers provided child-directed instruction. Currently, kindergarten teachers give teacher-directed instruction. Moreover, these teachers' expectations have shifted in focus from children's social-emotional development to their cognitive development. In recent decades, as Bassok et al., indicated, teachers' expectations have changed as a result of the passage of federal laws such as the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001. These mandates have increased expectations related to structural differences (length of day and size of setting), developmental levels of children, appropriate behavior, curriculum focus, and instructional philosophy (NCQTL, n.d.). It is crucial for kindergarteners to have early learning experiences that prepare them for the transition from preschool into kindergarten. This study may help kindergarten teachers to implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten

student learning. The case study may help educators understand the current problem better and make informed decisions to address it.

#### **Definition of the Problem**

Children in a Title 1 elementary school in southwest Georgia are experiencing school readiness challenges when they transition to kindergarten from Head Start programs and school-based preschools, as well as when they enter kindergarten with no exposure to preschool environments (AECF, 2014). The kindergarten teachers at the local elementary school participating in this study acknowledged that incoming kindergarten children's assessment data from the Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills (GKIDS) offer strong indications regarding students who are unprepared to learn cognitive, language, social and emotional, and behavioral competencies.

Throughout the kindergarten school year, kindergarten teachers use GKIDS to evaluate student learning and plan instruction across five domains of school readiness.

Bable (2013) described GKIDS as an assessment tool to plan instruction and collect data for the GSE across five domains of school readiness. Kindergarten teachers, according to Bable, use GKIDS data to inform instructional decisions, parent conferences, and grades on report cards.

The elementary school principal indicated that for the past 3 years, 85% of incoming kindergarten students had not demonstrated prerequisite competencies in the mathematics, language, speaking, writing, listening, and reading strands on the GKIDS, with many also showing deficiencies in approaches toward learning and social and emotional development. Necessary skills for entering students include looking at books

or pictures, pretending to read books, and recognizing some familiar words in print (Cappelloni, 2013). These are essential readiness skills for children to prepare to read.

During the past 3 years, an administrator at the study site stated "GKIDS data have also indicated that incoming children have experienced mathematics challenges." The principal at the study site indicated that over 80% of incoming children had not demonstrated mathematics and number awareness. Mathematics skills that children entering kindergarten need include numeral identification, counting, pattern recognition and creation, sorting, and classifying. A kindergarten teacher indicated that children in her class could not compare the sizes of groups of objects using language such as "more," "less," and "same as". Another kindergarten teacher agreed that half of the class struggled with the concept of comparing bigger and smaller. Such skills are strong predictors of children's academic success (Cappelloni, 2013).

According to the elementary school principal, one of the greatest challenges of incoming kindergarten children is language and emergent literacy. Important skills in this area include expanding vocabulary. Language and literacy skills (e.g., the use of inflections and affixes) are excellent indicators of kindergarteners' reading abilities throughout school and later life (Segaert et al., 2012). A kindergarten teacher acknowledged that over 90% of incoming children in her class had difficulty in following directions, speaking clearly, and using conventional grammar to engage in conversation with peers and adults. These skills enable a child to function appropriately in the kindergarten environment and to develop relationships with peers and teachers. Segaert et

al. indicated that these skills are developed at the same time that kindergarten children achieve development in other domains.

The elementary school principal further stated that incoming kindergarteners' school readiness challenges include physical well-being and motor development. A kindergarten teacher expressed that more than 80% of incoming kindergarten children had difficulties demonstrating tasks such as feeding, dressing, tearing paper, and holding and writing with a pencil. These skills help children to function in their environment and complete necessary tasks such as turning pages in their books, writing on the chalkboard, using a computer, eating, and holding hands (Segaert et al., 2012). The elementary school principal noted that incoming kindergarten children's physical and motor skills are essential to support other school readiness competencies.

In the past 3 years, incoming kindergarten students have also demonstrated severe challenges in their approaches toward learning. A kindergarten teacher contended that many incoming kindergarten children (80%) could not attend and engage in classroom activities, solve problems, and show curiosity, motivation, flexibility, and inventiveness in thinking. Welchons and McIntyre (2015) found that these skills are necessary for children to achieve success in kindergarten and life. A kindergarten teacher indicated that children who have not developed effective approaches toward learning will more than likely have challenges in developing social and emotional skills as well.

The elementary school principal also noted that incoming kindergarten children (80%) had demonstrated challenges in controlling their emotions, impulses, and tolerating frustration. A kindergarten teacher contended that over 50% of the children in

her class exhibited severe emotional problems in the kindergarten classroom and on the playground. The elementary school principal and four kindergarten teachers noted that the emotional challenges of incoming kindergarten children impact their ability to meet GSE expectations. Isaacs (2012) indicated that children who are experiencing these challenges will most likely enter kindergarten at a disadvantage because of their social and emotional behaviors. The elementary school principal further stated that other assessment data are currently unavailable regarding school-based prekindergarten and Head Start children's transition to kindergarten and school readiness challenges.

Regardless of the principal's and kindergarten teachers' initiatives, problems existed for students transitioning from preschool to kindergarten who were unprepared to learn. When kindergarten teachers and parents work together to support children entering kindergarten from multiple environments, outcomes will impact students' academic success (Berlin et al., 2011). Kindergarten teachers' initiatives included (a) establishing a connection with parents before the first day of kindergarten; (b) mailing information to parents before the first day of the school year, including medical and dental information; (c) inviting parents to visit the kindergarten classroom; (d) contacting parents to schedule home visits; (e) scheduling early registration for parents to enroll children in kindergarten; and (f) placing students who are performing below grade level on a tier support system and using strategies to increase their performance levels (Berlin et al., 2011). The elementary school principal and kindergarten teachers agreed that these strategies were being implemented but had not improved performance levels in content areas (English language arts and mathematics).

When the teachers and school leaders of a school indicate that over 75% of incoming kindergarten children are unprepared to learn school readiness skills, it is necessary to examine and address this problem for their future academic success. The problem of students entering kindergarten from multiple environments lacking readiness skills is not only a local problem, but also a challenge impacting children, schools, and families across America (Mulligan et al., 2014).

#### Rationale

This subsection includes my rationale for selecting kindergarten teachers' implementation of the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning as the topic of this study. I describe evidence of the problem at the local level, as well as evidence of the problem from the academic literature.

#### **Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level**

In the past 3 years, incoming kindergarten students have struggled to demonstrate school readiness skills. These include (a) writing letters of the alphabet correctly, (b) counting to 10, (c) following two- or three-step directions, (d) following classroom rules and routines, and (e) transitioning to activities. A kindergarten teacher noted that incoming kindergarten children (75%) were unprepared to use their hands and fingers in multiple ways, including holding a pencil correctly, stringing beads, and connecting blocks and puzzles. Another kindergarten teacher contended that incoming students entering kindergarten were unprepared to speak openly to express their ideas and emotions appropriately.

The elementary school principal noted that incoming kindergarten students (80%) were not ready to learn school readiness skills. These included (a) general knowledge (reasoning and problem solving), (b) language and literacy (letter knowledge, letter-word identification, vocabulary, expressing ideas so that others can understand them, blending sounds into words, phonological awareness, phonemic awareness), (c) mathematics (number sense and counting), and (d) behavioral skills (interacting appropriately with adults and peers; (AECF, 2014). Mulligan et al. (2014) indicated that students who enter kindergarten unprepared to learn these school readiness skills will more than likely not advance to first grade.

The elementary school principal and kindergarten teachers further contended that 80% of incoming kindergarten students demonstrated challenges with all strands of GKIDS. These strands, which include (a) personal and social development, (b) mathematics, (c) approaches toward learning, and (d) English language arts. are necessary for students to learn for future academic success (NAEYC, n.d.).

The four kindergarten teachers agreed that 80% of incoming students had not demonstrated English language skills in the first GKIDS assessment data. These necessary skills included forming a complete sentence, using the future tense, and speaking openly. These are essential language skills for children to learn to read and write (NAEYC, n.d.).

The elementary school principal further indicated that incoming students had not demonstrated approaches toward learning using the second assessment of GKIDS. These skills included persistence, motivation, and attention and are the foundation for all future

learning (NAEYC, n.d.). A kindergarten teacher agreed that over 75% of the students in her class were not motivated to learn these skills or did not demonstrate interest in doing so. The principal contended that more than 75% of incoming kindergarten children had skill levels significantly below those of typically developing 5-year-old students.

The school principal further indicated that incoming children (80%) still demonstrated deficits in multiple strands by the third assessment of GKIDS. These included (a) English language arts, (b) mathematics, (c) personal and social development, and (d) approaches toward learning. A kindergarten teacher agreed that incoming students (70%) in her class had not demonstrated these strands throughout the kindergarten year. Another kindergarten teacher claimed that incoming children had consistently demonstrated challenges in mathematics. These challenges included counting and recognizing numbers. Skills included identifying dimensional shapes such as circles, triangles, and squares. The principal contended that these skills are necessary for students to succeed in kindergarten.

At the research site, the principal noted that approximately 90 children had enrolled in kindergarten in the past 3 years. The principal contended that 75 of the incoming kindergarten children did not demonstrate progress on each strand of English language arts and mathematics. A kindergarten teacher acknowledged that less than 10% of children in her kindergarten class met expectations for the English language arts strand. Another kindergarten teacher agreed that 90% of children had not demonstrated expected performance levels in the English language arts strand.

The four kindergarten teachers indicated that over 85% of incoming children had not demonstrated progress in the strands of number recognition, sequence, addition, subtraction, place value, measurement, and money. The principal acknowledged that kindergarten students who had not demonstrated performance levels in core strand areas (mathematics, reading, English language arts) were targeted for supplemental services. The elementary principal also contended that kindergarten students who did not demonstrate progress on each strand had experienced peer rejections, punitive contacts with the kindergarten teachers, severe disciplinary actions (in and out of school suspensions), and academic failure.

#### **Evidence of the Problem From the Professional Literature**

Daily et al. (2010) acknowledged the need to improve children's school readiness skills; Bernstein et al. (2014) agreed that many students in America are unprepared to enter kindergarten. Referring to findings from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 [ECLS-K], Bernstein et al. (2014) further stated that over 70% of kindergarten students were academically and behaviorally unprepared for kindergarten across five domains of school readiness. In a recent AECF Data Report (2015), kindergarten teachers acknowledged that students entering kindergarten are unprepared academically in areas such as recognizing the letters of the alphabet and phonics. Other researchers (Bierman et al., 2014; Blair & Raver, 2012) found that children's school readiness skills and later life success involve academic and behavioral abilities as well as language skills, emotional well-being, physical and mental health, and approaches toward learning.

The U.S. government has shown an effort to support kindergarten children's school readiness. Programs supporting this goal have included (a) Early Head Start, (b) Head Start, and (c) Early Childhood Training and Technical Assistance (T/TA) System. These initiatives have reduced educational disparities among kindergarten children (Administration for Children and Families [ACF], 2010). According to data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study—Birth Cohort (*n* = 6,950), Lee et al. (2014) stated that these initiatives (Early Head Start and Head Start programs) helped to promote children's school readiness. Lee et al. further stated that children attending these programs had higher reading and mathematics scores compared to kindergarteners who did not attend Early Head Start and Head Start programs when entering kindergarten.

Daily et al. (2010) stated that other initiatives of NCLB (2001) had involved a national commitment to improve students' school readiness. Daily et al. further stated that across the United States and the District of Columbia, educators had developed common core standards to support incoming kindergarten children who are unprepared to learn school readiness skills. Kagan et al. (2011) indicated that GSE expectations for kindergarten children are aligned with the five domains of school readiness.

In recent decades, various states and communities nationwide have invested a significant amount of time, money, and other resources to prepare students for kindergarten readiness. In 2007, the Louisiana Legislature passed the School Readiness Tax Credits (SRTC), making Louisiana the only state to offer tax credits to improve school readiness skills in children (birth to 5 years; Louisiana Department of Revenue [LDOR], 2007). During the 2012-2013 school year, Louisiana Governor Bobby Jindal

signed legislation that required the state board of education to create an Early Childhood System of Local Networks that would be governed by performance standards for kindergarten readiness (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2012).

In the 2012-2013 school year, a new transitional kindergarten (TK) program was implemented in California (California Department of Education [CDE], 2013). The program was a result of Senate Bill 1381, which amended the California Educational Code to change the required birthdate for children entering kindergarten from December 2 to September 2 (CDE, 2013). Incoming kindergarten children would be prepared to enter kindergarten ready to learn.

In a California county, a collaboration of the Stanislaus Community Foundation (SCF), Stanislaus County Library, Office of Education, and Children and Families Commission found that about 70% of Stanislaus County's kindergarten children entered kindergarten unprepared to learn school readiness skills (SCF, 2016). These include (a) counting out loud, (b) printing words, and (c) recognizing words on a page. Researchers (Peisner-Feinberg et al., 2015) stated that initiatives (prekindergarten programs) across America showed educational improvement in critical areas of school readiness. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

#### **Definitions of Terms**

The following operational definitions will be used throughout this project study.

*Building blocks:* Children's learning competencies that are grouped together with many other similar skills to construct greater learning competencies (ACF, 2015).

*Transition to kindergarten*: Children moving into new learning environments with the support of their families, schools, and communities (Miller, 2014).

#### **Significance of the Study**

The findings from this study may be used to help kindergarten teachers to teach the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. According to Gullo (2014), school readiness skills include (a) cognition and general knowledge, (b) communication and language learning, (c) social and emotional skills, (d) approaches toward learning, and (e) physical well-being and motor development. Children develop these readiness skills when they learn and practice them in meaningful experiences in settings such as schools and communities. Researchers (Li-Grining et al., 2010) have linked and documented the need for students to acquire these essential school readiness skills for academic success.

The results of this study may help to prepare kindergarten teachers to enhance their pedagogical skills for implementing the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarteners' readiness skills. This study may also add to future research concerning incoming kindergarten children being unprepared to learn.

#### **Research Question**

The following research question guided this study: How do kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning?

#### **Review of Literature**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. It is essential for children entering kindergarten to acquire skills within the five dimensions of early development and to demonstrate key learning competencies in order to function in school and life.

Vygotsky's (1978) theory of social constructivism guided the literature review, the data collection, and the data analysis. Thus, this literature review included the conceptual framework that grounded the study and its connection to kindergarten teachers' implementation of the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning.

In conducting the literature review, I sought relevant information from ERIC, Google Scholar, ProQuest, and EBSCO. Strategic search terms included *factors that impact school readiness*, *factors that influence school performance*, *five domains of school readiness*, *poverty*, *health and nutrition*, *socioeconomic and school readiness*, *readiness and achievement gaps*, *parental involvement*, *kindergarten curriculum*, *literacy*, *language*, *Head Start programs*, *at-risk preschoolers*, *Georgia performance standards*, *childcare*, *Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills (GKIDS)*, *social constructivism*, and *preschool age group*.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

In this qualitative case study, I designed the research to capture the essence of the study under investigation through semistructured interviews and classroom observations.

A case study gives a researcher the ability to gain a specific understanding of the study under investigation. I connected the participants' interviews and classroom observations to a social constructivist approach to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Social constructivism involves a focus on individuals' perceptions of reality, knowledge, and learning (Vygotsky, 1978). Social constructivism included (a) when reality is constructed through human activities, (b) when knowledge involves human interactions (socially and culturally), and (c) when individuals learn through social activities. Social constructivism, heavily influenced by Vygotsky, emphasizes that individuals construct knowledge from human and social interactions.

Social constructivism is a theory that may be used when a researcher seeks to understand incoming kindergarten students' readiness skills in relation to their environment (Vygotsky, 1978). I used social constructivist theory because my purpose was to understand how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. These five domains of school readiness establish the Head Start Child Early Learning Outcomes Framework (HSELOF, 2015), which may be used to conceptualize school readiness (OHS, 2014a). The constructs for this study involve the five domains of school readiness that have been identified by the HSELOP (OHS, 2014a). At the research site, the kindergarten curriculum was aligned with the five domains of school readiness (Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning, n.d.b). These five domains also grounded my efforts of data collection and analysis. The five dimensions of early development and

learning competencies, according to HSELOP, are (a) cognition and general knowledge, (b) language development, (c) social and emotional development, (d) approaches toward learning, and (f) physical wellbeing and motor development.

Physical wellbeing involves the ability of kindergarten children to consistently participate in all developmentally appropriate activities (OHS, 2014a). Physical competencies (energy, strength, flexibility, coordination, stamina, and endurance) allow kindergarten children the ability to focus and have healthy bodies and thus make it possible for them to participate in appropriate activities. These physical competencies are essential and are building blocks for physical wellbeing and motor development.

Motor skills give kindergarten children the ability to be physical in their environment and support other areas of early development and learning competencies (Cappellioni, 2013). Children's motor skills involve three distinct components: gross, fine, and sensorimotor skills (OHS, 2014a). Motor skills that involve large muscle movements are called *gross motor skills*. Kindergarten children's gross motor skills are essential to their performance of everyday tasks and self-care and ultimately support the foundation for their social, behavioral, and emotional development (OHS). Children need these skills to sit, stand, or put a coat on without falling. Gross motor movements include walking, jumping, climbing, and skipping, as well as nonlocomotor activities such as stretching, pushing, turning, and throwing a ball. These skills help kindergarten children to balance and concentrate (NAEYC, n.d.). These skills also help children to show preference for the dominant side of their body and function in their environment (NAEYC, n.d.).

Gross motor skills influence children's ability to demonstrate fine motor skills. Skills in the fine motor category include writing, drawing, cutting, eating, stacking blocks, grasping small objects, and fastening clothing (NAEYC, n.d.). These skills involve the small muscles of both hands. Weaknesses in these skills can affect children's ability to eat, write legibly, or perform self-help skills such as dressing and grooming. Grissmer et al. (2010) found that these skills contribute to kindergarten children's overall development and are indicators for later academic achievement.

Sensorimotor skills integrate children's senses. Such skills include hearing, smelling, tasting, and touching in relation to motor activities (OHS, 2014a). These skills are necessary for children to engage in motor activities (jumping, reaching, and walking) and interact with their environment. Visual perception plays a key role in academic skills such as writing, reading, and copying. Likewise, auditory perception is required in order for children to hear as well as comprehend information in school.

Children's motor development relies upon proper nutrition and rest. Children must eat many types of nutritious foods to grow and develop well. Cameron et al. (2012) observed that proper nutrition gives children the energy and mobility they need to learn, function, and concentrate in their environment. Motor skills (chewing, swallowing, eating, and drinking) are essential to kindergarten children performing necessary tasks in school and life.

The importance of the physical wellbeing and motor development domain to school readiness has been supported by numerous research studies. Romano et al. (2010) found that children's memory, basic knowledge, and motor skills are reliable indicators

of school readiness and later achievement. Cameron et al. (2012) found that motor skills are interrelated and interconnected across multiple domains of school readiness. These studies, and others like them, further indicate that motor development supports other school readiness domains. As an explanation for how motor development supports multiple domains of school readiness, kindergarten children may develop cognitive, language, and social skills from playing a game of football on the playground.

Social skills involve the ability of kindergarten children to interact with peers and adults, and their capacity for self-regulation in all developmentally appropriate activities (Schultz et al., 2011). Social competencies (asks for help, adjusts to new situations, works cooperatively, and uses words like *please*, *thank you*, and *excuse me*) allow kindergarten children the ability to engage in learning and form positive relationships with peers and teachers. Social competencies also involve cognitive processes. Such skills include goal setting, decision making, and self-discipline (Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning [CASEL], 2013). These social skills are essential for kindergarten students to build confidence, cognitive curiosity, interaction, intentionality, self-control, relatedness, language usage, and cooperativeness (Bierman et al., 2014) and they are indicators of future academic and life success. These social competencies are important as building blocks for social and emotional development.

Emotional competencies involve the ability of kindergarten children to respect themselves, respond to the emotions of others, and comprehend and express their feelings in all developmentally appropriate activities (CASEL, 2013). When these competencies are present, kindergarten children respect the property of others, engage in cooperative

learning environments, sit still, attend, and follow two or three oral directions and rules (Liew, 2011). These emotional competencies form a foundation for the regulation of emotions, attention, and behavior.

Emotional skills allow kindergarten children to engage in appropriate activities and support other areas of early development and learning competencies (CASEL, 2013). Researchers (Broderick & Blewitt, 2010) have found that kindergarten children who demonstrate emotional competencies are more than likely to succeed academically in school.

Kindergarten children's emotional competencies are related to academic achievement (CASEL, Liew, 2011; Valiente et al., 2012). Kindergarten children who are not accepted by their peers may have lower levels of academic self-concept that result in low levels of academic success (CASEL; Liew, 2011; Valiente et al., 2012). The emotional competencies that influence children's sense of academic competency may not be fully developed; they may be unable to take turns and share and unable to care for their personal needs. Valiente et al. observed that children who lack these competencies have poor self-esteem. When kindergarten children have not acquired emotional competencies, they receive less instructional time and less positive feedback from their kindergarten teachers (Valiente et al., 2012), which affects school success.

The importance of the social and emotional development domain to school readiness is that it always remains the cornerstone of school readiness (CASEL, 2013). Children's social and emotional skills are interrelated and are acquired in a predictable

sequence (OHS, 2014a). These skills are essential and are connected to how kindergarten children acquire readiness competencies.

Approaches toward learning involve how kindergarten children acquire learning competencies in social interactions. Such competencies (initiative, engagement, persistence, and curiosity) allow kindergarten children to initiate conversations and wait their turn to speak during group discussions and thus make it possible for them to participate in appropriate activities. These approaches toward learning competencies are essential and are the foundation for future learning.

In past decades, researchers (Bernstein et al., 2014) found that kindergarten teachers can build children's approaches to learning across all domains of school readiness through actions such as being intentional about fostering positive attitudes and behaviors and providing additional support and guidance. Kindergarten teachers may provide hands-on experiences. These experiences may help kindergarten children to develop their ideas to explain "how" and "why" things occur with tools (scissors). These approaches toward learning competencies (reasoning, problem solving, curiosity, and eagerness to learn) are essential and are building blocks for executive function and self-regulation (CDCHU, 2011).

Self-regulation and executive function involve the mental ability of kindergarten children to perform multiple tasks successfully and thus make it possible to engage in all developmentally appropriate activities (CDCHU, 2011). Kindergarten children's executive functions (focusing on tasks, remembering instruction, and exercising inhibitory control) are essential and are demonstrated when they are aware of and interact

with peers and adults. Likewise, self-regulation is necessary in order for kindergarten children to control and manage emotions, thoughts, and behaviors in home and school environments (CDCHU, 2011). Kindergarten children who have these competencies (e.g., who go to their room voluntarily when upset and control their language) are more likely to focus their attention, remember directions, stay on task, and cope with communication challenges (Liew, 2011). These approaches toward learning competencies are essential and are building blocks for other domains of school readiness (Li-Grining et al., 2010).

Kindergarten children's approaches toward learning competencies are related to cognitive development (Vitiello et al., 2011). Approaches toward learning competencies (ability to be engaged, persistent, and attentive) allow kindergarten children to demonstrate these behaviors through cognitive abilities. Vitiello et al. observed that the relationship between kindergarteners' cognitive development and approaches toward learning provide the foundation for learning. Children's cognitive development and approaches toward learning competencies have a significant influence on other domains of school readiness.

Language development involves the ability of kindergarten children to participate in all developmentally appropriate activities, according to the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD, n.d.). Language competencies (NIDCD, n.d.) include (a) content (vocabulary and meaning), (b) form (grammatical structure or syntax), and (c) use (function). These language competencies allow kindergarten children the ability to communicate their needs and understandings and thus

make it possible for them to participate in appropriate activities. According to Law et al. (2013), these language competencies are essential and are the building blocks for language development.

Language skills allow kindergarten children to use meaningful communication in their environment and support other domains of school readiness (Cappelloni, 2013). Kindergarten children's language competencies involve three distinct components: phonemes, morphemes, and syntax (University of Oregon [UO] DIBELS Data System, n.d.).

Language skills that involve the smallest distinguishable units in language are called *phonemic skills*. Kindergarten children's phonemes are essential to learning to verbally communicate and ultimately support the foundation for other areas of early development and learning competencies (OHS, 2014a). Children need these skills to be able to read, write, listen, and speak. Phonemic skills include consonant sounds (b, d, and p) related to single phonemes (UO DIBELS Data System, n.d.).

Kindergarten children's language development also involves morphemes (UO DIBELS Data System, n.d.). Morphemes are meaningful parts (e.g., prefixes and suffixes) of words. Kindergarten children need these skills to speak, listen, and learn to read printed text. Likewise, syntax is required in order for children to speak, hear, as well as understand printed text in school. These skills are essential for kindergarten children and are critical indicators of kindergarten children's ability to engage, interpret, and perceive their environment.

The importance of the language development domain to school readiness is connected across all dimensions of early development and learning competencies (OHS, 2014a). Kindergarten children's language development involves communication and literacy, which are building blocks to approaches toward learning and social, emotional, physical, and cognitive development.

Cognitive development involves the ability of kindergarten children to consistently use all competencies of school readiness in developmentally appropriate activities (OHS, 2014a). Cognitive competencies (perceiving, recognizing, conceiving, judging, reasoning, and imagining) allow kindergarten children the ability to ask questions, to observe, to recognize differences and similarities, and to solve problems and thus make it possible for them to participate in appropriate activities. These cognitive competencies are essential and are building blocks for cognitive development.

Cognitive skills allow kindergarten children to develop daily social interactions and experiences and are essential for organizing and acquiring new knowledge (Vygotsky, 1978). Such skills include (a) mathematical skills (number sense, recognizing patterns, colors, and shapes) and (b) problem-solving skills (acknowledging similarities and differences, identifying solutions, and increasing attention and focus to challenging tasks). These skills are important for kindergarten children to demonstrate ideas, develop logical and abstract thinking, analyze questions, and comprehend their world.

Kindergarten teachers are expected to support kindergarteners' early learning and to teach students to simultaneously comprehend all five school readiness domains and content (language, reading, mathematics) and socialization. Even if kindergarten children

do not possess school readiness skills when they enter their first year in elementary school, they can succeed if and when their kindergarten teachers provide numerous methods to approach learning and encourage their curiosity, creativity, independence, cooperativeness, and persistence. Bodrova et al. (2013) stated that readiness skills are essential to teach in kindergarten classrooms to prepare children to learn.

### **Social Constructivist Theory**

Vygotsky (1978) emphasized the concept that learners construct understanding from their social interactions (particular relationships and environmental conditions). This approach known as social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978) and has become the primary explanation for young children development and learning in educational research. It is considered the foundation for practicing and teaching of young children in the U.S. educational system (Berk, 2010). Britto (2012) stated that social constructivism is used in many other countries. The theory of social constructivism aligned to school readiness literature and how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten students learning. I also aligned data collection (semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations) and data analysis to the theory of social constructivism.

Kindergarten teachers who use the social constructivist approach as the basis for their instructional decisions may encourage incoming kindergarten children to assess how the activities (identify and name letters) are helping them gain new knowledge and meaning. When kindergarten teachers motivate kindergarten children to learn, they will develop the necessary skills to learn and become expert learners (Berk, 2010). The

constructs for this case study involve the theory of social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978) and the five domains of school readiness. The five domains of school readiness, according to OHS (2014a), are (a) cognition and general knowledge, (b) language development, (c) social and emotional development, (d) approaches toward learning, and (f) physical wellbeing and motor development.

Kindergarten children's physical wellbeing occurs in a social context. Through social interactions (imaginary play), kindergarten teachers may guide young learners in developing physical competencies that allow them to engage in appropriate activities (Bodrova et al., 2013). These social interactions are essential and are building blocks for physical wellbeing and motor development.

Motor skills occur not only through social interactions but in an interdependence system of evolving competencies that complement each other. When children's motor skills (show coordination in activities, or show appropriate small and large motor skills) are developed, they have a definite sense of personal well-being and can engage in social interactions with their teachers and peers. Wachs, et al. (2014) observed that kindergarten children's motor skills and maturation are stronger when they have daily practice to interact directly with their environment. Kindergarten teachers can coach children to develop motor skills. These include writing, riding a bicycle or throwing a ball.

The importance of the physical wellbeing and motor domain to social constructivism has been supported by the work of Vygotsky (1978). Vygotsky found that children construct knowledge and meaning through their actual developmental level. Children's developmental level begins through social interaction and thus allows initial

sensory-motor, fine, and gross motor skills. These include learning experience for an emergent writer may involve developing motor skills such as hand and eye coordination to grasp and control writing tools (squeezing water out of sponges). Kindergarten teachers may engage kindergarten children in sensory experiences such as making letters with finger paint. These learning experiences are essential and are building blocks for kindergarten children's cognitive, emotional and social development.

Kindergarten children's social development comes from shared meaning and knowledge of their peers and adult interaction in nurturing environments (Vygotsky, 1978). Social competencies, according to CASEL (2013), include interacting with peers and adults, engaging in learning, and responding to peers and teachers using appropriate language. These social competencies may provide students with opportunities to accommodate and assimilate their current understandings of new information and thus make it possible to socialize with peers and teachers in a kindergarten environment. The social competencies are essential and building blocks for social and emotional development.

Emotional skills allow kindergarten children the ability to create meaning from engaging in social interactions with more knowledgeable peers and adults (collaboration) in the environment (Vygotsky, 1978). Emotional skills support also other areas of early development and learning competencies (OHS, 2014a). Kindergarten teachers may engage students to use active techniques (problem solving) to promote their emotional development. It is critical for kindergarten teachers to become familiar with kindergarteners' previous challenges to guide activities that will address the challenges.

Social and emotional development are tied together because kindergarten children's emotional development occurs in social constructs (CASEL, 2013). Social and emotional competencies are essential and are building blocks for cognitive and language development and how kindergarten children acquire learning competencies.

The core of kindergarten children's social interactions involves approaches toward learning (OHS, 2014a). Such competencies (persistence, problem-solving, and motivation) allow kindergarten teachers and principals to focus on how kindergarten children approach learning in construct social environments and thus make it possible for them to make instructional decisions. These competencies are essential and are building blocks for approaches toward learning.

Kindergarten teachers may construct how kindergarten children learn in a social learning environment. Researchers (Gredler, 2012; Silver, 2012) found that early childhood providers may use numerous teaching techniques such as adult-child interactions, daily routines, scaffolding, and collaborative learning in the classroom. Early childhood teachers may involve learners in their learning experiences such as kindergarten teacher comments on children's attempts to handle a challenging situation: "Derek took the red crayon from you. You did not grab it back from him. You used a different color of crayon. That was a kind way to solve the crayon problem!" Silver further stated that when caregivers are nurturing and guiding, children learn to become actively involved in school activities and persistent in their work.

Primary teachers may use multiple approaches to support kindergarten children to become more actively engaged in learning (Cuticellit et al., 2014). Silver (2012) found

that kindergarten teachers who use Vygotsky's Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD, 1978) as an approach toward learning, build children's knowledge and meaning opposed to memorizing basic facts. In kindergarten learning settings, Silver indicated that kindergarten teachers may use scaffolding to help kindergarten children to become engaged in learning by building instruction around the student's previous knowledge.

Kindergarten teachers may use scaffolding as opportunities to gain perspectives about children's current knowledge of problem solving and the chance to build on what they already understanding. Some early childhood educators may use these approaches to demonstrate how children build knowledge through social interaction and collaboration. These strategies include cognitive and language skills to construct knowledge.

Kindergarten children's language development begins through social interactions (Segaert et al., 2012). Language competencies (speaking, listening, reading, and writing) allow kindergarten children the ability to participate in social activities and thus make it possible for kindergarten teachers to construct these competencies in social environments. These language competencies are essential and are building blocks for kindergarten teachers to construct children's language activities.

Kindergarten teachers may construct language activities for kindergarten children through play and cooperative learning (Bodrova et al., 2013; Vygotsky, 1978). Such activities as grouping (whole class, individually or in collaborative thinking teams of two) allow kindergarten teachers the ability to construct kindergarten children's language competencies (to ask questions, to observe and engage, and to recognize differences and similarities) in social interactions. Bodrova et al. stated that early childhood educators

may help to facilitate these language experiences through levels of play, necessary resources, coaching or mentoring kindergarten children as they attempt to link existing knowledge for new knowledge construction.

In the constructivist kindergarten classroom, teachers construct group learning activities (Wachs et al., 2014). As kindergarten children engage in these activities, their success involves how they approach learning, physical, and emotional competencies with significant emphasis on social interactions, and language as well as intellectual development (Li-Grining et al., 2010). Kindergarten teachers are required to understand how groups of kindergarten students construct knowledge and learn together. They must focus on kindergarten students' general knowledge and cognitive development.

Kindergarten children's cognitive development occurs in social interactions (Vygotsky, 1978). Cognitive competencies (abstract reasoning, memory, language, problem-solving, self-motivation, and self-assessment) allow kindergarten children the ability to construct knowledge and thus enabling them to build internally on existing knowledge for new knowledge construction (Vygotsky, 1978) and participate in appropriate activities. These cognitive competencies are essential and are building blocks for kindergarten teachers to help develop kindergarten children's cognitive skills.

Kindergarten teachers are in a position of authority and should be experts in assisting kindergarten children in developing new skills to existing skills. According to Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivism, these teaching practices allow students to seek new skills and apply the new skills to existing skills. For example, kindergarten teachers may ask kindergarten students to explain new ideas using their language skills.

Children's language may support their ability to learn new skills. Kindergarten teachers may also provide students with manipulatives to guide their counting which will help support existing skills. Some kindergarten teachers use other methods to assimilate and accommodate new knowledge that include positive reinforcement, hands-on activities, problem-solving, questions and answer, and the use of learning journals by students to monitor progress.

Cognitive development incorporates social interactions in the constructivist framework. According to social constructivism, Vygotsky (1978) found methods that require students to learn from more knowledgeable peers and adults. For instance, kindergarten children collaborate to find logical sources for the information they are seeking which enables them to use five dimensions of early learning and competencies. Through collaboration, kindergarten children can build their knowledge through social experiences and thus allowing them to participate in appropriate activities.

#### **Review of the Broader Problem**

Genetic inheritance and the environment are factors that contribute substantially to child development and learning (Biebl, 2012; DiLalla et al., 2012; Meaney, 2010; Tucker-Drob & Briley, 2014). From the moment of conception, interactions between genetic inheritance and the environment contribute to shaping a child's development. Tucker-Drob and Briley noted evidence from multiple studies (studies of twin children and adopted children) indicating the influence of genetic inheritance and environmental factors on intelligence. DiLalla et al. agreed that genetic and environmental factors are reliable predictors of school readiness and early school achievement. Relevant factors

include those related to the environment of the fetus in utero (Pagani & Fitzpatrick, 2014). Before birth, children's exposure to harmful drugs, for instance, may have a critical influence on school readiness (Williams et al., 2013).

Prenatal care is one of the critical factors laying the foundation for children's school readiness skills (Haucke et al., 2012); Roberts et al. (2011) found that insufficient prenatal care may lead to prematurely born children with poor cognitive skills such as short and long term memory, lack self-control, and mental flexibility. Quigley et al. (2012) agreed with Roberts et al. that insufficient prenatal care leads to poor educational achievement as early as 5 years of age. Similarly, Prado and Dewey (2014), Shonkoff et al. (2012), and Williams et al. (2013) contended that prenatal care sets the stage for future learning. Specifically, Prado and Dewey found that nutrients (vitamin A, copper, and folic acid) create the neural plate and tube. Insufficiency of these nutrients during pregnancy and infancy (Prado & Dewey, 2014) can adversely affect children's subsequent learning and academic performance (Loughan & Perna, 2012). Pagani and Fitzpatrick (2014) observed that these nutrient deficiencies can lead to stunting, anemia, or blindness. Further, Pagani and Fitzpatrick found that children who experienced these deficiencies in utero were more likely to experience excessive absenteeism from school, grade retention, and various health, social, emotional, and cognitive challenges. Further, as Loughan and Perna noted, children experiencing these nutrient deficiencies are more likely to have challenges in maintaining relationships with their peers and adults or in following directions.

Prenatal development plays a significant role in kindergarten children's readiness skills. Hanley et al. (2013) observed that delays in early developmental milestones (social, fine and gross motor, language, cognitive, emotional, and adaptive behavior) are associated with prenatal exposure to serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SRI) antidepressants. Smith et al. (2013) agreed that infants exposed to SRIs in the third trimester had delays in fine and gross motor development. According to Koren and Nordeng (2013), several studies based on administrative databases indicated that infants exposed to SRIs during a specific period of gestation had an increased risk of cardiac malformations and that exposure to SRI was likely affect early developmental milestones.

Researchers (Hamilton et al., 2015; Mollborn & Dennis, 2012; Prado & Dewey, 2014) have also linked lack of preparedness for incoming kindergarten children to teen parenting. Childbearing among teens (i.e., individuals aged 15-19 years) is common in United States, according to Mollborn and Dennis. Hamilton et al. agreed that U.S. teenage girls (34%) become pregnant before age 20 years. In comparison to teens in other countries, U.S. teens (24.2%) are more likely to bear premature babies with low birth weight; cognitive, language, social, and emotional challenges; and behavioral and educational problems (National Center for Health Statistics, 2014). Data (AECF, 2014b) indicate that teenage pregnancy and prenatal care may be linked to deficits in five domains of school readiness for incoming kindergarten children at the site of the study. The teenaged (i.e., individuals aged 15-19 years) pregnancy rate is 38.2% and these girls and women are bearing babies with low birthweight and having premature births at a higher rate than women 20 years of age or older (AECF, 2014b).

Researchers (Scott et al., 2013) found that premature (28 weeks' gestation age) and low birthweight children (1000 grams) in kindergarten have higher deficit rates in ability to focus, socialization, and self-control when they reach kindergarten. Pritchard et al. (2014) agreed that kindergarten children who were born prematurely are at higher deficit rate for various school readiness challenges. These include physical deficits, cognitive delay, language difficulties, and social and emotional problems. Similarly, Roberts et al. (2011) showed that premature kindergarten children demonstrate functioning levels (0.5 to 1 standard deviation) compared to full-term peers in all school readiness domains. Further, teens bearing premature and low- birthweight children are at higher rate of chronic respiratory problems, mental illness, and educational delays (Shonkoff et al., 2012). Mollborn and Dennis (2012) stated that prenatal care is strongly linked to teen parents and school readiness.

Researchers (Shonkoff et al., 2012; Woodhead, 2016) have also linked the quality of prenatal care and early learning experiences to incoming kindergarten children's developmental outcomes, including social, emotional, language, physical, and cognitive development. Mollborn and Dennis (2012) stated that babies of teen parents are more likely to be born into impoverished families and no educational resources, which affects their future academic and life success. At the site of the study, data indicate that teen mothers are born into families where parents are not employed (AECF, 2014b). Brophy-Herb et al. (2013) stated that children from impoverished families are at a greater risk of poor school readiness skills (emotional and cognitive development) compared to children from median-income families.

Other researchers (Shonkoff et al., 2012) have stated that kindergarten children who lack prenatal care, safe environments, stable relationships, socioeconomic resources, and consistent exposure to caring caregivers are likely to enter kindergarten unprepared to learn. As a result, incoming kindergarten children transition to kindergarten demonstrating health problems, physical, social and emotional challenges and/or cognitive and language development that require additional educational support and medical services (Cappelloni, 2013; Shonkoff et al., 2012). At the research site of the study, incoming kindergarten students may learn through problem solving and develop what Vygotsky (1978) has described as intellectual adaptation (attention, sensation, perception, and memory), which consequently become an essential part to learn school readiness skills.

Researchers (Cappelloni, 2013; Vygotsky, 1978) have stated that knowledge is constructed personally and developed in a social context of communities and collaboration. Because incoming kindergarten students transition to kindergarten from Head Start programs, school-based preschools, and with no exposure to preschool, a learning environment based on a constructivist framework may help incoming kindergarten students to prepare to learn all five domains of school readiness. These findings have significant implications for examination of how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

### **Implications**

Given the significance of children who may not have developed school readiness skills, the anticipated findings of the data collection and analysis may lead to increased professional development programs for kindergarten teachers to prepare for educating children to enter kindergarten on grade level. Other implications may include parent education programs to inform parents of how to provide enriched learning activities for their children so that when they enter kindergarten they are prepared to learn and are on grade level. The implications for positive social change from a possible project may lead to students entering kindergarten prepared for academic success.

### **Summary**

There is a need to improve school readiness skills of incoming kindergarten student (Daily et al., 2010). While kindergarten teachers continue to struggle to implement the five domains of school readiness, Cappelloni (2013) and OHS (2014c) have stated that readiness skills are interrelated and connected. These include approaches toward learning, physical, language, cognitive, social and emotional development. These five dimensions of early development and learning competencies are based on social constructivism and serves as a guide for data collection and analysis. A literature review was completed to better understand the problem and provide a framework for the data collection and analysis based on the five domains for school readiness.

The following section outlines the methodology implemented to answer the guiding research question. A qualitative case study was used to examine how

kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness for a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

# Section 2: The Methodology

In this section, the qualitative research and the reasons for the chosen methodology, selection of participants, data collection and analysis, and justification of the research design are discussed. Qualitative methods were used to explore how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. The qualitative study involved one guiding research question: How do kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning? Creswell (2012) stated that guiding research questions begin with the word *how* in qualitative studies. The guiding research question aligned with two methods (semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations) of data collection in the qualitative case study.

# **Qualitative Research Design and Approach**

A qualitative research method was used to analyze the perspectives of participants and explore the meaning they gave to the case study. A qualitative research method is used to answer "how" and "what" questions, whereas quantitative methods use data that can be changed into numerical form to answer "what," "how much," and "how many," questions. The qualitative research method, according to Creswell (2012), is preferred over the quantitative method when researchers focus on nonnumerical based responses. Quantitative methods would have been less useful for this case study because quantitative data would not have allowed linking raw data to the guiding research question and subquestion.

In quantitative research, researchers use statistical patterns to analyze quantifiable data and changed into useable statistic data (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Merriam (2009) stated that quantitative research allows researchers to quantify problems by generating numerical data. Other researchers (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Merriam, 2009; Yin, 2012) have stated that quantitative research is used to quantify participants' opinions and attitudes. Quantitative data and analysis would not have indicated how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. In general, qualitative researchers explore the experiences of participants in their natural settings to link raw data to research questions and answer research questions and subquestions. All qualitative research, according to Denzin and Lincoln (2011), involves a type of social inquiry that focuses on uncovering the nature of people and their perspectives of reality. For the case study design, the guiding research question was constructed to correlate with established research traditions. Through the case study design, I gained a better understanding to answer the research question concerning how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Researchers have stated that there are various research approaches for conducting qualitative research, which include (a) grounded theory, (b) ethnography, (c) phenomenology, (d) narrative analysis, (e) critical qualitative research, and (f) case study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Merriam, 2009). These approaches have essential characteristics of qualitative research, and each design has its distinct features. For this

study, case study was the best method because it made it possible to answer the study's one guiding research question.

Researchers have stated that grounded theory allows researchers to establish a theory that is supported by data (Thornberg, 2012; Timmermans & Tavory, 2012). The focus of the case study was not establishing a new theory from the data collected. Using ethnography, researchers look for shared patterns of behaviors, beliefs, and languages exhibited by a group over time (Merriam, 2009). Because I did not seek to study shared patterns of behaviors, beliefs, and languages by a sharing group, the ethnographic approach was not suited to the study.

The phenomenological approach is used to understand a phenomenon under investigation through the experiences of an individual or a group of people (Merriam, 2009). A phenomenological study, which focuses on investigating a particular experience, would not have provided the essential tool for studying how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Narrative analysis was not suited for this study because narrative analysis involves the use of participants' written or spoken words or pictures to tell their stories (Merriam, 2009). Critical qualitative research focuses on critiquing and changing how people view society (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). I was not interested in critiquing or changing how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness for a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Merriam (2009) stated that a case study allows a researcher to investigate a bounded system or a group of people.

In conclusion and based upon the analyses above, the nature of this project study was suited to a qualitative design with a case study approach. Case study researchers focus on individuals and groups (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Thornberg, 2012). Case study researchers are less likely to identify a cultural theme (Yin, 2012). Merriam (2009) stated that a case study approach allows researchers to investigate a bounded system such as a group of people. Because I sought to focus on the views of a particular group of individuals (kindergarten teachers), a qualitative case study was the approach best suited to answering the one guiding research question.

I adopted an intrinsic case study approach. An intrinsic case study approach, according to Creswell (2012), focuses on a case that is unusual and of particular interest to the researcher. An intrinsic case study allowed a complete analysis of the views of the bounded system under investigation. Kindergarten teachers made up the bounded system of the case study.

The purpose of this study was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning. According to Merriam (2009), a qualitative case study is appropriate when the researcher seeks to examine one specific phenomenon and to provide an in-depth understanding of the issue. In the qualitative case study, I used thematic analysis to search for, review, define, and identify themes. The participants' semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations allowed an opportunity to examine the problem from the perspective of kindergarten teachers who had knowledge relating to the

implementation of the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

# **Justification of the Research Design**

An intrinsic case study design was best suited for investigating the events that were interesting to me as the researcher. The purpose of this study was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. According to Merriam (2009), a qualitative case study is appropriate when the researcher seeks to examine one specific phenomenon and to provide an in-depth understanding of the issue. In this qualitative case study, I used open and selective coding to search for, review, define, and name themes to help describe the data analysis. The participants' semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations allowed an opportunity to examine the problem from the perspective of kindergarten teachers who had knowledge relating to the implementation of the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

# **Participants**

The qualitative case study was an inquiry into a bounded system. I used a bounded system to select a group of kindergarten teachers who were currently teaching incoming kindergarten children in small rural kindergarten classrooms.

### **Criteria for Selecting Participants**

The focus of the case study was how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve learning among incoming kindergarten students.

Participants were required to hold a baccalaureate or advanced degree in early childhood education (ECE) and to teach incoming kindergarten students at the targeted Title 1 elementary school where the problem had been identified. The use of kindergarten teachers as participants fit the design of the study. Kindergarten teachers were well-qualified to provide information that helped to answer the research question regarding how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Convenience sampling was used to select kindergarten teachers at the research site to participate. According to Creswell (2012), convenience sampling can be described as a form of nonprobability sampling. In nonprobability sampling, a sample is drawn from part of the population that is readily available and in close proximity to the researcher (Creswell, 2012). I used convenience sampling to select four kindergarten teachers with at least 3 years of teaching experience in a rural kindergarten classroom.

## **Justification for Number of Participants**

Determining the number of participants to include in a study is an essential component of qualitative research. At the research site, the school district had one elementary school with four kindergarten teachers in classrooms where the problem had been identified. This small number of four participants allowed me to provide a detailed picture to answer the research question. Creswell (2012) stated that qualitative research generally involves few participants. Creswell further explained that those participants who are selected must be those who can inform the research and understand the topic under study. The four kindergarten teachers at the study site had in-depth knowledge of

the five domains of school readiness and could provide the insight needed for the purpose of this study.

# **Procedure for Gaining Access**

In qualitative research studies, gaining access to participants may occur in numerous ways. Access may occur (a) through gatekeepers, (b) through the researcher having continual access to the participants, and (c) through the researcher's ability to understand what and why the contemporary phenomenon occurs (Clark, 2010). To gain access to the participants, I submitted a written request to conduct this study to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University when I had successfully completed the first oral defense. The Walden University IRB approved my Research Ethics Review Application on June 26, 2017 and assigned IRB approval number 06-26-17-0302841.

## **Methods of Establishing Working Relationships**

Once I had been given approval to collect data, the principal at the Title 1 elementary school provided the kindergarten teachers' school email address. I invited four kindergarten teachers via email to participate in the study at the research site.

Bickman and Rog (2011) stated that the type of research data that participants disclose depends on the researcher participant relationships in the research setting. I was neither an employee at the study site nor associated with the potential participants where the case study occurred.

During the initial meeting, I met individually with potential participants at a designated time established by each participant at the research site. I explained the

purpose of the study and the researcher's and participants' roles and responsibilities. I assured participants that I would protect the anonymity of their personal data, including geographical information, age, gender, and years of experience. I informed potential participants that I would use an alphanumeric system to protect their identity in the findings of the study. For example, the data collected from the first participant's interview and observation data would be identified as KT#2011. I will store these identification numbers (KT#2011, KT#2012, KT#2013, and KT#2014) in a separate locked file located in my home library for 5 years beyond this research study. I also explained that all interviews would be audio recorded. Lastly, I assured potential participants that a high measure of confidentiality would occur.

### **Methods for Ethical Protection**

Before any data collection occurred, I submitted an application to Walden University's IRB to ensure the ethical protection of participants. Denzin and Lincoln (2011) stated that it is essential to establish ethical protection of participants and procedures that defend the human rights of individuals. I sent each participant an invitation via email to participate in the case study. In the invitation, I included the subject of the research, the purpose of the study, the guiding research question and subquestion, procedures, and expectations of participants in the study. I asked potential participants to respond to the letter of invitation to participate with the words "I agree" or "I decline." Once I had received the participants' agreement, I contacted each participant via email to establish a time, date, and location to schedule the initial meeting. At any point during the case study, the participants had the right to withdraw their participation.

If a participant withdrew during the study, I would continue the study with the remaining participants. The participants would not receive compensation for their involvement in this case study.

I assured participants that I would adhere to all measures of confidentiality. I informed participants that their privacy during data collection would be protected and that I would use the alphanumeric system to protect their identity when reporting the findings in the narrative. I also informed participants verbally and in written form that their participation in this case study was entirely voluntary and that any participant had the right to withdraw from the study at any time. In addition, I informed participants that the risks of participation would be anticipated and minimized. I will store interview and observation data in a locked file cabinet in my home for 5 years beyond this research study.

# **Data Collection**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. I used multiple data sources for this case study, including semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations. These types of data are typically used in case studies (Merriam, 2009; Turner, 2010; Yin, 2012). Braun and Clark (2012) stated that semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations help to provide the best information to consolidate and link raw data to a research question, identify and integrate patterns, and answer the research question.

#### **Interviews**

In this qualitative case study, the first data set involved semistructured interviews. Stuckey (2013) stated that semistructured interviews allow an interviewer to establish the direction for the topics covered and note any discrepant themes. I used semistructured interviews to collect detailed information from participants concerning how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Stuckey (2013) stated that other types of interviews (structured and narrative) are used in qualitative research to direct participants to respond to specific research questions. Structured interviews allow researchers to have a sequential order in questioning (Stuckey, 2013). Turner (2010) stated that semistructured interviews have a focus but are flexible in order based on the participant' knowledge and experiences of a particular issue. Stuckey stated that structured interviews allow researchers to use a larger number of participants. Merriam (2009) indicated that semistructured interviews allow researchers to use a smaller number of participants. Semistructured interviews allow researchers to use informal and unstructured interviewing to develop a clear understanding of the topic of interest and develop appropriate semistructured questions.

I used semistructured interviews based on the five domains of school readiness and the GKIDS. I prepared five open-ended interview questions. The semistructured interviews enabled me to prepare the questions while allowing for the possibility that follow-up questions would emerge during the interviews. The use of semistructured interviews provided the participants with the opportunity for flexibility in their responses

(Seidman, 2013); Stuckey (2013) indicated that the use of semistructured interviews fit the data collection. Stuckey continued that the interview questions were open ended, the narrative interviews are comprehensive open-ended questions about a participant's experience, and the participants were not interrupted in the telling of their stories.

### **Nonparticipant Observations**

The second qualitative data collection set involved nonparticipant observations. Nonparticipant observations, according to Yin (2012), are a method to collect data by observing participants in their natural setting and without interacting with the participants. These nonparticipant observations allowed researchers to observe events that participants have or have not described in interviews (Merriam, 2009). I used nonparticipant observations to immerse myself into each kindergarten teacher's classroom to gain firsthand insight to answer the guiding research question. I used nonparticipant observations also to help develop trusting relationships with potential participants. These nonparticipant observations were documented in descriptive notes, and I added additional information after leaving the participants' classroom.

Researchers stated that nonparticipant observations may be used to increase the validity of the study (Merriam, 2009; Yin, 2012). Validity, according to Merriam, is stronger when combining additional data collection strategies with nonparticipant observations, such as semistructured interviews. I used nonparticipant observations to help answer one descriptive research question. The purpose of the nonparticipant observations was to observe how kindergarten teachers are actually implementing the

five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Braun and Clarke (2012) indicated that a small number of participants will allow researchers to collect sufficient data to link raw data to the research question, consolidate raw data, identify patterns in the data, integrate patterns, and answer to the research question. Creswell (2012) stated that a small number of participants will allow researchers to provide a deeper inquiry per participant. I observed four participants in their kindergarten classroom. These nonparticipant observations also have corroborated the results of the semistructured interviews (Merriam, 2009). These nonparticipant observations may also provide data that can be added to the semistructured interview data making the data collection process stronger.

During the nonparticipant observations, I anticipated seeing four kindergarten teachers implementing each domain of school readiness. For example, I anticipated observing kindergarten teachers teaching students' physical well-being (providing nutritional snacks or taking kindergarteners to the school nurse to receive medication) and motor (providing movement between activities or playing color bingo games) development skills. I also anticipated seeing kindergarten teachers teaching students social and emotional development readiness skills to some degree (modeling positive relationships through group activities such as show and tell).

The other domains of school readiness that I anticipated observing include (a) approaches toward learning (kindergarten teachers inspiring students to be interested in learning), (b) language development (kindergarten teachers teaching appropriate verbal

skills such as thank you or please), and (c) cognition and general knowledge (kindergarten teachers teaching basic reading and mathematics concepts). I recorded each observation on an observational protocol to help collect data. These nonparticipant observations were a firsthand source of information in the data collection process. The nonparticipant observations were used with other data collection methods that will allow the observer the ability to help triangulate the data and establish credibility.

#### Semistructured Interview Plan

Interviews are used in qualitative studies to gather participant data (Merriam, 2009). Merriam continued that interviews are an in-depth conversation with a purpose. I used a list of five open-ended questions and five follow up questions to collect data concerning kindergarten teachers' implementation of the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. These semistructured interviews were conducted in 45 minutes to an hour to gain a better insight of how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. These semistructured interviews were conducted and recorded in the participant's classroom at a time that was conducive for each participant and does not impact instructional time for students. I asked all participants to consent to being interviewed and having their interviews recorded.

I transcribed the audio recording within 24 hours after each interview. I started to analyze the data during the transcription of the interviews to gain a better understanding of the participants' experiences. This information helped provide detailed accounts of

how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

At the conclusion of each semistructured interview, I assured that all information reflected the truthfulness of the interviews. I used strategies of credibility such as member checking. Member checking, according to Creswell (2012), is described as a technique to verify the findings for accuracy of participant's data. After I had completed the data analysis, I also met individually with the participants at a time that was conducive to their schedule to review the findings for the accuracy of their data. This provided the participants an opportunity to check the accuracy and credibility of the overall findings and to make suggestions for any changes that may require changing to present an accurate description of their contribution to the study. There were no changes made of the findings.

# Nonparticipant Observation Plan

Data were also collected via nonparticipant observations. I observed participants on one occasion in their kindergarten classroom for 45 minutes to an hour after the interview data have been collected. Merriam (2009) found that it is important for the observer to not be disruptive during observations. I attempted to make these observations as minimally intrusive as possible.

Prior to the nonparticipant observations, I informed all participants about the goals of the study and that the observations are being conducted solely for the purpose of research. I explained about the confidentiality and request participants to sign a consent

form. I scheduled advance appointments (via- e-mail) for each kindergarten teacher that observations would be conducted during a certain date and time frame.

During the kindergarten classroom observation, I used an observational protocol to record how each kindergarten teacher teaches the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. I used the observational protocol to record chronology of events, concrete description of activities relating to the research, and quotes from the participants (Creswell, 2012). In the descriptive notes, I included personal reflections that relate to themes that may emerge, hunches, and possible answers to the research question.

At the conclusion of each nonparticipant observation, I transcribed descriptive notes reflecting how each kindergarten teacher teaches the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. I assigned the kindergarten teachers an identification number for each nonparticipant observation to connect to the semistructured interview and protect participants' anonymity. I filed the identification numbers in a safe deposit box and the observational protocol in a separate locked file cabinet in my home library, where they will be stored for a period of 5 years beyond completion of the study.

### **Data Collection and Recording**

At the conclusion of each semistructured interview, I typed each recorded interview verbatim by listening to the audio recordings. The top of each interview page included the date, time, and location. During the transcription of the interview, I wrote numbers down the left margin of the page. This numbering process allowed me to

pinpoint lines of text that repeated specific codes and themes. I also placed all interview questions and possibly follow up questions in bold type, which made it easier to locate participants' responses. Merriam (2009) stated that writing descriptive notes as soon as possible is essential during a semistructured interview and nonparticipant observation.

After completing each nonparticipant observation, I wrote descriptive notes within 24 hours. Writing descriptive notes, according to Merriam (2009), allows researchers to summarize their thoughts adequately concerning what occurred during the observation period. I included a detailed account of the activities of each kindergarten teacher implementing the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. These descriptive notes also included the date, time, location, and purpose of the observation on the top of the observation protocol. I also wrote thoughtful comments. Using these thoughtful comments, I could adequately summarize my thoughts and observations about what I observed in each kindergarten teacher's classroom.

## **Systems for Tracking Data**

Data systems are essential for tracking data (Gale et al., 2013). In the case study, the participants' alphanumeric code (KT#2011, KT#2012, KT#2013, and KT#2014) was used for easy retrieval of their data. I used a reflexive journal while conducting the six phases of thematic analysis. Gilgun (2010) stated that reflexive journaling would allow researchers to provide a deeper awareness of the topic under study. These include: (a) an account for their personal and professional perspectives, (b) the perspectives and

experiences of the participants, and (c) the audiences that will receive the research findings (Gilgun, 2010).

I maintained a separate reflexive journal relating to transcribed semistructured interview sessions and nonparticipant observations descriptive notes. I made entries within 24 hours after each semistructured interview and nonparticipant observation.

These entries allowed me to track information concerning methodological decisions and the reasons for them. The entries also allowed me to reflect on my personal values and interest, and the audience for the research.

## **Storage and Handling of Data**

I stored transcribed semistructured interview sessions and nonparticipant observations descriptive notes in a Microsoft Word file on a password protected computer for an accessible format. I maintained two copies (original data sets and a copy on a flash drive) of the data sets. I also filed the text copies and audio tapes in a separate locked file cabinet in my home library, where they will be stored for a period of 5 years beyond the study.

# Role of the Researcher

I have over 35 years of experience in the field of early childhood and special education. For the last 15 years, I have served in numerous capacities in Head Start programs, such as board member, consultant, and community leader. I have also served as a special education interrelated resource teacher for six years in a rural school district. In serving as a director of special education for 25 years, I have worked with gifted children and students with and without disabilities. I have also worked with parents,

general and special education teachers, support services staff, superintendents, school administrators, leaders from the Georgia Department of Education (GDOE), guidance staff, and outside service providers such as physical and occupational therapists.

Currently, I am serving as an early childhood services manager for a Head Start program in southwest Georgia. My professional role did not impact the data collection because I am not involved personally or professionally with the four kindergarten teachers. I put my past personal and professional experiences aside to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. I attempted to strive toward objectivity. My values, bias, and assumptions did not shape how I examined the data collected and interpreted. I also recognized the need to be receptive to the participants' ideas and perceptions.

# **Data Analysis**

In this qualitative case study, thematic analysis was used first to identify codes, then themes from semistructured interview transcripts and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes. I examined the data to determine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. The six phases of thematic analysis are interconnected, and researchers must not use them independently (Miles et.al, 2013). Braun and Clarke (2012) indicated that the six phases of thematic analysis are familiarizing the data, generating initial codes, searching and reviewing themes, defining and naming themes, and producing the report.

## **How and When Data Were Analyzed**

Thematic analysis, according to Boyatzis (1998), is a qualitative method for identifying codes, analyzing data, and reporting patterns and themes within data. I used the six phases of thematic analysis to consolidate raw data, identify and integrate patterns in the data, and to link raw data to the research question (Braun & Clarke, 2012). Both data sets (semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations) were analyzed separately. I then integrate semistructured interviews findings with nonparticipant observations findings to examine how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness to incoming kindergarten learning.

## **Thematic Analysis for Semistructured Interviews**

The first phase of thematic analysis involved becoming familiar with the data (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2012; Gest et al., 2012; Miles et al., 2013). I audio recorded the participants' interviews and then transcribed, a verbatim account, each participant's interview. I read the transcribed semistructured interview data multiple times. Reading the data multiple times allows additional time to make connections between the participants' thoughts, ideas, and the data collected (Miles et al. 2013). I organized the raw data by using participants' identification numbers KT#2011, KT#2012, KT#2013, and KT#2014. I also ensured the accuracy of each transcript against the participant's original audio recordings. These strategies provided familiarity with the data related to how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title I elementary school to potentially improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

Merriam (2009) stated that researchers' reflections serve as an act of preliminary form of data analysis. Reflexive journaling, according to Gilgun (2010), is described as a researcher's ideas of awareness of data analysis. I recorded entries in a reflexivity journal during each phase of coding a thematic analysis. I also recorded the reasons for methodological decisions and reflections concerning my values and interests.

The second phase of thematic analysis involved generating open codes (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2012; Miles et al., 2013). Researchers stated that the process of coding is part of thematic analysis (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2012; Miles et al., 2013). Researchers indicated that coding involves the assigning of descriptive or conceptual labels to sections of raw data to find answers to the guiding research question (Gale et al., 2013; Merriam, 2009; Namey et al., 2008). Miles et al. stated that codes in qualitative research are a word or short phrase and develop an emergent theory. Coding defines what is happening in the data and help to develop an emergent theme. Braun and Clarke indicated that coding should involve similarities and differences across data items.

Transcripts were manually coded in two cycles. In opening coding, I read the transcripts to identify keywords that emerged from the data. Open coding is assigning a label to concepts that arise from the data (Miles et.al., 2013). I used open codes to analyze each interview transcript as a method to identify repeated words, phrases, or concepts. I used the open codes to identify categories and then I searched for patterns to answer the research questions. I used open codes for the interview transcripts as a beginning point to further analyze how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of

school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten learning. This resulted in multiple codes that were reduced in the selective coding cycle.

During the selective coding, I identified the core category and related it to the other categories to validate the themes. The approach allowed the opportunity to frame the data toward creating temporary themed that addresses the research question. Miles, et.al. (2013) stated that codes in qualitative research are a word or short phrase and develop an emergent theory. I examined the codes and extracted transcripts data that relate to how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness. Lastly, I provided detailed information in my reflexivity journal related to how and why codes were combined, questions about the data, and how codes are related.

The third phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focused on searching for multiple themes and arranging different codes into themes. Themes in qualitative research are large units of information that consist of codes aggregated to form a common idea (Creswell, 2013). The themes are outcomes of coding, categorization, and analytic reflection (Miles et al., 2013). The process of developing themes requires the researcher's interpretation. The purpose of the theme is to elicit the essence of the four kindergarten teachers' perceptions and experiences.

Before I arranged different codes into themes, I searched for patterns to answer the research question. Braun and Clarke (2012) stated that a pattern-based analysis allows the researcher to identify key features of the data, which are meaningful in answering the research questions. In my reflexivity journal, I provided detailed information about how I arranged different codes into themes.

Themes emerged from the selective coded data based on the patterns and relationships among the codes. The fourth phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focused on reviewing themes. In this phase, I searched for how the themes support the data related to how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness to improve learning among incoming kindergarten students. I refined the themes using two levels. Braun and Clarke indicated that the two levels involve reviewing coded data and themes.

In Level 1, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), I reread all the data extracted from participants' transcripts that connect to the themes. If some of the data did not connect to a theme, I considered whether the theme is presenting a problem and whether some of the data extracted from participants' transcripts do not connect. I then read and reread the data to create new themes. At Level 1, there were no new data to create new themes. I also report any discrepant cases that are an exception to the emerged themes in the research findings. The data connected to each theme coherently, I then transition to Level 2.

In Level 2, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), I considered each theme concerning all of the data (from the semistructured interviews). I used a data table to help focus on the connections between themes. If the connection between the themes do not reveal the whole meaning of the data, I reviewed phase three (search for themes) and phase four (reviewing themes). The connection between the themes revealed the whole meaning of the data, I transition to phase five of thematic analysis. I also wrote the

process of understanding themes and how themes fit together with each code in my reflexivity journal.

The fifth phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focused on defining and naming themes. I examined the selective codes concerning the data. Two themes emerged from the selective coded data based on the relationships and patterns among the codes. I reread the data to ensure that the coded data fit into themes. I developed a data table to provide a visual of the themes. The themes emerged from the interviews based on the research question, conceptual framework and literature review. I then wrote about how I described each theme with a couple of sentences in my reflexivity journal.

The sixth phase of thematic analysis, according to Boyatzis (1998), Braun and Clarke (2012), and Miles et al., (2013), they focused on final analysis and writing the report. I used sufficient evidence from the data table to draw the final analysis. I analyzed the data for themes that emerged and reported the findings. The validation of the findings is presented in Evidence of Quality. I developed a data table to represent the themes that emerged from the data analysis. I organized the report by themes and addressed the question. I also considered multiple audiences (school systems and Head Start grantees) in writing the report. I reported the findings by using direct quotes from the semistructured interviews. Lastly, I described the findings in my reflexivity journal.

### **Thematic Analysis for Nonparticipant Observation Descriptive Notes**

The first phase of thematic analysis, according to Boyatzis (1998), allowed researchers to become familiar with the data. I used the six phases of thematic analysis to

analyze nonparticipant observation descriptive notes. For nonparticipant observation descriptive notes to be analyzable, I manually coded raw data from the nonparticipant observation descriptive notes in two cycles. The first cycle, open coding, focused on assigning a label to concepts that arise from the data (Miles et al., 2013). I read the descriptive notes multiple times to identify keywords and develop open codes from the conceptual framework, the literature, and the research question. I also highlighted part of the data that related to the research question and creating codes. I used open codes to analyze each nonparticipant observation descriptive notes as a method to identify repeating words, phrases, or concepts to begin the analysis of how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten learning.

I used open codes to identify categories and searched for patterns to answer the research questions. I used open codes for the nonparticipant observation descriptive notes as a method to further analyze how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten learning. This resulted in multiple codes that were reduced in the selective coding cycle.

For cycle two, I used selective coding. Selective coding involved identifying the core category and related it to the other categories to validate the storyline that forms the themes. The approach allowed the opportunity to frame the data toward creating temporary themes that addresses the research question. Miles et al. (2013) stated that codes in qualitative research are a word or short phrase and develop an emergent theory. I examined the codes and extracted observation data that related to how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness. I also transferred these concepts and

categories into a data table. Lastly, I provided detailed information in my reflexivity journal related to how and why codes were combined, questions about the data, and how codes are related.

The second phase of thematic analysis involved generating open codes (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2012; Miles et al., 2013). Researchers stated that the process of coding is part of thematic analysis (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2012; Miles, et al., 2013). Researchers indicated that coding involves the assigning of descriptive or conceptual labels to sections of raw data to find answers to the guiding research question (Namey et al., 2008; Merriam, 2009; Gale et al., 2013). I read and reread raw data from each participant's nonparticipant observation descriptive notes. I then highlighted raw data from the participant's nonparticipant observation descriptive notes that were used to link raw data to the research question.

Merriam (2009) stated that researchers may use highlights to distinguish concepts and categories. For example, I observed kindergarten teachers consistently introducing language and literacy skills, each time kindergarten teacher discusses language and literacy skills, I used the same color highlight. I considered language and literacy skills as a concept. The other skills involving language and literacy will become categories. Since I anticipated more than two or three concepts and categories, I used multiple colored highlights. I then reduce the data to create concepts and categories for more efficient analysis. I also transferred these concepts and categories into a data table that includes main headings and sub-headings. Lastly, I provided detailed information in my

reflexivity journal related to how and why codes were combined, questions about the data, and how codes are related.

The third phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focused on searching for multiple themes and arranging different codes into themes. Before I arranged different codes into themes, I searched for patterns to answer the research question. Braun and Clarke stated that a pattern-based analysis allows the researcher to identify key features of the data, which are meaningful in answering the research questions. I identified the patterns that are the most relevant to answering the research question. In my reflexivity journal, I provided detailed information about how selective codes were interpreted and combined to form themes.

Themes emerged from the selective coded data based on the patterns and relationships among the codes. The fourth phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focused on reviewing themes. In this phase, I searched for how the themes support the data related to how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve learning among incoming kindergarten students. I refined the themes using two levels. Braun and Clarke indicated that the two levels involve reviewing coded data and themes.

In Level 1, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), I re-read all the data extracted from participants' nonparticipant observation descriptive notes that connect to the themes. If some of the data did not connect into a theme, I considered whether the theme is presenting a problem and whether some of the data extracted from participants' nonparticipant observation descriptive notes do not connect. I then read and reread the

data to create new themes. At Level 1, there were no new data to create new themes. I also report any discrepant cases that are an exception to the emerged themes in the research findings. The data connected to each theme coherently, I then transition to Level 2.

In Level 2, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), I considered each theme concerning all of the data (nonparticipant observation descriptive notes). I used a data table to help focus on the connections between themes. If the connection between the themes do not reveal the whole meaning of the data, I reviewed phase three (search for themes) and phase four (reviewing themes). The connection between the themes revealed the whole meaning of the data, I transition to phase five of thematic analysis. I also wrote the process of understanding themes and how themes fit together with each code in my reflexivity journal.

The fifth phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focuses on defining and naming themes. I examined the selective codes concerning the data. Two themes emerged from the selective coded data based on the relationships and patterns among the codes. I reread the data to ensure that the coded data fit into themes. I developed a data table to provide a visual of the themes. The themes emerged from the observations based on the research question, conceptual framework and the literature review. I then wrote about how I described each theme with a couple of sentences in my reflexivity journal.

The sixth phase of thematic analysis, according to Braun and Clarke (2012), focuses on final analysis and writing the report. I used sufficient evidence from the data

table to draw the final analysis. I analyzed the data for themes that emerged and reported the findings. The validation of the findings is presented in Evidence of Quality. I developed a data table to represent the themes that emerged from the data analysis. I organized the report by themes and addressed the question. I also considered multiple audiences (school systems and Head Start grantees) in writing the report. I reported the findings by using direct quotes from the nonparticipant observation descriptive notes. Lastly, I described the findings in my reflexivity journal.

## **Evidence of Quality**

In this qualitative case study, I used five measures to ensure the quality of the research after the data collection process. These include accuracy, transferability, reliability, trustworthiness, and researcher's reflexivity. Internal validity (accuracy and credibility), external validity (transferability), and reliability (consistency) determine the quality of any research (Yin, 2012).

The first measure to ensure the quality of the research involved internal validity. I demonstrated internal validity (accuracy) by using different types of data collection procedures (semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations). I also demonstrated the accuracy of the data by comparing the patterns of the coded interview responses and classroom observations. Yin (2012) stated that pattern matching would ensure internal validity.

Creswell (2012) suggested that the qualitative researcher also uses member checking to address validity in qualitative studies. Creswell continued that member checking allows participants the opportunity to verify the adequacy of analyzed data.

When I completed the six phases of thematic data analysis, I emailed all participants a copy of the findings.

Member checking is a strategy to enhance a study's validity, credibility, and participant involvement (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Marshall and Rossman (2011) stated that researchers may provide participants the findings for accuracy of their data during member checking. I wrote a summary and emailed the summary to each participant to provide feedback to ensure their views have been adequately captured. The participants did not make corrections to my interpretations.

The second measure, according to Creswell (2012), involved external validity. I demonstrated external validity (transferability) by providing a rich, context description of the study. These included (a) justification of the research design, (b) criteria for selecting participants, (c) procedure for gaining access to participant, and (d) nature of the researcher and participants' relationship. These descriptions may help the reader transfer the study to the study setting, as well as similar settings.

The third measure to ensure the quality of the research involved reliability.

Merriam (2009) stated that many sources would ensure that the data were credible and reliable. I demonstrated reliability by maintaining detailed descriptive notes and the use of a high-quality audio- recorder and transcribing the tapes. I also determined the reliability through cross-referencing analytic codes assigned to participants' responses after the interviewed conversations have been transcribed.

The fourth measure, according to Creswell (2012), involved evidence of trustworthiness. I have experiences that will enhance my awareness, knowledge, and

sensitivity toward the potential participants in the case study. These experiences include following an ethical protocol, documenting all data, coding all data in logical order, and providing descriptions that are factual. I demonstrated evidence of redefining the initial themes such as cross referencing of data. I recognized my limits of subjectivity in the data analysis process. I also demonstrated a bias free research through maintaining a reflexivity journal.

The fifth measure to ensure the quality of the research involved my reflexivity journal. Qualitative researchers should keep a detailed record of the research process (Merriam, 2009). I kept a reflexivity journal to record my thoughts and procedures of the six phases of thematic data analysis. I also kept track of each phase of the research process in a Microsoft Word file on a computer with a password. The data will be stored in locked file cabinet at my home library for 5 years beyond this research study.

# **Discrepant Cases**

Data that provide an alternative explanation, according to Creswell (2012), are discrepant cases. Merriam (2009) noted that discrepancies can occur during any phase of the data analysis process. Miles et al. (2013) stated that some data would not fit into themes. I clarified and resolved inconsistent data by redefining how the themes support the data using the process of thematic analysis. In phase four of thematic analysis (Level 1), I read and reread data extracted from participants' transcripts and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes that do not fit into themes. If the data do not fit into themes, I reported discrepant data that are an exception to the emerged themes in the research

findings. For this case study, there were no discrepant cases that emerged during the analysis of the semistructured interviews and nonparticipant observations.

## **Data Analysis**

An intrinsic case study was used to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. To accomplish this goal, I utilized semistructured interviews data and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes. All qualitative data were analyzed using thematic analysis and were coded using open and selective coding strategies. Considering all the data, I was cautious in the presentation of the case study results.

This section includes descriptions of how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning according to kindergarten teachers' perceptions and observations. The following research question was created to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning:

Research Question 1: How kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning?

#### **Semistructured Interviews**

The kindergarten teachers were interviewed using open-ended questions that allowed the participants to describe their experiences teaching the five domains of school

readiness. Kindergarten teachers had five interview and follow up questions which equates to 10 questions that were designed to allow participants to provide detailed descriptions about teaching the five domains of school readiness. I audio-recorded and transcribed manually all transcripts and placed in Word documents. I read the participants' transcripts multiple times to become familiar with the data and to think about concepts and challenges related to teaching the five domains of school readiness.

Open codes were derived from the conceptual framework, identified keywords, and relevant literature data (Miles et al., 2013). I highlighted the repeated words with a word that defined the open code. I highlighted data that were linked to open codes: Physical wellbeing and Motor Development/ encouragement (red), Approaches toward Learning/modeling (blue), Social and Emotional Development/demonstration (green), Language Development/ direct instruction (yellow), and Cognition and General Knowledge/encouragement (orange) from identified keywords, the framework, and related literature review. This process resulted in multiple open codes.

Table 1 shows an example of open codes applied to the raw data from interviews.

The left column contains the specific domain, the middle column indicates the open code, and the right column contains raw data from the transcripts and the kindergarten teacher's identification number.

Table 1

Open Coding Example for How the Five Domains Are Taught

	Open coding	Raw data: Interviews
Physical wellbeing and motor development	Encouragement	I encourage students to use inside voices while in

		70
	Open coding	Raw data: Interviews
		different centers #2011, I encourage students to create pictures of self, family members or an event in the writing center #2014, and I encourage students to use inside voices while in different centers #2014.
Approaches toward learning	Modeling	I model how to eat with folks and spoons #2011, I model appropriate grammar in the classroom, #2011, #2012, and #2014, and I model collaboration with my paraprofessional #2014.
Social and emotional development	Demonstrate	I demonstrate how to use hand sanitizer #2012, I demonstrate how to use forks and spoons at breakfast, lunch, and snack #2013, and I demonstrate the task and ask students to demonstrate the task #2014.
Language development	Direct instruction	I read out loud to my students; teach physical education every other nine weeks, daily for 45 minutes and teach all activities in small groups (all KTs).
Cognition and general knowledge	Encouragement	(table continues) I encourage kindergarten students to write, draw, cut paper, stack blocks, grasp small objects, and fasten clothing #2011, I encourage students to

Open coding	Raw data: Interviews
	create pictures of self, family members or an event in the writing center #2014.

# **Nonparticipant Observations**

I used thematic analysis to analyze observation notes. Observation notes were collected, recorded on the observation protocol, and stored on my personal password protected computer. In the open cycle of coding, I reread the observation notes to become familiar with the data and to think about concepts and challenges that relate to how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness. I labeled the repeated words with a word that defined the open code. I highlighted data that were linked to open codes: Physical wellbeing and Motor Development/ engagement (red), Approaches toward Learning/questions (blue), Social and Emotional Development/teacher directed/technology (green), Language Development/ teacher directed (yellow), and Cognition and General Knowledge/individualized instruction (orange) from identified keywords, the framework, and related literature review.

Table 2 shows an example of open codes applied to the raw data from observations. The left column contains the specific domain, the middle column indicates the open code, and the right column contains raw data from the observations and the kindergarten teacher's identification number.

 Table 2

 Open Coding Example for How the Five Domains Are Taught

	Open coding	Raw data: Observations
Physical wellbeing and motor development	Student involvement	She let the students point while she read #2012, she let the students wash hands after breakfast #2011, and she let the students work on tracing the letters of the alphabets #2014.
Approaches toward learning	Questioning	The teacher asked the students to count the objects on the card as she held them up #2013, the teacher engaged students by asking questions about the book's front and back covers, title and author #2012, and the teacher asked the students questions about what they hear #2014.
Social and emotional development	Teacher directed/technology	The teacher engaged students to make the designs on the Smartboard #2011, student drew on the Smartboard to illustrate the book #2012, and the teacher use music from the Smartboard to transition to centers #2014.

	Open coding	Raw data: Observations
Language development	Teacher directed	The teacher read a story while sitting in a rocking chair and students listen #2012, the teacher reminded student to keep hands to self #2013, teacher asks students to transition to the rug for circle time #2011.
Cognition and general knowledge	Individualized instruction	The teacher assists the students with counting their friends when she called their names #2014, the teacher provided one on one instruction for students who did not get a concept #2011, and the teacher demonstrate the "R" sound for a student #2012.

Focusing on the interviews and observations data and the concepts that may be constructed from them, I searched the open codes to identify the core category.

Researchers (Miles et al., 2013) indicated that the core category is the concept that repeatedly appears in the data set described by the participants. Discovering emergent categories and relationships, I used selective coding. Selective coding served as verification for the results that emerge in the open coding. Selective coding also allows further development of refinement of concepts, categories, and connections (Miles et al., 2013).

### **Results**

Three categories emerged from the interviews data relating to how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness: (a) encouragement, (b) modeling, and (c) direct instruction. Two categories emerged from the observations data concerning how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness: (a) differentiated instruction and (b) encouragement. The temporary themes were based on these categories and then developed into two themes to answer the research question 1: "How kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness for a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning?" The themes that emerged were differentiated instruction and encouragement.

## **Theme 1: Differentiated Instruction**

In a social constructivism kindergarten learning environment, differentiated instruction is a pedagogy approach that gives kindergarten teachers a beginning point to teach students who are unprepared to learn (Bondie et al., 2019; Smale-Jacobse et al., 2019). Kindergarten teachers who utilize differentiated pedagogy may adapt their teaching strategies to their students' developmental levels, interests, and learning styles (Tomlinson, 2017). The role of kindergarten teachers, in a social constructivism learning paradigm, is to assist the student to uncover meaning and construct for themselves a genuine understanding of the concept in which they are engaged (Vygotsky, 1978).

There are traditions in the pedagogy of kindergarten; however, it is essential to remain receptive to different pedagogy approaches to improve student outcomes (Vogt et al., 2018). Vogt et al. continued that new strategies are easily integrated into the

pedagogy of kindergarten. Differentiated instruction consists of the efforts of teachers to assist students (Tomlinson, 2017) to construct for themselves learning in the classroom (Vygotsky, 1978).

Differentiated instruction is a teaching strategy in which teachers intentionally plan (content, process, product, and learning environment) for students' differences so that all students are engaging and learning (Tomlinson, 2017). All kindergarten teachers (KT#2011, #2012, #2013, and #2014) introduced all activities in whole group instruction. Tomlinson (2017) stated that whole group instruction is the most appropriate delivery model. KT#2011 stated, "I begin helping a girl count out loud the number of girls and a boy with counting the boys." In the KT#2011 kindergarten classroom, students worked in small groups or individually to complete activities targeted to their readiness levels, interests, and learning styles. In KT#2011 Mathematic classroom, one group of students may be using manipulatives and counting the numbers aloud, while another group works on writing the numbers on a chart. KT#2012 stated, "I used multiple games (number bingo, number charts, and puzzles) to teach students to count." "I provide an opportunity for students to work in flexible groups with other students with similar readiness levels, interests, and learning styles so students can construct their meaning of the activity taught," according to KT#2012. KT#2013 stated that when "I teach my students to count (1 to 100), some of my students learn best through group work and some by working alone (puzzles), some learn best by doing projects (building blocks), while others learn by discussion (smartboard)." KT#2014 stated, "I demonstrated mathematic skills using multiple worksheets that vary in complexity to different groups of students on the

smartboard." I have learning centers around the kindergarten classroom, which contain an assortment of mathematic tasks for students to choose from when they transition to small groups based on their interests, readiness levels, and learning styles.

Student interest refers to "that which engages the attention, curiosity, and involvement of a student" (Tomlinson & Imbeau, 2010, p. 16). KT#2014 aligned particular students' interests in several areas such as music and sports. KT#2011 provided opportunities for students to form letters of the alphabet by tracing the letters in the writing center. KT#2013 offered students the opportunities to improve their fluency skills by reading to their friends. KT#2013 used the smartboard to help students to display photos, audio clips, and video.

When differentiation is based on learning styles, students are provided with opportunities to learn in multiple ways. All kindergarten teachers allow students to work independently, with peers, or as a group. All kindergarten teachers provided work areas conducive to various learning preferences, such as workspaces with tables instead of desks. Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010) indicate essential factors in student learning styles include learning environment preferences, group orientation, cognitive styles, and intelligence preferences.

Differentiated instruction emphasizes that learning is appropriate when teachers assess students' levels of functioning and learning styles and then use it to teach students to learn on a higher level of functioning (Tomlinson, 2017). Kindergarten teachers identified multiple ways to use differentiated instruction to teach the five domains of school readiness for all students. KT#2011 stated, "I presented the text on audiotape and

supplementing oral presentations with videotapes and visual demonstrations." By providing students the use of human-read audiobooks coupled with highlighted text, kindergarten teachers may help their students to learn. It helps students access content aligned to their intellect rather than their reading ability, so they build fluency, vocabulary, comprehension and background knowledge. KT#2011 continued that "I reteach nursery rhymes using audiotapes for students who did not comprehend the nursery rhyme in the large group. I provide my students the opportunity to use the audiotape to record their version of the nursery rhyme." KT#2012 stated, I teach language skills through daily welcome songs." KT#2013 stated, "I used circle time to introduce multiple language games, such as telling tales, sorting beans, and creating a name book." KT#2014 provided text materials at varied reading levels of complexity.

Differentiating content, according to Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010), requires teachers to either modify or adapt how they provide students access to the material they want the students to learn. Kindergarten teacher (#2014) shared strategies concerning how to teach physical wellbeing and motor development. I introduced the skill in flexible grouping, where kindergarten students can work in pairs, small groups, or alone, using books, tape, or the Smartboard as a method of developing understanding and knowledge of the skill. KT#2013 stated, "I demonstrated how to catch a ball and how to appropriately grip crayons and pencils."

Differentiated instruction stretches student thinking and offers opportunities for interaction. One of the fundamental tenets of differentiated instruction is that teachers must engage students (Tomlinson, 2017). All teachers engaged students positively in the

social and emotional process. KT#2013 stated, "I discussed with students why it is important to use good manners to be a good friend." KT#2012 stated, "I remind students to keep hands to self." The developmental theory of Vygotsky (1978) is essential for how social skills are taught, in which kindergarten teachers influence students' development through interaction. Vygotsky viewed social interaction as necessary for each student's development.

All kindergarten teachers shared strategies relating to how they teach language skills such as practicing spoken words in syllables. KT#2011 stated, "I say a word. The students repeat the word and then clap out the syllables." All kindergarten teachers taught phonics. KT#2013 stated, "when students encounter an unfamiliar word while reading aloud in small group with peers, I encourage students to look at the word and look for letter patterns they have learned, so they can sound out the word." All kindergarten teachers initiated alphabet instruction with a consonant vowel consonant (cvc) word introduction. KT#2012 stated, "I teach five to ten letters each week. I have groups of three students that name the letters and how to write the letters. My advanced students may brainstorm words that begin with the target letter."

Differentiated instruction means connecting students' approaches toward learning with the appropriate pedagogy (Tomlinson, 2017), and opportunities for showing the acquired knowledge (Vygotsky, 1986). KT#2011 stated, "I provide multiple options of expression such as drawing or creating activities that strengthen students' preferred learning modalities." The process (activities) is differentiated not only by how all kindergarten teachers decided to teach, such as lectures for auditory learners, learning

centers for tactile learners, and whole and small groups, allowing students to understand the readiness skills being taught (Tomlinson, 2005a).

All kindergarten teachers shared multiple differentiated instruction strategies related to how to teach cognitive development and general knowledge. Kindergarten teachers help students think about and understand their environments, such as people, places, things; mathematical concepts; science concepts; problem-solving skills; and logic and reasoning skills. KT#2014 stated, "I teach cognitive skills through play (sight words bingo) and multiple learning centers in the kindergarten environment." Another kindergarten teacher (#2013) indicated that cognitive activities (alphabets, numbers, and shapes) are introduced in the whole group. I transition students to small groups to provide additional practice through the use of manipulatives or worksheets. All kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction strategies were different to teach cognitive development and general knowledge. Differentiated instruction provides teachers a different approach to think about teaching and learning (Tomlinson & Sousa, 2020).

I used data from nonparticipant descriptive notes to identify how kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction strategies to create diverse environments and to teach the five domains of school readiness. Tomlinson and Sousa (2020) indicated that teachers might provide differentiated instruction strategies to teach a wide range of students and skills. In KT#2011 classroom, students work with peers who had readiness needs like their needs and interests. I observed students who shared their interests and students who had interests quite different from their own. KT#2011 assigned four to five students to the flexible group to use their fine motor skills. KT#2011 responded to the

students' needs by encouraging students to work together. Other kindergarten teachers (#2012, #2013, and #2014) used flexible groups (copying shapes, cutting paper, transferring small objects, cutting with scissors, and writing first name) to teach fine and gross and motor skills. One flexible group learned how to grasp a pencil to write; another group learned how to hold crayons to color a picture. Students can use these fine motor skills to work with manipulative in mathematics or other domains of learning.

All kindergarten teachers created a learning environment that balances structure and flexibility to accommodate all students' social and emotional readiness levels.

Tomlinson and Imbeau (2013) indicated that managing routines and processes in differentiated classrooms is essential for teachers to help students understand, contribute, and participate in structures designed to facilitate learning. For a flexible classroom, KT#2011 created the classroom, so students' materials were easily accessible. KT#2012 provided directions for tasks in which not all students will do the same work. KT#2013 provided guidelines for what a student should do (and how) when an assigned task is completed. And KT#2014 shared expectations for students to transition around the classroom to multiple learning centers.

I used data from nonparticipant descriptive notes to identify how kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction strategies to teach language skills in diverse environments. Kindergarten teachers (#2011 and #2012) transition to flexible groups to teach syllable patterns in English: vowel consonant consonant vowel (vccv), vowel consonant vowel (vccv), vowel consonant consonant vowel (vccv), and vowel vowel (vv). Each group worked on a syllable pattern. KT#2011 encouraged students to

look for letter patterns they have learned to sound out the word. KT#2014 introduced language skills (sight words) in a whole group and practiced saying the sight words. The teacher used the word in a sentence. KT#2012 introduced language skills through a welcome song and morning greeting, and KT#2013 used a sign-in system, welcome and morning greeting, read aloud, and decodable books.

I used data from nonparticipant descriptive notes to identify how kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction strategies to teach approaches toward learning in diverse environments. KT#2014 provided different tasks to different learners. She created a variety of related tasks at varying levels of difficulty and provided specific tasks to certain groups and individual students based on their skill level.

I used data from nonparticipant descriptive notes to identify how kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction strategies to teach cognitive development and general knowledge in diverse classrooms. Tomlinson (2014) stated that the most obvious way of differentiating the learning process is to change the type of content teachers used in lessons. KT#2011 used various learning modalities (audio, visual, and kinesthetic) to teach letters of the alphabet.

To summarize, all kindergarten teachers provided differentiated instruction that relates to the pedagogy approach of social constructivism. Social constructivist learning theory can be used to underpin multiple differentiated instruction strategies which aligned with traditional education, whereby knowledge is constructed through interaction with others (Vygotsky, 1978). Differentiated instruction involves teachers' actions to meet the readiness levels, interests, and learning styles among students in diverse classrooms

(Tomlinson, 2017). Kindergarten teachers can use differentiated instruction strategies that provide students opportunities to learn the five domains of school readiness. The pedagogy approach, social constructivism, allows kindergarten teachers to utilize these teaching practices (Tomlinson, 2017), and with incoming kindergarten students to seek new readiness skills and apply the new skills to existing readiness skills (Vygotsky, 1978).

## **Theme 2: Encouragement**

In a social constructivism kindergarten diverse environment, kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach students to learn the five domains of school readiness. Kindergarten teachers who used encouragement may adapt to their students' developmental levels, interests, and learning styles (Tomlinson, 2017). Kindergarten teachers used encouragement but need to do so frequently and in meaningful ways to encourage the students to learn physical wellbeing and motor skills. KT#2011 stated, "I encouraged kindergarten students to be kind to their peers, such as please watch where you are going. It hurts when you bumped me." Encouragement, according to Bailey (2015), is about noticing, connecting, and accepting students.

Encouragement motivates students to achieve (Bailey, 2015) in the five domains of school readiness. Kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach students to learn social and emotional skills. KT#2011 stated, "I encouraged the students to use inside voices while in different centers." KT#2012 stated, "I encouraged students to be kind to their friends, and to use their inside voices." KT#2013 stated, "I encouraged kindergarten students to use their words (feeling words to express their emotions)." KT#2012 stated, "I

encouraged students to build with different types of blocks and described how they feel." KT#2014 stated, "I encouraged students to do the right thing throughout the kindergarten day." Kindergarten teachers who utilized encouragement have a powerful tool to reach discouraged students to learn social and emotional skills (Osher et al., 2020; Vygotsky, 1978).

Kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach students language skills. KT#2011 stated, "I encouraged students (That took determination or That was gutsy,) when they recognize letters of the alphabet." Another kindergarten teacher (#2014) stated, "I encouraged students (That was thoughtful or That was kind) when they read to a friend." KT#2013 stated, "I encouraged students to use activities (audiobooks, computer games, and flashcards) that interest them, challenge their language skills, and help them love learning." KT#2014 stated, "I encouraged students' deep thinking skills (Outstanding Thinking) when I read aloud."

All kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach students to learn multiple approaches toward learning. KT#2014 stated, "I encouraged students to interact with friends with a grumpy look on their face." KT#2012 stated, "I encouraged students to be creative in small groups." KT#2011 stated, "I encouraged students to respect each other's ideas." KT#2013 stated, "I encouraged students to be part of the decision making process, such as taking breaks or creating classroom rules." KT#2013 continued that students who participate in the decision-making process are an excellent way to encourage students.

Kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach students to learn cognitive and general knowledge skills. KT#2013 stated, "I encouraged students to use prior

knowledge when reading a story." KT#2014 stated, "I encouraged students to use number lines, ten frames, and manipulatives in small group activities." KT#2012 stated, "I encouraged students to practice skills (writing letters of the alphabet, drawing shapes, and writing numbers)."

I used data from nonparticipant descriptive notes to identify how kindergarten teachers used encouragement in diverse environments to teach the five domains of school readiness. Kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach physical well-being and motor development. KT#2011 encouraged kindergarten students to write, draw, cut paper, stack blocks, grasp small objects, and fasten clothing. KT#2012 encouraged kindergarten students to sit in a chair, circle, and walk in a line.

All kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach social and emotional skills. KT#2011 encouraged students to use inside voices while in different centers. KT#2012 encouraged students to be kind to their friends and used their inside voices. KT#2013 encouraged kindergarten students to use their words (feeling words to express their emotions). KT#2012 encouraged students to build with different types of blocks and describe how they feel. KT#2014 encouraged students to do the right thing throughout the kindergarten day. The skill of encouragement provides opportunities for all kindergarten teachers to use multiple modalities to learn.

Kindergarten teachers faced the challenge of providing developmentally appropriate encouragement in language development. Researchers (Mantzicopoulos, et al., 2018) indicated that teachers' practices are essential for teaching effectiveness and student achievement. All kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach language

skills. KT#2013 encouraged students to use activities (audio books, computer games, and flashcards) that interest them, challenge their language skills, and help them love learning. KT#2014 encouraged children's deep thinking when she read aloud.

Darling-Hammond et al. (2020) indicated that developmental relationships allowed teachers to teach social, affective, emotional, and cognitive skills. All kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach approaches toward learning. KT#2012 encouraged students to be creative in small groups. KT#2011 encouraged students to respect each other's ideas. KT#2013 encouraged students to be part of the decision making process, such as taking breaks or creating classroom rules. KT#2014 encouraged students to interact with friends.

All kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach cognitive development and general knowledge. KT#2013 encouraged students to use prior knowledge. KT#2014 encouraged students to use number lines, ten frames, and manipulatives in small group activities. KT#2012 encouraged students to practice skills, such as writing letters of the alphabet, drawing shapes, and writing numbers. Evidence from the observation review identified kindergarten teachers used encouragement to capture students' developmental levels, interests, and learning styles in the five domains of school readiness (Tomlinson, 2017).

To summarize, all kindergarten teachers provided encouragement that relates to affective teaching methods (Darling-Hammond et al., 2020). Past researchers stated that the affective domain (Krathwohl et al., 1973) revolves around how we deal with things emotionally, such as feelings, values, appreciation, enthusiasm, motivations, and

attitudes. Krathwohl et al. continued that affective domain has five categories, each with several subcategories. These levels of learning included: (a) receiving, (b) responding, (c) valuing, (d) organization, and (e) characterization. Kindergarten teachers can use these five levels to encourage students to receive information, to respond to what they learned in a diverse learning environment, to value it, to organize it, and to characterize themselves as lifelong learners (Osher et al., 2020). Affective teaching methods can be used to teach the five domains of school readiness (Bailey, 2015). The importance of encouragement improves kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction strategies and students' readiness performance (Tomlinson, 2017).

# **Summary of Findings**

Two themes emerged from the thematic analysis of the interview and observation data. The two themes are:

- Theme 1: Kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction strategies to teach the five domains of school readiness.
- Theme 2: Kindergarten teachers used encouragement to teach the five domains of school readiness.

The purpose of this case study was to determine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness for a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. The findings in this case study indicated that all kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction and encouragement to teach five domains of school readiness. To further strengthen differentiated instruction and encouragement, kindergarten teachers may benefit from additional training to improve

student learning. Researchers, Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010) and Wu and Chang (2015), identified how differentiated instruction (tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, and anchor activities) can be used to teach school readiness skills. Bailey (2015) indicated that encouragement (Conscious Discipline) can be used as opportunities to teach essential readiness skills to students.

Teachers can use tiered instruction as a teaching strategy that supports the philosophy of success for all students (Tomlinson, 2017), which is consistent with the philosophy behind NAEYC position statement on school readiness that focused on educating the whole child (NAEYC, 1995). NAEYC's position statement on school readiness involved three areas: (a) experiences of young children, (b) children's developmental level, and (c) appropriate expectations of young children). These three areas encircled the five domains, as outlined in NEPG's Goal 1 (Kagan, 1992; NAEYC).

Tiered instruction can be used as a teaching strategy that meets students' needs and provides the delivery of instruction to meet these needs based on readiness level, style of learning, and interest level (Tomlinson, 2017). Teachers can use the students' level of progress to transition them toward a new understanding (Vygotsky, 1978). The concept is to encourage students to transition beyond their present independent readiness levels. When there are challenges that interfere with students to complete a task without support (independent level) and what they can achieve with support (instructional level), an effective instruction strategy, scaffolding, requires the teacher to adjust the level of support for each student in regard to the student's level of performance. Vygotsky's (1978) ZPD distinguishes between actual development (what students can do without

support), and potential development (what students can do with support). Tiered instruction can be used for higher-level thinking and built around every tier of instruction. Educating the "whole child," which relates to the five domains of school readiness, reveals the core of tiered instruction (Tomlinson, 2017).

The concept of collaborative learning involves multiple educational processes such as the teacher-centered learning process, the communication among peers, and the instructional material introduced in a collaborative learning environment. Collaborative learning in kindergarten is interconnected and interrelated to differentiated instruction (Tomlinson, 2017), affective teaching strategies (Bailey, 2015; Jones et al., 2017; Tomlinson & Imbeau, 2010), and aligned to social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978). In the collaborative learning environment, the kindergarten teachers serve as the manager and the facilitator, which helps students to develop readiness skills that will help them learn (Tomlinson & Imbeau, 2010). Also, kindergarten teachers are responsible, primarily through these kinds of strategies, for creating opportunities to provide students with social and emotional skills, such as self-regulation and empathy skills.

Collaborative learning, along with differentiated instruction and affective teaching strategies, provides multiple benefits to kindergarten teachers, incoming kindergarten students as well as to the learning process. The five domains of school readiness activities that are subject to collaborative learning are several (physical, language, and mathematics) and help students develop social, cognitive, and emotional skills (Bailey, 2015), as well as approaches toward learning that will be useful in their lives (Tomlinson & Imbeau, 2010).

Self-regulation is an essential component of the five domains of school readiness (Blair & Raver, 2015) and students' ability to learn in a diverse learning environment (Tomlinson, 2017). Also, self-regulation is a neurological process (Bailey, 2015) that helps students to engage in goal-directed behaviors (Daucourt et al., 2018) and conceptualized as the ability to use executive function (Blair & Raver, 2015). Executive function can be used as a set of regulatory processes that control both thought and action necessary for goal directed behavior (Daucourt et al., 2018). Blair and Raver (2015) stated that executive function focused on inhibition control (the ability to control impulses and reactions), mental flexibility (the ability to shift between rules according to changing circumstances) and working memory (the ability to retain and process information).

Self-regulation skills can be used to help students learn new concepts and engage in classroom activities (Bailey, 2014; Blair & Raver, 2015). Researchers (Bailey, 2015; Bodrova & Leong, 2013) stated that teaching self-regulation skills in the classroom are essential because the prefrontal areas of the brain may not reach their full potential if students do not consistently practice self-regulation at a young age. Kindergarten teachers can use differentiated instruction and encouragement to teach self-regulation skills. Also, kindergarten teachers may adapt their teaching style to the student's temperament in proving individualized instruction (Tomlinson, 2017). Self-regulation skills also can help support students' ability to handle their emotional reactions to new situations (Bailey, 2015).

Anchor activities can be used to connect students' developmental levels, interests, and learning styles (Tomlinson, 2001; Tomlinson, 2017). Kindergarten teachers can use anchor activities when students are waiting for the next task to begin or for individualized instruction. Also, anchor activities can be used in a meaningful and intentional way (Tomlinson, 2017). The goal of anchor activities is to help students understand a concept or skill. Kindergarten teachers can use anchor activities to improve their differentiated instruction and encouragement to enhance the school readiness skills of the incoming kindergarten students.

Kindergarten teachers also would likely benefit from learning how to implement affective teaching strategies, such as Conscious Discipline, which may improve students' future learning. Conscious Discipline (Bailey, 2015) is a classroom management program that integrates social and emotional learning with classroom management and research and practices in child development, neuropsychology, and character education.

According to Bailey (2015), Conscious Discipline focuses on philosophy, common language, and a set of behavior management strategies and positive discipline techniques that teachers can use to manage their thoughts, feelings, and actions in problem-solving as well as teach these skills to students. Kindergarten teachers can use Conscious Discipline's seven core skills (composure, encouragement, assertiveness, choices, positive intent, empathy, and consequences) to improve their affective teaching strategies and help student learn the five school readiness domains. Jones et al. (2017) indicated that teachers could learn and model these skills in their classrooms through intensive teacher training and self-study and ongoing coaching and support.

Based on the findings of this case study, kindergarten teachers are utilizing differentiated instruction and encouragement to implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. It was determined from the data analysis that the kindergarten teachers would likely benefit from learning how to implement differentiated instruction such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, and anchor activities, which may improve student achievement. When encouragement is combined with the differentiated instruction, kindergarten teachers also would likely benefit from learning how to implement affective teaching strategies such as Conscious Discipline training.

# **Project Deliverable**

The project deliverable will be a Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project that improves kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement in a Title 1 elementary school that may lead to incoming kindergarten students' learning. Data from the semistructured interview data and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes were used to inform the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The project is also informed from current research-based practices to discover what is missing in the five domains to teaching kindergarten readiness skills.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project is an 8-week project designed to teach kindergarten teachers the skills they need to increase incoming kindergarten students learning the five domains of school readiness. The district's local board of education is responsible for making all decisions, along with support from the school

administrators and kindergarten teachers to decide whether to implement the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

## **Conclusions**

This section focused on the research methodology, data collection, and thematic analysis. A qualitative case study was used to examine how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. The researcher's role and methods for handling data were discussed. Data collection included semistructured interviews using openended questions and nonparticipant observations descriptive notes.

In Section 3, the project for this case study is a Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. I will present a brief description of the project, the purpose, goal, and review of the relevant literature relating to differentiated instruction, encouragement, tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, and Conscious Discipline. The pedagogy approach, social constructivism, allows kindergarten teachers to utilize these teaching practices (Tomlinson, 2017) and motivates (Bailey, 2015) kindergarten teachers to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Vygotsky's (1978) theory of social constructivism can be used to connect differentiated instruction and encouragement at the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp. I will also describe the rationale of why the project was chosen, implementation, project evaluation, and implications for social change.

## Section 3: The Project

#### Introduction

To address the problem concerning how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning, I developed a Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project (Appendix A). I chose this genre or project deliverable because my case study findings and recommendations from early childhood literature indicated that although the four kindergarten teachers were using differentiated instruction and encouragement to implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning, the kindergarten teachers would likely benefit from learning how to implement research-based differentiated instruction strategies such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, and Conscious Discipline training, which might improve student achievement.

Researchers (Pears et al., 2014) have found that Summer Kindergarten Boot
Camp projects can help students develop necessary kindergarten readiness skills.
Readiness skills equip students with the ability to learn from their peers and teachers in a social learning environment and ease the transition to formal schooling. Bailey et al.

(2016) agreed that Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp projects support students who enter kindergarten without formal education. Several studies have documented that kindergarten students (50% or more) were not enrolled in kindergarten boot camp or kindergarten during 2001 and 2016 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). The Rennie Center for Education Research and Policy (2018) indicated that only 50% of

kindergarten students participated in a formal school experience before entering kindergarten.

The goal for the project is to improve the teachers' research-based differentiated instructional strategies and encouragement through collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, Conscious Discipline training, readiness levels, styles, interests, and opportunities to improve the school readiness skills of the incoming kindergarten students by the end of the kindergarten year. The project will be implemented over the span for 8 weeks, from May 20 through August 15, from 8:30 a.m. until 4:30 p.m.

#### Rationale

Based on the case study findings and recommendations from early childhood literature, a Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp was identified as the most suitable genre or project deliverable to close the gap of kindergarten readiness. The four kindergarten teachers will have an opportunity to improve their teaching practices by learning how to implement research-based strategies such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, and Conscious Discipline training to improve kindergarten students' readiness skills. The content of the project includes research-based differentiated instructional strategies (tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, and anchor activities) and encouragement (Conscious Discipline training) to improve incoming kindergarten students' readiness skills.

The pedagogical approach, social constructivism, can be used by kindergarten teachers to apply research-based differentiated instructional strategies (Tomlinson, 2017).

Encouragement can be used by kindergarten teachers to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning (Bailey, 2015). Social constructivist theory was used to underpin multiple research-based differentiated instructional strategies and affective teaching strategies to improve how kindergarten teachers implement the five school readiness domains to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

## **Review of the Literature**

The literature reviewed in this section relates to the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project, the project's description, the five domains of school readiness, and the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp's content concerning research-based differentiated instructional strategies and encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project was designed to improve four kindergarten teachers' research-based differentiated instructional strategies (tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, and encouragement [Conscious Discipline training] to improve the readiness skills of incoming kindergarten students who are unprepared to learn at the research site.

The HSELOF (2015) defines kindergarten readiness through five domains: (a) cognition and general knowledge, (b) language development, (c) social and emotional development, (d) approaches toward learning, and (f) physical wellbeing and motor development (Section 1). Search terms included differentiated instruction, tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, anchor activities, encouragement, and Conscious Discipline. The case study findings and recommendations from early childhood literature provided support for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

Professional works provided evidence to support several strategies and methodologies for developing the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. Following is a review of multiple research-based differentiated instructional strategies and affective teaching strategies that drove project development, which were selected based on the case study findings and recommendations from early childhood literature.

#### **Differentiated Instruction**

Across America, kindergarten teachers have used a differentiated instruction approach in classrooms; however, Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010) indicated that differentiated instruction is a challenge for teachers to implement. Because teachers are faced with large class sizes and a wide range of ability levels during the regular school year, differentiation is a challenge. Through the Summer Boot Camp project, kindergarten teachers can use differentiated instruction to focus on kindergarten students' readiness levels, interests, and learning needs.

Differentiated instruction is necessary for kindergarten students because it involves responsiveness, flexibility, and balance in promoting how students learn (Tomlinson, 2014). Researchers (Watts-Taffe et al., 2013) have shown correlational evidence that differentiated instruction is more effective than other types of teaching, though they did not explore how teachers can know the differentiated capabilities of students. Watts-Taffe et al. continued indicated that grouping students by interest level allowed for greater collaboration between students and allowed students to better draw on their strengths to achieve learning goals.

Differentiated instruction has been linked to improved outcomes among students. Valiandes (2015) indicated that in a study of 479 students and 24 teachers, systematically integrated differentiated instruction was linked to improvements in literacy in classroom settings where students were of mixed abilities. Other researchers (Bondie et al., 2019) indicated how differentiated instruction in P-12 classrooms in 28 U.S. based research studies from 2001 and 2015 had defined, described, and measured changes in teaching practices. Paolini (2015) noted that differentiated instruction was the hallmark of a good teacher because teachers who used differentiated instruction were best able to meet the learning needs of students of all abilities. Finally, research by Boelens (2018) indicated that differentiated instruction in a blended learning environment was characterized by adaptability on the part of a teacher. Arrow (2015) stated that differentiated instruction was critical to overcoming the learning gaps between students entering a class. As such, differentiated instruction is considered critical to helping students perform their best in class and vital in helping kindergarten teachers to improve differentiated instruction to enhance students' readiness skills.

## **Tiered Instruction**

Tiered instruction is one of multiple research-based differentiated instructional strategies (Tomlinson, 2014). Kindergarten teachers can learn how to implement tiered instruction in three or more levels of instruction to implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Each level of instruction, beginning with instruction in the whole-group classroom setting, is referred to as Tier 1 of instruction (Pullen & Kennedy, 2019). Teachers can use tiered instruction strategies to

target individual learning styles by designing and delivering instruction to support all students (Burns, n.d.; Shapiro, n.d.).

Students who are unprepared to respond in Tier 1 whole-group learning receive a second tier of an intervention designed to intensify instruction through evidence-based, small-group supplemental instruction over the course of 8 weeks for 30 minutes per day, 5 days per week. Tier 3 instructional strategies are used when students have not responded appropriately to the Tier 1 and Tier 2 instructional strategies. The third tier of instruction can be used to provide students who continue to struggle after Tier 2 instruction. Tier 3 instruction is the most intensive level of intervention.

Tiered instruction is constructed according to student readiness level, style of learning, and interest level and builds on prior knowledge while the instructional concept remains the same (Tomlinson, 2017). Tomlinson continued that tiered instruction must be meaningful and impact learning. With tiered instruction, students are less likely to become bored or disruptive; thus, tiered instruction will promote student learning (Tomlinson, 2017) over the course of 8 weeks from May 20 through August 15 from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

## **Collaborative Learning**

Using the collaborative learning strategy, kindergarten teachers will learn how to access multiple learning opportunities (Tomlinson, 2017). In this approach, kindergarten teachers can learn how to implement peer interactions in the kindergarten classroom.

Tomlinson indicated that collaborative learning, discussion, and cooperation can result in multiple benefits for students, such as critical thinking, cognitive engagement, and social

skill development. Furthermore, students learn to communicate their ideas, develop their self-esteem and flexibility, and listen. Collaborative learning gives teachers opportunities to use peer scaffolding through shared student experiences and knowledge (Tomlinson, 2017). Bailey (2015) stated that collaborative learning creates opportunities to furnish students with strong social and emotional skills, such as those involved in making choices and experiencing empathy.

Collaborative learning involves a wide range of educational approaches (Garmston & Wellman, 2016). Collaborative learning represents a change in teacher-centered kindergarten classrooms. In collaborative kindergarten classrooms, whole-group learning may not disappear entirely, but it continues with other processes that are based upon the needs of students. Kindergarten teachers who use collaborative learning approaches consider themselves designers of learning opportunities (Tomlinson, 2017).

Collaborative learning is a popular method that supports students and teachers in the learning process. The goals and processes of collaborative activities also vary widely. Kindergarten teachers can learn to design collaborative activities around specific sequential steps (*Seven Norms of Collaboration: A Supporting Toolkit*; Garmston & Wellman, 2016), structured tasks (Conscious Discipline; Bailey, 2015), or students' readiness levels, interests, learning styles and activities (Tomlinson, 2017). Collaborative learning stimulates both teachers and students. Kindergarten teachers can learn collaborative learning strategies that can provide responsibility, persistence, and sensitivity, in which teachers and students can participate and grow (Bailey, 2015).

Kindergarten teachers can learn how to implement collaborative learning over the course of 8 weeks.

# **Self-Regulation**

A comprehensive review of self-regulation intervention studies published from 1989 thru 2013 indicated that self-regulation domains and functional outcomes result in definite improvement in student development, with multiple approaches and different types of programs (Murray & Rosanbalm, 2017). Another researcher (Panadero, 2017) provided critical reviews of existing self-regulated learning studies. Panadero noted that self-regulation studies on kindergarten students were limited.

Self-regulation can be defined as a psychological construct that involves a range of important competencies, such as the capacity for controlling one's emotions, ability to have positive interactions with others, capacity for avoiding inappropriate or aggressive behaviors, and ability to carry out self-directed learning (Bailey, 2015; Panadero, 2017). Bailey (2015) stated, "Self-regulation is the cornerstone skill for all development. It refers to both the conscious and unconscious processes that allow us to regulate our thoughts, feelings, and actions in service of a goal" (p. 12). The competencies are the capacity to control one's emotions, have positive interactions with others, avoid inappropriate or aggressive behaviors, and carry out self-directed learning (Bailey, 2015; Panadero, 2017).

Cognitive processes contributing to self-regulation are referred to as *executive* functions. Executive functions include the ability to direct or focus attention, shift perspective, and adapt flexibly to changes (cognitive flexibility); retain information

(working memory); and inhibit automatic or impulsive responses to achieve a goal, such as problem solving (impulse control), according to Murray and Rosanbalm (2017). Self-regulated learning consists of many strategies, including goal setting, self-efficacy, goal orientation, metacognitive monitoring, and self-evaluation (Panadero, 2017), which emphasizes the active role of the teacher and student (Bailey, 2015; Panadero, 2017). Self-regulation is vital for the development of social-emotional competency, academic skills, learning, and life successes (Bailey, 2015). Over the span of 8 weeks, kindergarten teachers can learn how to implement self-regulation skills to improve student learning.

## **Anchor Activities**

Differentiated instruction also includes the approach of anchor activities, where the skills and concepts remain same for all students, but the kindergarten teacher provides paths that vary in difficulty in areas such as the five domains of school readiness.

Teachers may also create multiple learning centers and anchor activities focusing on the diverse needs of individual students (Tomlinson, 2017). During the span of 8 weeks, kindergarten teachers can learn how to implement anchor activities to improve students' learning.

# Encouragement

Encouragement can be used to improve teachers' affective domain of teaching and learning during the span of 8 weeks. The affective domain of teaching and learning focuses on teachers' motivations, moods, feelings, emotions, attitudes, beliefs, values, choices, power, and communication skills (Bailey, 2015). Teachers can use the affective domain, according to Bailey (2015), to improve their relationship with students, which

plays essential roles in students' physical, language, emotional, cognitive, and social development, as well as approaches toward learning.

A powerful relationship between affective learning and anchor activities can result in significant learning for students (Bailey, 2015). Another researcher (Evan, 1996) provided a model with strategies to encourage students. For example, Evans (1996) suggested that teachers need human relations skills to manage democratic, cooperative classrooms. A differentiated learning environment is orderly and flexible (Tomlinson, 2010), where no one is to blame and everyone contributes to finding solutions. Toward these ends, researchers (Carlson et al., 1992) stressed six practices: (a) making relationships a priority, (b) carrying on respectful dialogue, (c) practicing encouragement and affirmation daily, (d) making decisions through shared involvement (e.g., classroom meetings), (e) resolving conflict, and (f) having fun on a regular basis.

# **Conscious Discipline**

Conscious Discipline is a brain-based research behavioral management program designed by Bailey (2011) that kindergarten teachers may use over the program's 8 weeks. Part of the Conscious Discipline philosophy is to start training teachers first and accept the changes in their perspectives before teaching students the essential skills to succeed in school and life. Sorell (2013) agreed that teachers focus on developmentally appropriate teaching practices while they learn about themselves. The Conscious Discipline paradigm focuses on teaching teachers about creating safe environments, making meaningful connections, and self-empowering (Bailey, 2015). When teachers learn and practice Conscious Discipline strategies and develop a clear understanding of

themselves and others, they can teach these skills to students (Bailey, 2015). Conscious Discipline training can be used to enhance kindergarten teachers' encouragement and daily affirmation, motivation, and confidence to implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

# **Project Description**

Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project is designed to improve kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement in a Title 1 elementary school that may lead to enhancing incoming kindergarten students' learning. Data from the semistructured interview data and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes were used to inform the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The project is also informed from current research-based practices relating to multiple differentiated instruction strategies and encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten student learnings. The project will be implemented over the span for 8 weeks beginning May 20 through August 15 from 8:30 a.m. until 4:30 p.m.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project includes a Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Readiness Skills and a book study. A book study can allow kindergarten teachers to build a shared knowledge base and improve their affective teaching skills in the classroom. Kindergarten teachers are involved in an 8 weeks' session where there is a continuous discussion around each chapter topic that has arisen from improving differentiated instruction and encouragement in a Title 1 elementary school.

Kindergarten teachers can use the Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to Readiness*Skills as a resource guide. All kindergarten teachers can use a Kindergarten Teachers'

Guide to Readiness Skills to inform how they teach during the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The purpose of the Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to School Readiness is to serve as an age-appropriate practice resource guide when incoming kindergarteners enter the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp unprepared to learn readiness skills and provide answers to questions about differentiated instruction and encouragement over the span for 8 weeks beginning May 20 through August 15 from 8:30 a.m. until 4:30 p.m.

The needed resources included \$60,000 for salaries and benefits for kindergarten teachers. I presented a written proposal for financial support to United Way that included the anticipated outcomes and costs for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The United Way propose budget included \$60,000 for salaries and benefits for four kindergarten teachers. I presented also a written proposal for in kind support to the Title 1 local school district that included services, materials and supplies, and other operating costs such as free breakfast and lunch for incoming kindergarten students as well as transportation for field trips to and from the library. The needed resources from the Title 1 local school district also included breakfast and lunch, materials and supplies, transportation for field trips to and from the local library, and other operating costs associated with the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project budget reflects spending plans for four kindergarten teachers. Based upon each kindergarten teacher's monthly salary, they will receive a stipend for the 8 weeks of training as well as receive professional development credits toward renewing their teaching credentials. Typically, it would cost

\$3,000 per child or more for 8 weeks based on the kindergarten teachers' instruction, activities offered, and field trips. There are no registration fees for incoming kindergarten students to attend the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

Potential barriers to implementation may include the availability of scheduling the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project during the summer months for kindergarten teachers to attend. One solution would be to propose dates that would be conducive for kindergarten teachers to attend. Another solution may be to offer compensation and staff development credits toward recertification.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project includes the teachers' roles and students' actions, equipment, materials, resources needed, and timetable for implementation. Table 3 is the implementation timetable for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. Upon the local board of education approval, the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project should be in full operation.

**Table 3**Implementation Timeline

	Kindergarten teachers' roles
Immediately following local board of education approval of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project kindergarten teachers will receive access to the classroom management system.	Contact office personnel to request the following: access to the classroom management system; instructions for posting documents and links; post links to resources online classroom for self-directed learning and teaching.
Within 3 weeks of the summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project approval	Finalize the agenda and instructional plans for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.
	Submit a draft of The Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to Readiness Skills</i> ; and Finalize and publish the guide as a PDF document.
	Submit a request to the administrative office to print copies of the student guide.
	Introduce the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project to the staff of the Title 1 elementary school.

Table 4 includes the personnel and teacher roles and students' actions regarding the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

Table 4Personnel and Students: Roles and Responsibilities

	Roles and responsibilities			
Kindergarten teachers	Plan and implement the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project agenda.			
	Select or develop students' resources for self-directed readiness development.			
	Conduct program evaluations at the beginning and end of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.			
	Create lesson plans for each session based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs.			
	Introduce interactive activities (smartboard) into the classroom and encourage students to vocalize their questions and interest.			
	Collaborate with peers about students' progress and kindergarten readiness skills.			
	Organize students in small groups for social skills.			
	Engage students in creativity by organizing art and craft projects on a daily basis.			
	Create a nurturing and inspiring atmosphere in the kindergarten classroom.			
Local board of education	Provide resources to support the Summer Boot Camp project.			
Office personnel	Provide classroom management-system access for kindergarten teachers to post materials.			
	Provide the kindergarten teachers with parents 'phone numbers and e-mail addresses for incoming kindergarten students.  (table continues)			

Provide the kindergarten teachers with enrollment data for incoming kindergarten students.

Publish hard copies of the Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Kindergarten Readiness for students and Title 1elementary school personnel.

Print handouts for instructional sessions.

Print formative and summative assessment forms for use during the first and last week of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

Ensure instructional settings are equipped with working computers connected to a projector, a screen, and wireless Internet connections.

Coordinate field trips and accommodation plans with the kindergarten teachers.

Attend 40 days of the Summer Kindergarten Boot

Camp project.

Practice all readiness skills presented in the *Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Kindergarten Readiness*, classroom, and weekly field trips.

Table 5 contains itemized lists of the equipment, materials, and resources needed for implementation of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project will not require additional equipment because the local library already has the material available such as paper, crayons, puzzles, card games, and jump ropes for all students during the 8 weeks.

Students

**Table 5** *Equipment, Materials, and Resources* 

	Equipment	Materials	Resources
Administrative office	Office computer	Printer ink	Kindergarten teachers'
	Printer	Paper	compensation per agreement
		Journals suitable	C
		for adding pages to	
		the Student Guide	
		to Kindergarten	
		Readiness	
		Staples for	
		handouts	
Classroom	Portable computers	Conscious	
	with PowerPoint	Discipline books	
	Projector	Whiteboard	
		markers	
	Screen		
		Whiteboard eraser	
	Whiteboard		
	Wireless internet		
	access		
	Electrical		
	connections for		
	laptop computers		
	Comfortable		
	seating		
	Desks or tables for		
	all students		

(table continues)

	Equipment	Materials	Resources
Playground	Playground equipment		

*Note.* The Title 1 elementary school may already have some of the equipment, materials, and resources listed. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project will not require additional resources if existing resources are available.

Kindergarten teachers serve as the primary audience and support for this Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. Most of the early childhood literature regarding differentiated instruction and encouragement emphasized that all teachers share the responsibilities to improve their teaching and learning skills. However, this project will involve improving incoming kindergarten student learning. Nevertheless, when kindergarten teachers commit to implementing the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning, the final responsibility to learn kindergarten readiness skills belongs to incoming kindergarten students. My role and responsibilities are to design the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

## **Project Evaluation Plan**

The quality of a project may be enhanced through evaluation (Bailey et al., 2016). Feedback data can be used to make project improvement for future use. Project evaluations can help developers identify project objectives, level of changes, and needed supports. Creswell (2012) indicated that a program evaluation should be used to guide decision making.

The purpose of an evaluation is to make formative and summative decisions.

Summative assessment can be used to measure students' achievement after they

completed the lesson and are evaluated to determine to what extent the instructional and learning goals have been met (Wyatt-Smith et al., 2017). Summative assessment results also can be used to make final decisions about whether a project should continue, expand, or discontinue based on evaluation findings. Another critical purpose of the evaluation is to make formative decisions. Formative assessment is a process by which teachers gather data to improve student learning outcomes (Yee, 2016). The use of formative assessment is to provide feedback about the project functioning and short-term outcomes.

Teachers can use formative assessment to continually monitor and determine the next learning goal (Tomlinson & Moon, 2013). Formative assessment is an opportunity to monitor and adjust project functioning before transitioning to summative evaluation. An evaluation can be conducted by someone internal or someone external to the staff. The best practice is a partnership between the internal and external evaluators, such as forming an evaluation team that includes both internal and external evaluators.

The project evaluation plan for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp is formative assessments. The kindergarten teachers will determine if the goal of the Summer School Boot Camp project is achieved. The goal is to improve differentiated instruction and encouragement through Conscious Discipline training, multiple activities, readiness levels, styles, interests, and opportunities to improve the school readiness skills of the incoming kindergarten students by the end of the kindergarten year.

To implement the formative assessment effectively, the National Research Council (2001) recommended that three questions guide the implementation process. The questions are: "where are you trying to go? where are you now? how can you get there?"

(p. 26). According to the National Research Council (2001), the questions also "provide a framework for achieving powerful classroom assessment" (p. 26). This framework also emphasizes the involvement of students throughout the formative assessment. To effectively implement formative assessment, kindergarten teachers also need to have multiple strategies (Tomlinson & Moon, 2013) and Conscious Discipline training that can be used in their classrooms (Bailey, 2015).

The formative assessment will be the kindergarten teachers meet weekly to discuss what is working and what is not working. The summative assessment will be a final meeting at the end of 8 weeks to answer questions about what worked well, what did not work well, and what are ways to improve the Summer School Boot Camp project? The kindergarten teachers can use the GKIDS Readiness Check (Component 3: Assessment of Kindergarten Students) for the formative and summative evaluation of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. As the Summer School Boot Camp project developer, I could observe the project as it is being implemented to monitor any progress in student learning and the teachers' practices. The project's evaluation is to determine if the goal of the Summer School Boot Camp project is met.

# **Project Implications**

The kindergarten teachers work in positions with opportunities for social change as an inherent feature of their duties and responsibilities. There are multiple career positions for kindergarten teachers described as their work contexts. These include (a) school principal for elementary, middle, high schools, and superintendent, (b) supervisor

or assist community activities such as communication skills, goal setting, and time management, (c) care provider in the home of children, and (d) school social worker.

The knowledge gained from the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project can help kindergarten teachers broaden their influence by supporting other teachers by assisting them in establishing long-term goals for student achievement, short-term goals for student growth, and assist teachers in identifying best practices to improve differentiated instruction and encouragement. The kindergarten teachers could establish and monitor short and long term goals for the Title 1 elementary school to improve student achievement. The kindergarten teachers could engage in collaborative conversations to identify evidence of effectiveness and determine the next instructional steps to improve student achievement, such as how teachers transferred knowledge from training into classroom practices.

This project study holds multiple possibilities for social change. This project, Kindergarten Boot Camp, can contribute to school districts across America by providing information concerning how kindergarten teachers used differentiated instruction and encouragement to teach the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Kindergarten teachers and incoming kindergarten students may benefit from this study. Kindergarten teachers may enhance their pedagogy and affective teaching strategies, activities, and resources to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. By becoming familiar with kindergarten readiness skills, incoming kindergarten students may be prepared to enter kindergarten better prepared to learn.

Long-term benefits of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project may include a new

vision in how kindergarten teachers learn multiple approaches and teach readiness skills. Kindergarten teachers may change the way they teach to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

In Section 3, I presented a description and goal on the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project, presented the rationale, reviewed relevant literature, project description, project evaluation, and identified the implications for social change. I presented also the implementation plan, support, and barriers. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project will take place within one year of the district's local board of education approval. In Section 4, I will present the strengths along with the limitations of my project. I will bring closure to this section with a summary of what I gained from the experience.

## Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

# **Project Strengths and Limitations**

The results of the qualitative case study led to the development of a project that may improve kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement. In this section, I discuss the strengths and limitations of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. I present my self-reflection concerning what I learned from conducting this study by examining myself through the lens of a researcher, scholar, practitioner, and project developer. I reflect on how this study may influence social change both locally and in a broader context. I also consider possible areas for future research. Finally, I summarize the key points of my work and provide my conclusions.

# **Project Strengths**

The Kindergarten Boot Camp project is aimed at improving kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement. This Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project has multiple strengths. First, it addresses the need for kindergarten teachers to improve their differentiated instruction and encouragement to teach the five domains of school readiness. Kindergarten teachers can learn multiple differentiated instruction strategies (tiered instruction, collaborative learning, and anchor activities) to improve student learning. These strategies also give teachers more access to student learning readiness skills so that they can address students' needs or add essential insights to move students forward (Tomlinson, 2017). Students can engage each other's thinking, contribute ideas, and improve their physical, social and emotional, language, and cognitive development, as well as their approaches toward learning. Another strength of

this project is that it may help kindergarten teachers to sustain and improve teaching readiness skills, build secure connections to incoming kindergarten students, and reinforce positive work habits and attitudes.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project can support kindergarten teachers' encouragement to take charge of their learning, much in the same way that they encourage students to take charge of their learning. Teachers' learning is focused not only on pedagogical strategies, but also on improving how students learn readiness skills. As teachers understand how their students learn best, these teaching strategies can be used to constitute the best practices to teach their students. Kindergarten teachers' application of encouragement enables new relationships to develop between students and allows existing connections to be improved (Bailey, 2015). A teacher can take differences such as readiness levels, learning styles, and learning levels into consideration and direct students to learn together and help one another in forming learning groups (Bailey, 2015; Tomlinson, 2014).

# **Project Limitations**

The limitation of this Summer School Boot Camp project is that it has been designed for 8 weeks. Researchers (Pears et al., 2014) indicated that a brief kindergarten summer program could help students build necessary readiness skills and equip them with the confidence needed to benefit from the new relationships, knowledge, and experiences they will be exposed to as they transition to kindergarten. Pears et al. continued that summer school programs may be beneficial for students who have not previously attended a preschool program. While a summer program certainly is not a

substitute for 180 days of academic preschool experience, educational summer programs may provide learning opportunities for students who would otherwise enter kindergarten without formal schooling. Other researchers (Augustine et al., 2016) have suggested that programs are effective when students attend regularly and spend more time working on academic tasks. Another limitation of this Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project is that there are no provisions for students' transportation to attend.

# **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

The existing problem is that incoming kindergarten students in a Title 1 elementary school are unprepared to succeed in school. An alternative approach to the existing problem might be a professional development program with coaching and an ongoing professional learning community (Patti et al., 2015). The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project could also exist with professional development and provide kindergarten teachers with an original form of professional development by practicing what they are learning in an actual learning environment. Professional development is a system by which teachers improve their instructional skills, and there are several contexts and approaches in which this can occur. Vangrieken et al. (2017) indicated that teacher communities are one example of a professional development context in which various stakeholders, from administrators to teachers, are involved.

Patti et al. (2015) found that appropriate professional development was linked to increased commitment to teaching, better self-awareness, and improved relationships with others. Kosnik et al. (2015) suggested that there are three core methods of professional development: informal, formal, and community approaches to professional

development. Research has indicated the diverse ways in which professional development may be delivered, which include not only formally established means of development, but also informal relationships and connections by which teachers benefit from their peers.

As the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project begins, school administrators should consider the following actions to initiate professional development:

- 1. Establish a period before the start of the school year for instructional planning and classroom setup.
- 2. Create an assessment plan that involves formal and informal formative assessments that inform the instruction of children using various practices.
- 3. Form a professional learning community (PLC) for teachers to have opportunities to deepen their understanding of child development and learning, explore best practices, study initial and ongoing assessment tools, review student assessment data, and plan differentiated instruction while monitoring child progress.
- 4. Provide teacher training, such as in-service workshops, conferences, and classes.

Professional development depends on teachers' teaching and professional development experiences.

The study described in Section 2 focused on how kindergarten teachers implemented the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 elementary school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. Based on findings from the professional

literature, professional development with coaching and an ongoing professional learning community may be used to improve kindergarten teachers' practices such as differentiated instruction and encouragement (Schachter et al. 2019). A study by Egert et al. (2018) showed that professional development can improve student development. Other researchers have found a definite link between professional development and student outcomes using rigorous methodologies (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

# Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change Leadership and Change

Leadership and change are interconnected. Leadership and change involve strategies that improve the skills, abilities, and confidence of individuals. There are multiple forms of development used to develop leaders, such as mentoring and coaching. My years at Walden University have enhanced my leadership skills through coaching. The coaching process involves assessment, feedback, action planning, a measure of success, and sustaining progress and continued growth.

My awareness of leadership and change has developed over the past several years. I have learned that to be a successful educational leader, which requires specific skills. An educational leader must engage in a collaborative process to identify what teachers need to know, how to recognize how they know it, and what to do if they do not know it. I have sought to establish this process during my leadership meetings by asking teachers to share how they teach specific lessons. I learned that an effective leader ensures that teachers are focused on continually improving their teaching and student achievement. I will continue supporting teachers in sharing and learning strategies that are effective in

improving student learning. I will also collaborate with teachers to enhance student learning.

I grew academically as I led changes within my workplace. My independent research and development of a project demonstrated my increased capacity for taking the lead on my projects, applying theoretical knowledge, and creating a functioning project design to meet the needs of teachers and incoming kindergarteners. I have transitioned from a learner to a leader. I can identify needs in the population, identify critical research related to that need, and subsequently fill that need by creating theory-based interventions that respond to the identified problem.

# **Project Development**

A project developer is an individual who has the leadership skills necessary to plan and coordinate the activities of an individual or a group of individuals. A project developer also has the leadership ability required to monitor activities and take appropriate corrective action when the project is not on point. When I faced challenges, I used leadership and change skills to overcome them. The project, Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp, is an indication of my ability to design a project.

I designed the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project based on scholarly research and the problem. Using multiple components to create the project, I recognized the importance of being organized, focusing on details, and coping with challenges. The development of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project started as a concept to improve kindergarten teachers' understanding of how to implement differentiated instruction and encouragement for incoming kindergarten students. Initially, I focused on

addressing the needs of kindergarten teachers that emerged from the study data.

Eventually, I had to limit the project to multiple components that could provide significant support for kindergarten teachers. The project does not address every need, but it can be used to make a difference, both effectively and efficiently, in how kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness skills.

For a project developer, organization skills are essential. The structure and direction of the project depended on my ability to organize the project. I completed a specific list to identify the multiple components of the project. Focusing on details required me to take time to remember the errors that I was making in my project. I had to make specific changes and apply the skills I was learning. I learned the importance of being flexible and having the patience and perseverance needed to complete the project. I also learned how to limit distractions so that I could focus on the project.

Reflecting on the project reminded me of an early struggle that I experienced while designing the case study. After deciding on the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp as my project, I remembered learning about project development in one of my Walden courses. Project development includes multiple components that needed to be added, such as initiation, planning, designing, developing, implementation, and follow up. These components required me to identify the elements of the project and use the design to create the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

## Scholarship

As a Walden scholar, I have strived to exemplify scholarly qualities. These qualities are grounded in intellectual curiosity, creative thinking, servant leadership,

communication skills, and making contributions to communities. These qualities have shaped two and a half years of course work that led to 8 years of completing my project study. My course work, proposal, and project study have changed my perspectives on how to be tolerant as a scholar. Additionally, I have learned how to locate information by utilizing the Walden library website. I have learned how to identify an educational problem, find current peer-reviewed literature, develop a hypothesis, and formulate research questions. I have also learned how to conduct research, interview participants, and analyze data.

During this process, I have learned multiple lessons as a practitioner. I have over 40 years of experience in the field of elementary, middle, secondary, and special education. Currently, I am also serving as an early childhood services manager for a Head Start program in a Title 1 school district. During the past 8 years, I have become involved in learning about and solving educational problems that impact incoming kindergarten students in rural southwest Georgia. Throughout this journey, I have learned how to research and provide strategies to address educational issues that were prevalent in my community. I now serve on committees and discuss educational problems with parents, teachers, and local board of education members. This journey has also allowed me the opportunity to apply the skills that I have learned in my workplace and become a high-quality leader in my community.

## Reflection on the Importance of the Work

The current study is potentially significant because it may improve how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school

to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. The study may improve kindergarten teachers' understanding of how to implement differentiated instruction and encouragement for incoming kindergarten students. Further, the study is significant because kindergarten teachers will learn multiple pedagogical approaches and effective teaching strategies. In my current position, I hope to pass along knowledge to teachers and continue supporting student achievement, even when students enter kindergarten with various strengths and weaknesses.

## Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

Findings from this study contribute to an in-depth understanding of a widespread problem across America, which is that kindergarten teachers face multiple challenges in teaching the five domains of school readiness. There are too many kindergarten students who are unprepared to enter kindergarten and be successful academically. The study findings and project could significantly improve the educational experiences of kindergarten teachers implementing the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.

## **Directions for Future Research**

Future research could focus on the question of how parents can play an essential role in implementing the five domains of school readiness to improve student learning.

Another direction for future research could involve replicating the study. After the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project has been implemented for a year, kindergarten teachers could use professional development formats to replicate the study. School leaders must communicate and implement practical professional development formats for

supporting teachers' continuing education. Professional development could be used to select quality content and formats that result in positive teacher practices (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017; Schachter et al., 2019).

Directions for future research could also include a longitudinal study to determine whether students who participated in the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project demonstrate greater success in future grades compared to students who did not participate in the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

## **Applications**

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project could be implemented with a different population. Teachers should implement formative assessment procedures at the beginning of the project and enforce summative assessment procedures at the end of the project. The teachers who oversee the project should then implement modifications to meet the specific needs of students.

# **Implications**

Implications for future research could include conducting a study on the effectiveness of the project that identifies the need to improve kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement and their effect on incoming kindergarten students' learning. A quantitative study using a rating scale or a questionnaire could explore how kindergarten teachers implement differentiated instruction and encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten students' learning.

## **Conclusion**

A Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project was used to improve how kindergarten teachers implement the five school readiness domains at a Title 1 elementary school to enhance incoming kindergarten student learning. Kindergarten teachers who complete the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp may learn how to implement multiple differentiated instructional strategies and use encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten students' achievement. When students understand and apply readiness skills, they will achieve academically throughout their school years. Subsequently, they will become agents of positive social change.

## References

- Administration for Children and Families. (2015). 2015-2016 strategic plan. http://www.acf.hhs.gov/about/acf-strategic-plan-2015-2016
- Almulla, M. A. (2015). An investigation of teachers' perceptions of the effects of class size on teaching. *International Education Studies*, 8(12), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v8n12p33
- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2014a). *KIDS COUNT data book*. http://www.aecf.org/resources/the-2014-kids-count-data-book/
- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2014b). *Teen birth*. http://datacenter.kids count.org/data/tables/620-teen-births-ages-15-19-per-1000?loc=12&loct=2#de tailed/2/any/false/869,36,868,867,133/any/8783,8784
- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2014c). *Children living in families where no parent has full time, year round employment*. http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/686-children-living-in-families-where-no-parent-has-full-time-year-round-employment?loc=12&loct=5detailed/5/2056/false/1522,1459,1241,1067,1000/any/8922,8923
- Arrow, A. W., Chapman, J. W., & Greaney, K. T. (2015). Meeting the needs of beginning readers through differentiated instruction. In W. E. Tunmer & J. W. Chapman (Eds.), *Excellence and equity in literacy education* (pp. 171–193).
  Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137415578.0016
- Augustine, C. H., McCombs, S., Pane, J. F., Schwartz, H. L., Schweig, J., McEachin, A., & Siler-Evans, K. (2016). *Learning from summer: Effects of voluntary summer*

- *learning programs on low-income urban youth.* Rand Corporation. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_reports/RR1557.html
- Bable, B. (2013). *Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills (GKIDS)*. http://www.gadoe.org/Curriculum-Instruction-and-Assessment/Assessment/Pages/ Assessment/Pages/GKIDS.aspx
- Bailey, B. A. (2011). *The theoretical scientific basis of Conscious Discipline*. Loving Guidance. https://consciousdiscipline.s3.amazonaws.com/CD-Methodology/Theoretical-and-Scientific-Basis-of-Conscious-Discipline.pdf
- Bailey, B. A. (2013). Fostering self-regulation skills in all children, even the most defiant and aggressive: Help children help each other in the classroom. Loving Guidance. https://tasp.memberclicks.net/assets/conference-materials/fostering self-regulation skills in all children-jill molli-tasp 2013.pdf
- Bailey, B. A. (2015). *Conscious Discipline: Building resilient classrooms*. Loving Guidance.
- Bassok, D., Latham, S., & Rorem, A. (2016). Is kindergarten the new first grade? *Science Daily*, *I*(4), 1-31. https://doi.org10.1177/2332858415616358
- Berk, L. E. (2010). *Development through the lifespan* (5th ed.). Pearson.
- Berlin, L. J., Dunning, R. D., & Dodge, K. A. (2011). Enhancing the transition to kindergarten: A randomized trial to test the efficacy of the "Stars" summer kindergarten orientation program. *Early Child Resource Quarterly*, 26(2), 247-254. https://doi.org10.1016/j.ecresq.2010.07.004
- Bernstein, S., West, J., Newsham, R., & Reid, M. (2014). Kindergartners' skills at school

- entry: An analysis of the ECLS-K. http://www.mathematica-mpr.com/~/media/publications/pdfs/earlychildhood/kindergarten\_skills\_school\_entry.pdf
- Bickman, L., & Rog, D. (2011). *Applied research design: A practical approach*. In L. Bickman & D. Rog (2nd ed.), (3–43). Sage.
- Bierman, K. L., Nix, R. L., Heinrichs, B. S., Domitrovich, C. E., Gest, S. D., Welsh, J. A., & Gill, S. (2014). Effects of Head Start REDI on children's outcomes 1 year later in different kindergarten contexts. *Child Development*, 85, 140–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12117
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2015). School readiness and self-regulation: A developmental psychobiological approach. Annual Review of Psychology, 66, 711–731. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015221
- Bodrova, E., Germeroth, C., & Leong, D. J. (2013). Play and self-regulation: Lessons from Vygotsky. *American Journal of Play*, *6*(1), 111–123. http://www.journalofplay.org/issues/6/1/article/7-play-and-self-regulation-lessons-vygotsky
- Bondie, R., Dahnke, C., & Zusho, A. (2019). How does changing "one-size fits-all" to differentiated instruction affect teaching? *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 336–362. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X18821130
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027
- Boyatzis, R.E. (1998). Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code

- development. CA: Sage.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. Sage.
- Britto, P. R. (2012). School readiness: A conceptual framework.

  http://www.unicef.org/education/files/Chil2Child\_ConceptualFramework\_FINAL
- Broderick, P., & Blewitt, P. (2010). *The life span: Human development for helping professionals* (3rd ed.). Pearson.
- Brophy-Herb, H. E., Zajicek-Farber, M. L., Bocknek, E. L. McKelvey, L. M., & Stansbury, K. (2013). Longitudinal connections of maternal supportiveness and early emotion regulation to children's school readiness in low-income families.

  \*\*Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research, 4(1), 2-19. https://doi.org10.5243/jsswr.2013.1
- Brown, C. (2010). Balancing the readiness equation in early childhood education reform.

  \*\*Journal of Early Childhood Research\*, 8(2), 133-160.\*\*

  https://doi.org10.1177/1476718X09345504
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Buffum, A., Mattos, M., & Weber, C. (2012). Simplifying response to intervention: Four essential guiding principles. Solution Tree Press.
- Burns, M. (n.d.) Response-to-intervention research: Is the sum of the parts as great as the whole? http://www.rtinetwork.org/learn/research/response-to-intervention-research-is-the-sum-of-the-parts-as-great-as-the-whole

- Cameron, C. E., Brock, L. L., & Morrison, F. J. (2012). Fine motor skills and executive function both contribute to kindergarten achievement. *Child Development*, *83*(4), 1229-1244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012. 01768.x
- Cappelloni, N. L. (2013). Kindergarten readiness. Corwin.
- Castro, M., Expósito-Casas, E., López-Martín, E., Lizasoain, L., Navarro-Asencio, E., & Gaviria, J. L. (2015). Parental involvement on student academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *14*, 33-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev. 2015.01.002
- Center on the Developing Child. (2016). From best practices to breakthrough impacts: A science-based approach to building a more promising future for young children and families. https://doi.org.developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/from-best-practices-to-breakthrough-impacts/
- Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University. (2010). Early experiences can alter gene expression and affect long-term development (Paper No. 10). http://doi.org.developingchild.harvard.edu
- Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University. (2011). Building the brain's air traffic control system: How early experiences shape the development of executive function (Paper No. 11). http://doi.org.developingchild.harvard.edu
- Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University. (2012). The science of neglect:

  The persistent absence of responsive care disrupts the developing brain. (Paper No. 12). http://doi.org.developingchild.harvard.edu
- Charmaz, K. C. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory (2nd ed.). Sage.

- Clark, T. (2010). Gaining and maintaining access: Exploring the mechanisms that support and challenge the relationship between gatekeepers and researchers. *Qualitative Social Work*, 10(4), 485-502. http://doi.org/10.1177/1473325009358228
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (2007). What is social-emotional learning (SEL)? http://doi.org/casel.org/why-it-matters/what-is-sel/
- Cooper, H., Allen, A. B., Patall, E. A., & Dent, A. L. (2010). Effects of full-day kindergarten on academic achievement and social development. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(1), 34-70. https://doi.org/10.31002/003465309359185
- Creswell, J.W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Cuevas, K., Hubble, M., & Bell, M. A. (2012). Early childhood predictors of post-kindergarten executive function: Behavior, parent report, psychophysiology. *Early Education and Development*, 23, 59–73.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2011.611441
- Cuticelli, M., Coyne, M. D., Ware, S. M., Oldham, A., & Rattan, S. L. (2014). Improving vocabulary skills of kindergarten students through a multi-tier instructional approach. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *50*(3), 150-156. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451214542041
- Daily, S., Burkhauser, M., & Halle, T. (2010). A review of school readiness practices in the states: Early learning guidelines and assessments. *Child Trends: Early Childhood Highlights*, 1(3), 1-12.
   https://doi.org.academia.edu/15549255/A Review of School Readiness Practic

- es in the States Early Learning Guidelines and Assessments
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective Teacher Professional Development.
  - https://doi.org/learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Effective\_Teacher\_Professional\_Development\_REPORT.pdf.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B., & Osher, D. (2020).

  Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development.

  Applied Developmental Science, 24(2). 97- 140.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.15 37791
- Denham, S. A., Bassett, H. H., Mincic, M., Kalb, S., Way, E., Wyatt, T., & Segal, Y. (2012). Social-emotional learning profiles of preschoolers' early school success:

  A person-centered approach. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 22(2), 178-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2011.05
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). The Sage handbook of qualitative research.

  Sage.
- DiLalla, L. F., Mullineaux, P. Y., & Biebl, S. J. W. (2012). Social-emotional development through a behavior genetics lens: Infancy through preschool. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*, 42, 153-196. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394388-0.00005-8
- Dillenbourg, P. (1999). What do you mean by 'collaborative learning?' In P. Dillenbourg Ed.), Collaborative-learning: Cognitive and computational approaches. 1–19. Elsevier.

- Dixon, F. A., Yossel, N., McConnell, J. M., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *37*(2), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042
- Drake, S., & Reid, J. (2018). Integrated curriculum as an effective way to teach 21st century capabilities. *Journal of Educational Research*, *1*(1), 31-50. https://doi.org/10.30777/apjer.2018.1.1.03
- Duhn, I., Fleer, M., Harrison, L. (2016). Supporting multidisciplinary networks through relationally and a critical sense of belonging: Three "gardening tools" and the "relational agency framework." *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 24(3) 378-391. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2016.1196578
- Duncan, R. J., Schmitt, S. A., Burke, M., & McClelland, M. M. (2018). Combining a kindergarten readiness summer program with a self-regulation intervention improves school readiness. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *42*, 291-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2017.10.012
- Egert, F., Fukkink, R. G., & Eckhardt, A. G. (2018). Impact of in-service professional development programs for early childhood teachers on quality ratings and child outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*. 88(3). https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654317751918
- Evans, T. D. (1996). Encouragement: The key to reforming classrooms. *Educational Leadership*, *54*(1), 81-85. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/sept96/vol54/num01/Encouragement@-The-Key-to-Reforming-

- Classrooms.aspx
- Farran, D. C. (2011). Rethinking school readiness. *Exceptionality Education International*, 21(2), 5-15. http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/eei/vol21/iss2/3
- Farrie, D., Johnson, M., Lecker, W., & Luhm, T. (2016). Reducing class size in New York City: Promise vs. practice.

  https://edlawcenter.org/assets/files/pdfs/publications/Reducing%20Class%20Size %20in%20NYC%20-%20Promise%20vs.%20Practice.pdf
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13- 117. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Garmston, R. J., & Wellman, B. M. (2016). *The adaptive school: A sourcebook for developing collaborative groups* (3rd ed.). Rowman and Littlefield. http://www.thinkingcollaborative.com/product/adaptive-schools-3rd-edition
- Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning. (n.d.a). Race to the top—early learning challenge grant. http://www.decal.ga.gov/BftS/EarlyLearningCh allenge.aspx
- Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning. (n.d.b). The Georgia early learning and development standards. http://www.gelds.decal.ga.gov
- Georgia Department of Education. (n.d.). Entry age for public kindergarten and first grade. http://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-Policy/ AskDOE/Pages/New-Student-Requirements.aspx
- Gest, G., MacQueen, K. M., & Namey, E. E. (2012). Applied Thematic Analysis. Sage.

- Gilgun, J. F. (2010). Reflexivity and qualitative research. *Current Issues in Qualitative Research*, 1(2), 1-8. https://www.scribd.com/document/35787948 /Reflexivity-and-Qualitative-Research
- Gredler, M. E. (2012). Understanding Vygotsky for classroom: Is it too late? *Educational Psychology Review*, 24(1), 113-131. http://dx.doi. org/10. 1007/s10648-011-9183-6
- Grimm, K. J., Steele, J. S., Mashburn, A. J., Burchinal, M., & Pianta, R. C. (2010). Early behavioral associations of achievement trajectories. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(5), 976-983. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018878
- Grindal, T., Bowne, J. B., Yoshikawa, H., Schindler, H. S., Duncan, G. J., Magnuson, K., & Shonkoff, J. P. (2016). The added impact of parenting education in early childhood education programs: a meta- analysis. *Children and Your Services*\*Review, 70, 238-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.child youth.2016.09.018
- Grossman, J. B., Lind, C., Hayes, C., McMaken, J., & Gersick, A. (2009). The cost of quality out-of-school-time programs. https://archive.globalfrp.org/out-of-school-time/ost-database-bibliography/database/cost-of-quality-out-of-school-time-programs.
- Gullo, D. F. (2014). Multiple dimensions of biological development: Implications for kindergarten readiness among young children in poverty. *Journal of Social Science Studies*, *2*(1), 106-128. https://doi.org/10.5296/jsss.v2i1.6394
- Hamilton, B. E., Martin, J. A., Osterman, M. J. K., & Curtin, S. C. (2015). Births: Final Data for 2014. *National Center for Health Statistics*.

- http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64 12.pdf
- Hanley, G. E., Brain, U., & Oberlander, T. F. (2012). Infant developmental outcomes following prenatal exposure to antidepressants, and maternal depressed mood and positive affect. *Early Human Development*, 89(8), 519-524.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2012.12.012
- Hatcher, B., Nuner, J., & Paulsel, J. (2012). Kindergarten readiness and preschools:

  Teachers' and parents' beliefs within and across programs. *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, *14*(2). http://www.ecrp.uiuc.edu/v14n2/ hatcher.html
- Haucke, V., Neher, E., & Sigrist, S. J. (2012). Protein-scaffolds in the coupling of synaptic exocytosis and endocytosis. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 12, 127-138. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2948
- Hines, P., McCartney, M., Mervis, J., & Wible, B. (2011). Laying the foundation for lifetime learning. *Science*, 333(6045), 951.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/science.333.6045.951
- Isaacs, J. B. (2012). Starting school at a disadvantage: The school readiness of poor children. The Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu//19%20school%20disadvant
- Ito, H., Nakamuro, M., & Yamaguchi, S. (2019). Effects of class-size reduction on cognitive and non-cognitive skills. *Japan and the World Economy*, 53(c), 1-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japwor.2019.100977

- Johnson, T. G., & Buchanan, M. (2011). Constructing and resisting the development of a school readiness survey: The power of participatory research. *Early Childhood Research and Practice*, *13*(1), https://www.ecrp.uiuc.edu/v13n1/johnson.html
- Jones, S., Brush, K., Bailey, R., Brion-Meisels, G., McIntyre, J., Kahn, J., Nelson, B., & Stickle, L. (2017). Navigating social and emotional learning from the inside out: Looking inside and across 25 leading SEL programs: A practical resource for schools and OST providers (elementary school focus). https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/pages/navigating-social-
- Kagan, S. L. (1992). Readiness past, present, and future: Shaping the agenda. *Young Children*, 48(1), 48-53.

and-emotional-learning-from-the-inside-out.aspx

- Kagan, S. L., Scott-Little, C., Reid, J. L., Gomez, R., & Friedlander, J. (2011). Georgia'sEarly Learning Standards Alignment Studies.http://www.gelds.decal.ga.gov/Documents/Executive Summary.pdf
- Kipnis, F., Sakai, L., Amanta, F., Whitebook, M., Austin, L. J. E., & Montoya, E (2015).

  Teaching the teachers of our youngest children: The state of early childhood higher education in Indiana, 2015. https://inaeyc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Indiana-Higher-Education-Inventory-Technical-Report-Final.pdf
- Koren, G., & Nordeng, H. (2013). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and malformations: Case closed? *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.siny.2012.10.004

- Kosnik, C., Menna, L., Dharamshi, P., Miyata, C., Cleovoulou, Y., & Beck, C. (2015). Four spheres of knowledge required: An international study of the professional development of literacy/English teacher educators. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 41(1), 52-77. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2014.992634
- Kulkarni, P. P. (2013). A literature review on training & development and quality of work life. *Researchers World*, 4(2), 136-143.
  http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/304601
- Krathwohl, D.R., Bloom, B.S., & Masia, B. B. (1973). *Taxonomy of educational objectives, the classification of educational goals*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) Affective domain.
- Ladd, H. F., Muschkin, C. G., & Dodge, K. A. (2014). From birth to school: Early childhood initiatives and third-grade outcomes in North Carolina. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *33*(1), 162–187. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21734
- Lally, J. R. (2010). School readiness begins in infancy. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(3), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171009200305
- Ledger, S., & Merga, K. (2018). Reading aloud: Children's attitudes toward being read to at home and at school. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(3). http://doi.org/ecu.edu.au/ajte/vol43/iss3/8
- Lee, R., Zhai, F., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Waldfogel, J. (2014). Head start participation and school readiness: Evidence from the early childhood longitudinal study-birth cohort. *Developmental Psychology*, *50*(1). 202-15. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032280

- Liew, J. (2011). Effortful control, executive functions, and education: Bringing self-regulatory and social-emotional competencies to the table. *Society for Research in Child Development*, 0(0), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00196.x
- Leuven, E., & Lokken, S. A. (2018). Long-term impacts of class size in compulsory school. *Journal of Human Resources*. *55*(1), 309-348. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.55.2.0217.8574r2
- Li-Grining, C.P., Votruba-Drzal, E., Maldonado-Carreno, C., & Haas, K. (2010).

  Children's early approaches to learning and academic trajectories through fifth grade. *Developmental Psychology*, *46*(5), 1062-1077.

  http://doi.org/10.1037/a0020066
- Louisiana Department of Education. (2012). Early childhood care and education network. http://www.louisianabelieves.com/early-childhood/early-childhood-care-and-education-network
- Louisiana Department of Revenue. (2007). School readiness tax credit.

  https://doi.org/revenue.louisiana.gov/IndividualIncomeTax/SchoolReadinessTaxC
  redit
- Lowenstein, A. E. (2011). Early care and education as educational panacea: What do we really know about its effectiveness? *Educational Policy*, *25*(1). 92-114. https://doi.org/10.11 77/08 95904810387790
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Early childhood education: Implications for school readiness Schooling, (2). https://doi.org/nationalforum.com/Electronic Journal Volumes/Lunenburg.

- Mantzicopoulos, P., Patrick, H., Strati, A., & Watson, J. (2018). Predicting kindergarteners' achievement and motivation from observational measures of teaching effectiveness, *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 86(2). 214-232. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2016.1277338
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). Designing qualitative research (5th ed.). Sage.
- Mavidou, A., & Kakana, D. (2019). Differentiated instruction in practice: Curriculum adjustments in kindergarten. *Creative Education*, *10*, 535-554. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2019.103039
- McCabe, P. C., & Altamura, M. (2011). Empirically valid strategies to improve social and emotional competence of preschool children. *Psychology In The Schools*, 48(5). 513-540. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.2 0570
- Meaney, M. J. (2010). Epigenetics and the biological definition of gene x environment interactions. *Child Development*. *81*, 1-79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.013 81.x
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research. A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2013). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Miller, K. (2014). The transition to kindergarten: How families from lower-income backgrounds experienced the first year. *Early Childhood Education Journal*. 1-9 https://doi.org/10.1007/310643-014-0650-9
- Mollborn, S., Dennis, J. A. (2012). Ready or not: Predicting high and low school

- readiness among teen parents' children. *Child Indicators Research*. *5*(2). 253-279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-011-9126-2
- Mulligan, G. M., McCarroll, J. C., Flanagan, K. D., & Potter, D. (2014). Findings from the first-grade rounds of the early childhood longitudinal study, kindergarten class of 2010-11 (ECLS-K: 2011). https://doi.org/eric.ed.gov/full text/ED 54 8758.pdf
- Murray, E., McFarland-Piazza, L., & Harrison, L. J. (2014). Changing patterns of parent–teacher communication and parent involvement from preschool to school. *Early Child Development and Care*, *185*(7). 1031-1052. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430 .2014.975223
- Murray, D.W., & Rosanbalm, K. (2017). Current gaps and future directions for self-regulation intervention Research: A research brief. OPRE Report # 2017-93.

  Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- National Association for the Education of Young Children. (1995). School readiness position statement. NAEYC website: http://www.naeyc.org/files/naeyc/file/positions/PSREADY98.pdf
- National Association for the Education of Young Children. (2015a.). Early Childhood Program Standards and Accreditation Criteria & Guidance for Assessment. http://www.naeyc.org/files/academy/file/AllCriteriaDocument.pdf
- National Association for the Education of Young Children. (n.d.b). Where we stand on school readiness. http://www.naeyc.org/ files/naeyc/file/positions/ Readiness.pdf
  National Center on Quality Teaching and Learning. (n.d.). Effective transitions to

- enhance school readiness. http://www.ec lkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc/ttasystem/teaching/transition/plan.html
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2014). Teen birth. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/teen-births.htm
- National Research Council (2000). How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school, (Expanded ed.) J. D. Bransford, A. L. Brown, and R. R. Cocking (Eds.), National Academy Press.
- National Research Council. (2001). Assessment in the classroom. In J. M. Atkin, P. Black, & J. Coffey (Eds.), Classroom assessment and the national science education standards (23-58). National Academy Press.
- Neuman, S.B. (2013). Giving all children a good start: The effects of an embedded multimedia intervention for narrowing the vocabulary gap before kindergarten. In
  A. Shamir & O. Korat (Eds.), Technology as a Support for Literacy Achievements for Children at Risk, Literacy Studies, 7, 21-32. Springer.
- Nix, R. L., Bierman, K. L., Domitrovich, C. E., & Sukhdeep, G. (2013). Promoting children's social-emotional skills in preschool can enhance academic and behavioral functioning in kindergarten: Findings from Head Start REDI. Early Education and Development, *24*(7), 1000-1019. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.825565
- No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-110, § 115, Stat. 1425 (2002). No Child Left Behind Act, Title 1X, General Provisions, Part A, Section, 9101, 20 U.S.C. § 7801et seq. (2001).

- Office of Head Start. (2014a). The Head Start child development and early learning framework. http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ohs/resource/hs-child-development-early-learning-framework
- Office of Head Start. (2014b). On the road to school readiness. https://doi.org/eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc/hs/sr/new
- Office of Head Start. (2014c). What is school readiness? https://doi.org/eclkc.ohscf.hhs.gov/hslc/hs/sr
- Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2020). Drivers of human development: How relationships and context shape learning and development. 

  Applied Developmental Science, 24(1), 6-36.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.207.1398 650
- Pagani, L. S., & Fitzpatrick, C. (2014). Children's school readiness: Implications for eliminating future disparities in health and education. *Health Education & Behavior*, 41(1), 25-33. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198113478818
- Pagani, L. S., & Messier, S. (2012). Links between motor skills and indicators of school readiness at kindergarten entry in urban disadvantaged children. *Journal of Educational and Developmental Psychology*, 2(1), 95. https://doi.org/10.5539/jedp.v2n1p95
- Park, S., & Holloway, S. D. (2017). The effects of school-based parental involvement on academic achievement at the child and elementary school level: A longitudinal study. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *110*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2015.1016600

- Paolini, A. (2015). Enhancing teaching effectiveness and student learning outcomes.

  \*\*Journal of Effective Teaching, 15(1), 20-33.\*\*

  https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1060429.pdf
- Patti, J., Holzer, A. A., Brackett, M. A., & Stern, R. (2015). Twenty-first-century professional development for educators: A coaching approach grounded in emotional intelligence. *An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 8(2), 96-119. https://doi.org/10.1080/17521882.2015.1061031
- Pears, K. C, Healey, C. V, Fisher, P. A, Braun, D., Gill, C., Conte, H. Newman, J., & Ticer, S. (2014). Immediate effects of a program to promote school readiness in low-income children: Results of a pilot study. *Education and Treatment of Children* 37(3), 431-460. https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2014.0021
- Peisner-Feinberg, E. S., Schaaf, J. M., Hildebrandt, L.M., & Pan, Y. (2015). Children's pre-k outcomes and classroom quality in Georgia's pre-k program: Findings from the 2013–2014 evaluation study. https://www.fpg.unc.edu/node/8016
- Prado, E. L., & Dewey, K. G. (2014). Nutrition and brain development in early life.

  Nutrition Reviews, 72(4), 267–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/nure.12102
- Pritchard, V. E., Bora, S., Austin, N. C. Levin, K. J., & Woodward, L. J. (2014).

  Identifying very preterm children at educational risk using a school readiness framework. *Pediatrics*, *134*(3). e825-32.

  https://doi.org/pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/134/3/e825.full
- Puranik, C. S., & Lonigan, C. J. (2014). Emergent writing in preschoolers: Preliminary evidence for a theoretical framework. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 49, 453-467.

- https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.79
- Quigley, M., Poulsen, G., Boyle, E., Wolke, D., Field, D., Alfirevic, Z., & Kurinczuk, J. J. (2012). Early term and late preterm birth are associated with poorer school performance at age 5 years: A cohort study. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 97(3), 167-173. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2011-300888
- Rathbun, A., & Zhang, A. (2016). Primary early care and education arrangements and achievement at kindergarten entry. National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016070.pdf
- Ray, K., & Smith, M. C. (2010). The kindergarten child: What teachers and administrators need to promote academic success in all children? *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 38, 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-010-0383-3
- Research on Differentiated Instruction. (2018). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/307441970
- Richter, L., Daelmans, B., Lombardi, J., Boo, J. L., Behrman, J. R. Lu, C. Lucas, J.E., Escamilla, R. P., Dua, T., Bhutta, A. A., Stenberg, K., Gertler, P., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2017). Investing in the foundation of sustainable development: Pathways to scale up for early childhood development. *The Lancet*, *389*(10064), 103-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31698-1
- Roberts, G., Lim, J., Doyle, L., & Anderson, P. J. (2011). High rates of school readiness difficulties at 5 years of age in very preterm infants compared with term controls. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 32(2), 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e318206d5c9

- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Pagani, L. S., & Kohen, D. (2010). School readiness and later achievement: Replication and extension using a nationwide Canadian survey.

  \*Developmental Psychology American Psychological Association, 46(5), 995-1007. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018880
- Rose, L., Herzig, L. D., & Hussey-Gardner, B. (2014). Early intervention and the role of pediatricians, *Pediatrics in Review*, *35*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1542/pir.35-1-e1
- Schachter, R. E., Gerde, H. K., & Hatton-Bowers, H. (2019). Guidelines for selecting professional development for early childhood teachers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47 395-408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-019-00942-8
- Schultz, B., Richardson, R., Barber, C., & Wilcox, D. (2011). A preschool pilot study of connecting with others: Lessons for teaching social and emotional competence. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 39(2), 143-148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-011-0450-4
- Scott, M. N., Taylor, H. G., Fristad, M. A., Klein, N., Espy, K. A., Minich, N., Hack, M. (2013). Behavior disorders in extremely preterm/extremely low birth weight children in kindergarten. *Journal of Developmental Behavior Pediatric*, *33*(3), 202-213. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e3182475287
- Segaert, K., Menenti, L., Weber, K., Peterson, K. M., & Hagoort, P. (2012). Shared syntax in language production and language comprehension: An FMRI study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 22(7), 1662-1670. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr249
- Seidman, I. (2013). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in

- education & the social sciences. (4th ed). Teachers College Columbia University.
- Shapiro E. S. (n.d.) Tiered instruction and intervention in a response-to- intervention model. http://www.rtinetwork.org/essential/tieredinstruction/tiered-instruction-and-intervention-rti-model
- Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., Dobbins, M. I., Earls, M. F., Garner, A. S., McGuinn, L., Pascoe, J., & Wood, D. L. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129 (1), 232-246. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- Smale-Jacobs, A., Meijer, A., Lorenz, M., & Maulana, R. (2019). Differentiated instruction in secondary education: A systematic review of research evidence.
  Frontiers in Psychology, 10, 23-66. https://doi.org/10.10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02366
- Smith, L. G. E., Thomas, E. F., & McGarty, C. (2015). "We must be the change we want to see in the world": Integrating norms and identities through social interaction.

  \*Political Psychology\*, 36, 543-557. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12180
- Sorell, D. M. (2013). Conscious Discipline implementation: A case study on teacher management of chronic problem behaviors.

  http://libres.uncg.edu/ir/wcu/f/Sorell2013.pdf
- Stuckey, H. L. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, *1*(2), 56-59. https://doi.org/10.4103/2321-0656.115294
- Thornberg, R. (2012). Informed grounded theory. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*. *56*(3), 243-259. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2011.581686

- Timmermans, S., & Tavory, I. (2012). Theory construction in qualitative research: From grounded theory to adductive analysis. *Sociological Theory*, *30*(3), 167-186. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735275112457914
- Tomlinson, C., & Kalbfleisch, M. L. (1998). Teach me, teach my brain: A call for differentiated classrooms. *Educational Leadership*, 56(3), 52–55.https://www.ibmidatlantic.org/Teach\_Me\_Teach\_Brain.pdf
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1999). Leadership for differentiated classrooms. *The School Administrator*, *56*(9), 6-11.
- Tomlinson, C., & Moon, T. (2013). Assessment and student success in a differentiated classroom. ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2017). How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms (3rd ed). ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & Imbeau, M. B. (2010). Leading and managing a differentiated classroom. ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C., & Sousa, D. (2020). The sciences of teaching. Learning and the Brain.

  \*Educational Leadership. 77(8), 14-20.

  http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/may20/vol77/num08/The-Sciences-of-Teaching.aspx
- Tucker-Drob, E. M., & Briley, D. A. (2014). Continuity of genetic and environmental influences on cognition across the life span: A meta-analysis of longitudinal twin and adoption studies. *Psychological Bulletin*. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0035893

  University of Oregon. (n.d.). Phonemic Awareness. https://dibels.

- uoregon.edu/training/bir/phonemic-awareness.php
- Ursache, A., Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2012). The promotion of self-regulation as a means of enhancing school readiness and early achievement in children at risk for school failure. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*(2), 122-128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00209.x
- Valiandes, S. (2015). Evaluating the impact of differentiated instruction on literacy and reading in mixed ability classrooms: Quality and equity dimensions of education effectiveness. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *45*, 17-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.02.005
- Valiente, C., Swanson, J., & Eisenberg, N. (2012). Linking students' emotions and academic achievement: When and why emotions matter. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(2), 129-135. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00192.x
- Vangrieken, K., Meredith, C., Packer, T., & Kyndt, E. (2017). Teacher communities as a context for professional development: A systematic review. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *61*, 47-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.001
- Van Voorhis, F. L., Maler, M. F., Esptein, J. L., & Lloyd, C. M. (2013). The Impact of family involvement on the education of children ages 3 to 8: A focus on literacy and math achievement outcomes and social-emotional skills.

  https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED545474.pdf
- Vitiello, V. E., Greenfield, D. B., Munis, P., & George, J. L. (2011). Cognitive flexibility, approaches to learning, and academic school readiness in head start preschool children. *Early Education and Development*, 22(3), 388-410.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2011.538366
- Vogt, F., Hauser, B., Stebler, R., Rechsteiner, K., & Urech, C. (2018). Learning through play-pedagogy and learning outcomes in early childhood mathematics, *European Early Childhood Education Research*, *26*(4), 589-603. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2018.1487160
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. (1986). Thought and language. MIT Press.
- Walden University. (2013). Office of Research Integrity and Compliance.

  http://www.researchcenter.waldenu.edu/Office-of-Research-Integrity-and-Compliance.htm.
- Watson, K., Handal, B., & Maher, M. (2016). The influence of class size upon numeracy and literacy performance. *Quality Assurance in Education*, *24*(4), 507-527. https://doi.org/10.1108/qae-07-2014-0039
- Watts □ Taffe, S., Broach, L., Marinak, B., McDonald Connor, C., & Walker □ Dalhouse,
  D. (2012). Differentiated instruction: Making informed teacher decisions. *The*\*Reading Teacher, 66(4), 303-314.
- Welchons, L. W., & McIntyre, L. L. (2015). The transition to kindergarten for children with and without disabilities an investigation of parent and teacher concerns and involvement. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 35(1), 52-62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121414523141
- Welsh, J. A., Nix, R. L., Blair, C., Bierman, K. L., & Nelson, K. E. (2010). The

- development of cognitive skills and gains in academic school readiness for children from low-income families. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(1), 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016738
- Wilder, S. (2014). Effects of parental involvement on academic achievement: a metasynthesis. *Educational Review*, *66*(3), 377-397. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.780009.
- Willingham, D. T., Hughes, E. M., & Dobolyi, D. G. (2015). The scientific status of learning styles theories. *Teaching of Psychology*, 42(3), 266-271. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628315589505
- Wertz, F., Charmaz, K., McMullen, L. M., Josselson, R., Anderson, R., & McSpaddon, E. (2011). Five ways of doing qualitative analysis. The Gullford Press.
- Williams, B. L., Dunlop, A. L., Kramer, M., Dever, B., Hogue, C., & Jain, L. (2013).

  Perinatal origins of first-grade academic failure: Role of prematurity and maternal factors. *Pediatrics*, *131*(4), 693-700. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1408
- Woodhead, M. (2016). Early Childhood Development in the SDGs. (Issue Brief No. 28). http://www.younglives.org.uk/publications/PP/early-childhood-development-in-the-sdgs/yl-pb28-early-childhood-development
- Xiao, Z., Koponen, T. Rasanen, P., Aunola, K., Lerkkanen, M., & Nurmi, J. (2014).
  Linguistic and spatial skills predict early arithmetic development via counting sequence knowledge. *Child Development*, 85(3), 1091–1107.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12173
- Yee, D. (2016). Formative assessment in high school communities of practice: Creating a

culture of inquiry, introspection, and improvement. In S. Scott, D. E. Scott & C. F. 20 Webber (Eds.), Assessment for education: Implications for leadership (pp. 285-310). Springer.

Yin, R. K. (2012). Applications of case study research. (3rd ed.). Sage

Zaslow, M., Tout, K., Halle, T., & Starr, R. (2011). Professional development for early childhood educators: Reviewing and revising conceptualizations. In S. B. Neuman & D. K. Dickinson (Eds.), *Handbook of early literacy research*, *3*, 425–434. Guilford.

## Appendix A: The Project

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project

Project Developer

Beverly Woods

## Table of Contents

Component 1: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project Agenda	162
Component 2: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Program Instructional Plan	190
Component 3: The Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Readiness Skills	191

#### **Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project**

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project is designed to improve kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction and encouragement that may lead to enhancing incoming kindergarten students' learning. The project will be implemented over the span for 8 weeks beginning May 20 through August 15 from 8:30 AM until 4:30 PM. Data from the semistructured interview data and nonparticipant observation descriptive notes were used to inform the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The project is also informed from current research-based practices relating to multiple differentiated instruction strategies and strategic encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten student learnings.

I presented a written proposal for financial support to United Way that included the anticipated outcomes and costs for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The United Way propose budget included \$60,000 for salaries and benefits for four kindergarten teachers. I presented also a written proposal for in kind support to the Title 1 local school district that included services, materials and supplies, and other operating costs such as free breakfast and lunch for incoming kindergarten students as well as transportation for field trips to and from the library.

There are no registration fees for incoming kindergarten students to attend the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. Typically, it would cost \$3,000 per child or more for 8 weeks based on the kindergarten teachers' instruction, activities offered, and field trips. The maximum student to teacher ratio is 10-to-1. All boot camp classrooms are self-contained, so students are grouped according to their age in an individual class

for comfort and safety. In this way, kindergarten teachers can guarantee age-appropriate activities and play. The students will receive free instructional tools to complete home assignments.

Using the study findings and recommendations from early childhood literature, I have designed a Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project to improve kindergarten teachers' differentiated instruction, such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulate, and anchor activities. I have also included in the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project to improve kindergarten teachers' encouragement, such as Conscious Discipline training.

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project includes a Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to Readiness Skills* and a book study. A book study can allow kindergarten teachers to build a shared knowledge base and improve their affective teaching skills in the classroom. Kindergarten teachers are involved in an 8 weeks' session where there is a continuous discussion around each chapter topic that has arisen from improving differentiated instruction and encouragement. Conscious Discipline training will be through the book study where kindergarten teachers commit to implementing ideas and strategies from the book. Kindergarten teachers will gather to engage in professional discourse around each chapter of the book study's Conscious Discipline.

Kindergarten teachers can use the Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to Readiness*Skills as an age-appropriate practice resource guide when incoming kindergarteners enter kindergarten unprepared to learn readiness skills and provide answers to questions about differentiated instruction and encouragement over the span for 8 weeks beginning May

20 through August 15 beginning 8:30 a.m. ending 4:30 p.m. The Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to Readiness Skills* is supported by professional literature. I have referenced the resources created by multiple Department of Education (Georgia, California, Pennsylvania, and Massachusetts).

The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project includes the teachers' roles and students' actions, equipment, materials, resources needed, and timetable for implementation. Table A1 includes the personnel and teacher roles and students' actions regarding the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.

Table A1

Implementation Timeline

	Kindergarten teachers' roles
Immediately following local board of education approval of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project kindergarten teachers will receive access to the classroom management system.	Contact office personnel to request the following: access to the classroom management system; instructions for posting documents and links; post links to resources online classroom for self-directed learning and teaching.
Within 3 weeks of the summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project approval	Finalize the agenda and instructional plans for the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.  Submit a draft of The Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to Readiness Skills</i> ; and Finalize and publish the guide as a PDF document.  Submit a request to the administrative office to print copies of the student guide; Introduce the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project to the staff of the Title 1 elementary school.

Table A2Personnel and Students: Roles and Responsibilities

	Roles and responsibilities
Kindergarten teachers	Develop the Student Guide to Kindergarten Readiness.
	Select assessment instrument to identify students' readiness developmental needs.
	Plan and implement the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project agenda.
	Select or develop students' resources for self-directed readiness development.
	Conduct program evaluations at the beginning and end of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.
	Create lesson plans for each session based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs during Team Building and Reflections.
	Introduce interactive activities (smartboard) into the classroom and encourage students to vocalize their questions and interest.
	Collaborate with peers about students' progress and kindergarten readiness skills.
	Organize students in small groups for social skills.
	Engage students in creativity by organizing art and craft projects daily.
	Create a nurturing and inspiring atmosphere in the classroom.

(table continues)

	159
	Roles and responsibilities
Local board of education	Review and approve the Student Guide to Kindergarten Readiness.
Office personnel	Provide classroom-management-system access for kindergarten teachers to post materials.
	Provide the kindergarten teachers with e-mail addresses for incoming kindergarten students.
	Provide the kindergarten teachers with enrollment data for incoming kindergarten students.
	Publish hard copies of the Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Kindergarten Readiness for students and Title 1 elemetary school personnel.
	Print handouts for instructional sessions.
	Print survey instruments for use during the first and last week of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.
	Ensure instructional settings are equipped with working computers connected to a projector, a screen, and wireless Internet connections. Coordinate field trips and accommodation plans with the kindergarten teachers.
Students	Attend 40 days of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project.
	Practice all readiness skills presented in the <i>Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Kindergarten Readiness</i> , classroom, and weekly field trips.

Table A3 contains itemized lists of the equipment, materials, and resources needed for implementation of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project will not require additional equipment because the local library already has the material available such as puzzles, card games, and jump ropes for all students during the 8 weeks.

**Table A3** *Equipment, Materials, and Resources* 

	Equipment	Materials	Resources
Administrative office	Office computer Printer	Printer ink Paper  Journals suitable for adding pages to the Student Guide to Kindergarten Readiness Staples for handouts	Kindergarten teachers' compensation per agreement
Classroom	Portable computers, connected to PowerPoint projector  Screen Whiteboard Wireless Internet access  Electrical connections for laptop computers Comfortable seating with desks or tables for all students	Conscious Discipline Books Whiteboard markers Whiteboard eraser	
Playground	Playground equipment		

*Note*. The Title 1 elementary school may already have some of the equipment, materials, and resources listed. The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project will not require additional resources if existing resources are available.

The following is a sample of the Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project components. These include: (a) Component 1: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project Agenda; (b) Component 2: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Program Instructional Plan; and (c) Component 3: The Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to Readiness Skills*.

#### Component 1: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project Agenda

Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp

#### Week: 1

Monday

Welcome and introduction to Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp project (Each kindergarten teacher and 10 incoming kindergarten students in self-contained classroom). Prepare for breakfast (Ensure students wear face mask, social distancing, take temperature and record, bathroom/wash hands, and transition to the cafeteria for breakfast). All kindergarten teachers establish a solid routine.

7:30-8:30

Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Application of the Five Domains of School Readiness) in the cafeteria (Kindergarten teachers engage all 10 students to use prior knowledge during breakfast such as socialization skills.) Social skills such as waiting for teacher to call your name, taking turn to get breakfast, and being kind to others. During breakfast/morning enrichment, kindergarten teachers begin to develop relationships (Conscious Discipline) with students. Transition back to the bathroom, wash hands and practice social distancing.

8:30-9:30

Unlocking the Five Domains of School Readiness in each kindergarten classroom (Beginning with movement-dance physical wellbeing—Kindergarten teacher assign students to groups) At the end of all activities (art, music, health, and safety), kindergarten students have a bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.

9:30-10:30:

Classroom setting: First, whole-group instruction (Kindergarten teacher will start with Language Arts skills such as read a fiction story to all students. Circle time in each kindergarten classroom.) Second, kindergarten teacher will transition students to learning centers to demonstrate the big concepts from the fiction story such as the mathematics center, the students would identify the number of characters in the story.

10:30-10:45

Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.

10:45-11:45

Small- group learning: Guided teaching and learning
(Application of Conscious Discipline through tiered
instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation, and anchor
activities (each kindergarten teacher work with students in
assigned groups) Kindergarten teachers would encourage
students such as give students happy faces.

11:45-12:15

Reading/Writing/ Math/ Science/Literacy and Critical
Thinking: For example, kindergarten children learn the names

of numbers and how to count them in sequence. By the end of the Summer Boot Camp project, kindergarten students should be able to recognize and name shapes such as triangle, rectangles, circles, and squares. (Kindergarten teachers will rotate activities in 30 minutes' intervals).

12:20-1:30

Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).

1:30-2:30

Enrichment and Remediation: Art/Music/Technology (All kindergarten teachers provide additional practice/activities to improve incoming kindergarten student learning the Five Domains of School Readiness). Transition to bathroom with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing. Follow by a snack.

2:30-3:15

Enrichment and Remediation- (Consistency and Repetition) All kindergarten teachers provide hands on activities in learning centers to learn the Five Domains of School Readiness through Art/Music/Technology.

3:15-3:30

Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp 3:30-4:30

Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to School Readiness*. Kindergarten teachers transition to Book Study: Conscious Discipline: Building Resilient Classrooms: KT#2011 will lead the Introduction which involves the first three chapters of the book Conscious Discipline, KT#2012 will lead chapters four and five, KT#2013 will lead chapters six, seven, and eight, and KT#2014 will lead chapters nine and ten.

#### **Tuesday**

10 20 10 45

7:30-8:30:Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)

8:30-10:30: Unlocking the Five Domains of School Readiness in each kindergarten classroom. Whole-group instruction (Reading), transition to learning centers and kindergarten teacher work with students in a smaller setting.

10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Decodable Readers: Kindergarten teachers provide engaging stories that reinforce phonics instruction using Smartboard.
11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy/ and Critical Thinking (Students ask questions as they listen to the topic in each subject). Kindergarten students will learn to use question words, such as "who," "what," "when," "where," "Why," and

"how."

12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,
	family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).
	Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five
	Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table
	manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student
	Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Enrichment and Remediation: Art/Music/Technology: In
	learning centers, all kindergarten teachers provide additional
	practice/activities to improve incoming kindergarten student
	learning the Five Domains of School Readiness.
2:30-3:15	Enrichment and Remediation: All kindergarten teachers
	provide hands on activities to learn the Five Domains of School
	Readiness through Art/Music/Technology) in learning centers.
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten
	Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and
	Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten
	Teachers' Guide to School Readiness. All kindergarten
	teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge
	and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration

and processing of content information. Transition to Book

Study: Conscious Discipline: Building Resilient. (KT#2011

will lead Chapter 2).

### Wednesday

7:30-8:30: Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)

8:30-9:30: Kindergarten teachers introduce the first 10 letters of the alphabets in wholegroup instruction.

9:30-10:30	Classroom setting: small-group instruction and including
	activities from each domain of school readiness (writing,
	numbers, and sight words). Students transition to learning
	centers to reinforce skills learn.
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Whole- group learning: Guided teaching and learning (How to
	be a friend)
11:45-12:30	Reading/Writing/ Mathematics/ Science/Literacy and Critical
	Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals) Repeat
	routine from previous learning.
12:35-1:30	Lunch/Indoor recess (Follow established lunch routine)
1:30-2:30	Enrichment and Remediation (Follow established routine)
2:30-3:15	Enrichment and Remediation (Follow established routine)
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten

# Boot Camp

3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and
	Reflections: All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans
	based on professional knowledge and experiences and the
	students' specific needs consideration and processing of
	content information consideration and processing of content
	information. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten
	Teachers' Guide to School Readiness. Transition to Book
	Study: KT#2011 will lead Chapter 3.
Thursday	
7:30-8:30:	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast
	routine)
8:30-9:30:	Kindergarten teachers teach across five domains of school
	readiness (learning centers) using established routine
9:30-10:30	Classroom setting: Whole-group instruction and including
	differentiated instruction for all students (Recognizing and
	writing letters of the alphabet)
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Small-group learning: Guided teaching and learning
11:45-12:30	Reading/Writing/ Mathematics/ Science/Literacy and Critical
	Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals)
12:35-1:30	Lunch/Indoor recess (Follow established lunch routine)

1:30-2:30	Enrichment and RemediationArt/Music/Technology (Follow
	established routine)
2:30-3:15	Enrichment and Remediation-Art/Music/Technology (Follow
	established routine)
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten
	Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and
	Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten
	Teachers' Guide to School Readiness. All kindergarten
	teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge
	and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration
	and processing of content information. Transition to Book
	Study: (KT#2012 will lead Chapter 4).
Friday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast
	routine)
8:30-9:30	Kindergarten teachers teach across five domains of school
	readiness (learning centers) using activities in each domain.
9:30-10:30	Classroom setting: small-group instruction and including
	differentiated instruction for all students.
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Whole- group learning: Guided teaching and learning
11:45-12:30	Reading/Writing/ Mathematics/ Science/Literacy and Critical
	Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals)

12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Enrichment and RemediationArt/Music/Technology (Follow established routine)
2:30-3:15	Enrichment and Remediation-Art/Music/Technology (Follow established routine)
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30 Week 2	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . (KT#2012 will lead Chapter #5 Assertiveness)
Monday	Application of Kindergarten Readiness: Field Trip to Elliott Farms

Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast

7:30-8:30

	routine)
8:309:00	Departure
9:30-10:00	Arrive
10:00-12:30	Elliott Farm Interactive Presentation and Tour
12:35-1:00	Lunch (Box)
1:00-2:30	Elliott Farms Presentation-Agricultural Activities involving the Production of Corn, Strawberries, and Ice Cream.
2:30-3:15	Return to the local library
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . (KT#2013 will lead Chapter 6: Encouragement)
Tuesday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Kindergarten teachers will follow the establish breakfast routine).
8:30-10:30	Small-group instruction and including differentiated instruction

	and strategic encouragement for all students in learning centers. (Language Arts Skills)
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Decodable Readers: Kindergarten teachers provide engaging stories that reinforce phonics instruction.
11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy/ and Critical Thinking
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Enrichment and Remediation: Art/Music/Technology/Softball
2:30-3:30	Enrichment and Remediation: Art/Music/Technology/Softball
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Transition to Book

	1
Wednesday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow the established routine)
8:30-9:30	Kindergarten teachers teach the five domains of school readiness (Mathematic Skills)
9:30-10:30	Classroom setting: small-group instruction and including differentiated instruction and encouragement
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Whole- group learning: Guided teaching and learning
11:45-12:30	Reading/Writing/ Mathematics/ Science/Literacy and Critical Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals)
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).

1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Softball
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Softball
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Transition to Book Study: KT#2013 will lead Chapter # 8: Empathy.
Thursday	
7.20 0.20	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment
8:30-10:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment Socialization skills: Small-group instruction and including differentiated instruction and encouragement
	Socialization skills: Small-group instruction and including
8:30-10:30	Socialization skills: Small-group instruction and including differentiated instruction and encouragement  Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
8:30-10:30 10:30-10:45	Socialization skills: Small-group instruction and including differentiated instruction and encouragement  Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.

face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,
family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).
Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five
Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table
manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student
Choice—games).

1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Softball
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Softball
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Team Building and Reflections- consideration and processing of content information. KT# 2014 will lead Chapter 9: Positive Intent.

Friday:	Field Trip
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	Travel to Atlanta
10:30-10:45	Break (Bathroom and water)
10:45-12:30	Tour the Georgia Aquarium Guided Interactive Tour
12:30-1:30	Eat Sack Lunches

1:30 -3:15	Travel back to the library
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Transition to Book Study: Conscious Discipline: KT#2014 will lead Chapter 10:
	Consequences.

Week 3: Students' Science Project

Monday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine).
8:30-10:30	Small-group instruction including differentiated instruction and encouragement
10:45-11:00	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy (Students transition from learning stations to learning stations)

12:35-1:30	Lunch/Indoor recess/Basketball
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Basketball
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Basketball
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers start discussing summative assessment.
Tuesday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	Small-group instruction including differentiated instruction and encouragement
10:30-10:45	Break (Bathroom and water)
10:45-11:45	Story Time
11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy Critical Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals)

12:35-1:30	Lunch/Indoor recess
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Swimming
2 20 2 20	
2:30-3:30	Art/Music/Technology/Swimming
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and
	Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans
	based on professional knowledge and experiences and the
	students' specific needs consideration and processing of
	content information. Kindergarten teachers continued
	discussing summative assessment.
Wednesday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast
	routine)
8:30-10:30	Small-group instruction including differentiation for all
8.30-10.30	students
	students
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Story Time
11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy (Students transition
	from learning stations to learning stations)
10.07.1.00	
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing
	face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,
	family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).

Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five
Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table
manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student
Choice—games).

1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/ Swimming
2:30-3:30	Art/Music/Technology/Swimming
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> . All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers continued discussing summative assessment.
<b>Thursday</b> 7:30-8:30	Museum of Aviation Field Trip Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-9:00 9:00-10:00 12:35-1:30	Board Bus  Museum of Aviation NASA Educational Resource Center  Lunch (Box)

Return to the library

Art/Music/Technology/Swimming

1:30-2:30

2:30-3:15

3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten teachers continued discussing summative assessment.
Friday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	Small-group instruction including differentiation for all students
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Whole-group learning: Guided teaching and learning
11:45-12:30	Reading/Writing/ Math/ Science/Literacy and Critical Thinking (rotate activities in 15 minutes' intervals)
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Enrichment and Remediation-Art/Music/Technology/ Tennis

2:30-3:15	Enrichment and Remediation-Art/Music/Technology/Tennis
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten
	Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and
	Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans
	based on professional knowledge and experiences and the
	students' specific needs consideration and processing of
	content information. Kindergarten teachers continued
	discussing summative assessment.

Week 4 Project Development (Science Project: Students and Teachers Developed)

Monday	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	Student/Teacher: Design Project
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45 11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics: Remediation Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy (Students transition from learning centers to learning centers)
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,

family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).
Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five
Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table
manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student
Choice—games).

	Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling
2:30-3:30	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Review chapters of the book study.
Tuesday	Science Project Development
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment ((Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	Student and Teacher: Design Project
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.
10:45-11:45	Reading/Mathematics: Remediation
11:45-12:30	Reading/Math/ Science/Literacy (Students transition from learning centers to learning centers)

12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, we		
	face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,		
	family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).		
	Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five		
	Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table		
	manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student		
	Choice—games).		
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling		
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling		
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten		
	Boot Camp		
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and		
	Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans		
	based on professional knowledge and experiences and the		
	students' specific needs consideration and processing of		
	content information. Kindergarten teachers continued		
	discussing summative assessment.		
Wednesday	Project Development		
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast		
	routine)		
8:30-10:30	Student and Teacher: Continue to Design Project		
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing		

0 1	1			1.
togo modz	and	nrootioing	COOLOL	distancing.
TAUE IIIASK	ancı	DIACHGINS	SOCIAL	CHSTAILCHIP

10:45-11:45	Reading/Mathematics: Remediation
11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy (Students transition from learning centers to learning centers)
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Bowling
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers continued discussing summative assessment.

Thursday	Callaway Gardens: A Beautiful Place to Learn About the Natural World (Field Trip)		
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)		
8:30	Board Bus		
8:45	Depart for Callaway Gardens—Return 3:00		
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp		
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Discuss formative and summative assessment.		
Friday	Project Development		
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)		
8:30-10:30	Student and Teacher: Design Project		
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing.		
10:45-11:45	Reading/Mathematics: Remediation		

11:45-12:30	Reading/Mathematics/ Science/Literacy (Students transition from learning centers)	
12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).	
1:30-2:30	Art/Music/Technology/Soccer	
2:30-3:15	Art/Music/Technology/Soccer	
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp	
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information.	
Monday	Completion of Multiple Student Projects	
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)	
8:30-12:30	Completion of Multiple Student Projects (Science, Technology,	

Reading, Engineering, Art, and Mathematics)

12:35-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners. Clean-up and Bathroom /Indoor recess (Student Choice—games).
1:30-3:15	Students and teachers continued to complete projects
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers develop lesson plans based on professional knowledge and experiences and the students' specific needs consideration and processing of content information. Kindergarten teachers use the Kindergarten Teachers' <i>Guide to School Readiness</i> .
<b>Tuesday</b> 7:30-8:30	Complete students and teachers Science Projects Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)
8:30-10:30	(Complete summative Assessment)
10:30-10:45	Bathroom break with emphasis on washing hands, wearing

	face mask, and practicing social distancing.		
10:45-11:45	Art/Music/Technology (Students rotate to all learning centers)		
11:45-12:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch, family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables). Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table manners.		
12:35-3:15	Final Field Trip: Ga. Sports Hall of Fame		
3:15- 3:30	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten Boot Camp		
3:30-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and Reflections. All kindergarten teachers completed summative assessment.		
Wednesday	Graduation Ceremony		
7:30-8:30	Breakfast/Morning Enrichment (Follow established Breakfast routine)		
9:00-12:00	Honors and Awards Programs		
12:00-1:30	Prepare for Lunch (with emphasis on washing hands, wearing face mask, and practicing social distancing) During lunch,		

family style (students eat lunch in the classroom at tables).

Kindergarten teachers continue the application of the Five

	Domains of School Readiness such as appropriate table		
	manners. Clean-up and Bathroom.		
Lunch			
1:30-2:00	Departure of Kindergarten students from the Kindergarten		
	Boot Camp		
2:00-4:30	Kindergarten Teachers: Collaborative Learning and		
	Reflections. All kindergarten teachers discuss the results of the		
	summative assessment.		

# Component 2: The Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp Project Instructional Lesson Plan (Sample)

**Methodology:** Teacher and Student-Centered Approach to Learning Kindergarten teachers will provide differentiated instruction and strategic encouragement.

**Learners:** Incoming kindergarten students and kindergarten teachers

**Materials:** Smartboard with the activities and resources

**Objectives:** By the end of the instructional sessions, incoming kindergarten students will have gained a basic understanding of readiness skills. Kindergarten teachers will have learned multiple teaching strategies and strategic encouragement activities relating to how to teach the five domains of school readiness.

#### Lesson Plan:

- 1. Introduce incoming kindergarten students.
- 2. Use Smartboard.
- 3. Use the Smartboard presentation with talking points to discuss the five domains of school readiness.
- a. Demonstrate how incoming kindergarten students can access resources for self-directed learning.

# Component 3: The Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to Readiness Skills

Kindergarten is a place for students to thrive. The kindergarten year is essential for developing readiness skills for academic and future success. All incoming kindergarten students enter kindergarten with different needs and capabilities. It is the kindergarten teachers' duty and responsibility to acknowledge these differences and attempt to meet these varied needs by teaching kindergarten readiness skills.

Kindergarten teachers teach the readiness skill through the provision of a differentiated instruction such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulation learning, anchor activities and encouragement that require students to learn in small and large groups.

The purpose of this Kindergarten Teachers' *Guide to School Readiness* is twofold. These included: (a) to serve as an age-appropriate practice resource guide when incoming kindergarteners are entering Summer Kindergarten Boot Camp unprepared to learn readiness skills, and (b) to provide answers to questions about differentiated instruction and encouragement. This Guide is NOT an order concerning how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. This resource does not incorporate all characteristics of kindergarten instruction and programming but attempts to address the informational and "gap in practice" of conceptual rigor with developmentally and appropriate practice. Instead, this Guide has been developed in response to the kindergarten teachers at the Title 1 elementary school to improve the use of differentiated instruction and strategic encouragement to improve incoming kindergarten student learning. This Guide is

supported by professional literature. I have referenced the resources created by multiple Department of Education (Georgia, California, Pennsylvania, and Massachusetts) in this Kindergarten Teachers' Guide to School Readiness.

# Part I: Kindergarten Teachers' Philosophy and Goals

It is essential for kindergarten teachers to comprehend the developmental stages in which children acquire specific skills. High-quality kindergarten programming embraces the concept of learning in five domains of readiness and align with Vygotsky's theoretical framework in that social interaction plays an essential role in child development.

Vygotsky (1978) states:

Every function in the child's cultural development appears twice: first, on the social level, and later, on the individual level; first, between people (interpsychological) and then inside the child (intrapsychological). This applies equally to voluntary attention, to logical memory, and to the formation of concepts. All the higher functions originate as actual relationships between individuals. (p. 57)

Vygotsky's theory reflects an understanding of other childhood theories (social and situated learning theory and genetic epistemology) that students learn through actively engaging in social interactions in multiple ways. This model has provided teachers with critical knowledge on how students develop and learn. For additional information on child developmental milestones.

Website Resources:

- http://www.pbs.org/wholechild/abc/http://www.med.umich.edu/1libr/your child/devmilele.htm
- http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/index.html
   http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/spanish/actearly/index.html

# **Application of the Five Domains of School Readiness**

In high-quality kindergarten programming, kindergarten teachers should know teaching revolves around the five domains of school readiness. These include: (a) language and literacy development, (b)cognition and general knowledge (including early mathematics and early scientific development), (c) approaches toward learning, (d) physical well-being and motor development, and (e) social and emotional development. These five domains of school readiness are intentionally overlapping and interconnected indicators of a child's ability to succeed in a school setting. These five domains are not intended to be chronological milestones but rather skills that children develop simultaneously. The domains also serve as a method for kindergarten teachers to guide their differentiated instruction, such as tiered instruction, collaborative learning, self-regulate learning, anchor activities and encouragement towards school readiness and age-appropriate activities.

Socially and emotionally development: Researchers (Luby, Barch, Whalen, Tillman, & Freedland, 2018) indicated that young children who struggled to develop minimal social and emotional skills and suffer neglect or rejection from peers are at a higher risk for childhood depression and other mental health disorders. Incoming kindergarten students entering kindergarten have different ability to self-regulate by self-

control, mental flexibility, and working memory. Since these self-regulation and executive function skills are critical, it is essential for their kindergarten teachers to limit the sources of frustration, overstimulation, and stress in the learning environment. However, to develop problem-solving skills, young children should have opportunities to experience appropriate frustrations and stress.

Physical well-being and motor development: Kindergartners are competent in demonstrating physical skills such as hoping and skipping, and dressing without help; however, some kindergartners experience difficulties with fine motor skills such as writing, drawing and precise cutting. Kindergarten teachers should provide multiple learning opportunities across all domains of school readiness.

Approaches toward learning: Kindergarteners' approaches to learning are also vital to their future school success and support the other domains of school readiness. Kindergarten students develop an interest in learning and creativity; students develop the ability to start and finish activities with persistence and attention; students can focus on collaborating with peers.

Cognition and general knowledge: Kindergartners exhibit flexibility, reasoning, and problem solving than younger students. Kindergartners can use over 2,027 words. They have the capability to learn multiple concepts when presented in a manner that is understandable to them. As a result, hands-on, research-based learning, is essential to this period of development.

Language and literacy development: Kindergartners ask multiple questions, such as "why." For additional information on the Five Domains of School Readiness.

https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/school-readiness/article/head-start-approach-school-readiness-overview

# Part II: High Quality Kindergarten Learning Environment

Kindergarten teachers should know the kindergarten learning environment plays a vital role in developmental domains (physical, social and emotional, language, cognitive, and motor). Kindergarten teachers create developmentally appropriate and structured classrooms. A safe, responsive, compassionate, and nurturing environments are critical components of a kindergarten classroom. A safe and supportive environment also help kindergarten students to develop positive self-esteem and approaches toward learning for future academic success.

Students can respond when they:

- Are structured
- Have collaboration among families, schools and communities
- Provide predictable routines to learn through discovery, interaction,
   creativity, problem-solving, conversation, and play
- Have consistent expectations and supports differences in the needs, skills,
   and abilities of students as they develop as individuals
- Represent the children culturally
- Demonstrate mutual respect with parents, peers, and teachers
- Foster positive relationships with teachers and peers

When kindergarten teachers develop eight critical elements of high-quality kindergarten, they may create a kindergarten learning environment that intentionally

invites, intrigues, and stimulates students' learning modalities. The features of high-quality kindergarten include (a) organizing kindergarten classroom, (b) classroom management, (c) curriculum, (d) instruction, (e) assessment of children, (f) family engagement, (g) leadership and professional development, and (h) evaluation of program quality.

# Organizing Kindergarten Classroom

The kindergarten classroom must be intentionally arranged to engage in interaction, conversation, play, discovery, creativity, and problem-solving. The kindergarten classroom is organized to provide the learning environment for individuals and small and large groups.

The kindergarten classroom is designed so kindergarten students may work independently, plan activities, and self-select materials. To intentionally accomplish this type of learning, kindergarten teachers create learning centers or workstations. Teachers emphasize arranging centers to connect to each other. Kindergarten Learning Experiences and links to related resources are also available online at www.doe.mass.edu/ess.

Classroom Management for Kindergarten Teachers: Classroom management refers to multiple skills and strategies that teachers implement to help students to become focused, organized, and academically productive during the learning environment. These strategies are essential to the teaching and learning process.

# Classroom management is challenging!

Proactively teach kindergarteners how to manage their emotions: Teaching kindergarten students' social skills during the first month of the kindergarten year is

critical for future success in school and in life. Researchers (Bassok, Latham, & Rorem, 2016; Cappelloni, 2013) substantiates that healthy social, emotional, physical, language, cognitive development, and approaches toward learning are essential ingredients for future academic success. Kindergarten teachers must have a system of managing inappropriate behaviors. For information on how to manage inappropriate behaviors Go to: http://csefel.vanderbilt.edu/modules/module1/script.pdf and the book: Bailey, B. A. (2015). Conscious Discipline: Building resilient classrooms. Oviedo, FL: Loving Guidance

#### Set clear rules

Multiple kindergarten teachers believe that consistency, expectations, and teaching what is expected with logical consequences and rewards are vital to classroom management. Establishing clear classroom rules supports pro-social behaviors.

Kindergarten teachers should develop at least 4 or 5 practices.

#### Avoid timeout

When kindergarten students act up, teachers should engage in a conversation with the student about their behaviors, actions, and consequences. With the teacher's support, students begin to understand their behaviors, actions, and consequences appropriately.

Also, engaging in conversation with students about their behaviors, actions, and consequences build empathy.

When a child's behavior commands your attention, raise these questions, "What do I want this student to learn from my response to his/her action?"

Resources to consider:

- TLPI (Trauma and Learning Policy Initiative):
   https://traumasensitiveschools.org/
- CASEL (Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning): https://casel.org/
- Responsive Classroom: https://www.responsiveclassroom.org/

When kindergarten teachers provide the most appropriate environments and intentional teaching, some students may require additional support for inappropriate behaviors. There are multiple factors (lack of food or sleep, poor language skills, sickness, and stress from home) that may trigger inappropriate actions. When this occurs in kindergarten learning environments, teachers may implement strategies such as redirecting the student or provide less attention to inappropriate behavior. For information on how to create positive behavior plans (PBS) for kindergarten children, http://csefel.vanderbilt.edu/modules/module3a/script.pdf.

#### Curriculum

The curriculum should involve students' ability to use all their learning modalities along the continuum of development. As the kindergarten teacher, you provide activities and materials to help students engage in learning with their peers from implementing the curriculum. Kindergarten teachers must recognize if the curriculum is developmentally appropriate and meet the needs of each child in the kindergarten learning environment, such as through learning centers.

# Centers

Centers are areas in the classroom where small groups of students may work or play, often defined physically with dividers or furniture as markers of the space dedicated to each, where teachers organize materials and experiences designed intentionally to engage students in an area of curriculum, a theme, or a type of activity (Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2017). The learning centers are at students' hand and eye-level to learn actively in meaningful and relevant ways in their special place.

Kindergarten teachers should know how to organize teaching theories into four categories based on two major parameters: teacher-center approach versus a student-centered and high-tech material use low-tech material use.

For information on these two major parameters, googled

https://teach.com/what/teachers-know/teaching-methods/

Listed below is another website of strategies kindergarten teachers currently use in kindergarten classrooms.

 https://www.earlychildhoodteacher.org/blog/six-strategies-for-21stcentury-early-childhood-teachers/

Kindergarten teachers must know how to find a balance in teaching methods.

Kindergarten teachers may provide instruction through play. Play encompasses the five domains of school readiness. As Vygotsky (1978) noted, it "contains all developmental tendencies in a condensed form and is itself a major source of development (p. 102)."

Through play, kindergarten teachers can intentionally plan to help students' development, including all domains of school readiness.

Assessment of Kindergarten Students

High-quality assessment of incoming kindergarten students may be given when students enter kindergarten. The school considers the evaluation as a developmental screening. The purpose of the screen is to provide teachers with an opportunity to become aware of each child's early learning skills. Kindergarten teachers will Not use the screen for placement or label the student. Kindergarten teachers should know that Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills and Readiness Check training is required. *Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills (GKIDS) Readiness Check*.

The Georgia Kindergarten Inventory of Developing Skills (GKIDS) Readiness
Check is designed to be developmentally appropriate for kindergarten students and will
provide information that guides kindergarten teachers to individualize student instruction.
The assessment instrument is an Excel worksheet document, which will allow evaluators
to check the readiness skills in detail and provide opportunities to add additional rows
and comments. The first column of the instrument includes brief descriptions of readiness
skills to consider during the evaluation process. The second column of the tool consists of
space to record examples of readiness deficits and their corrections. The third column
includes a description. The instrument is designed for an evaluator to use only. The
detailed evaluations can inform instructional plans, agendas, and plans for individualized
assistance. The evaluators should provide positive reinforcements for incoming
kindergarten students.

# GEORGIA KINDERGARTEN INVENTORY OF DEVELOPING SKILLS (GKIDS) READINESS CHECK

**Date Assessed** Date Mastered

# Cognitive and General Knowledge: Basic Skills

- · Identifies basic colors
- · Identifies simple shapes
- Understands positional concepts: up/down, over/under, in/out, far/near, above/below, and off/on

# **Reading Readiness**

- · Identifies pictures of objects
- · Follow simple directions
- · Asks simple questions
- · Recites the alphabet
- · Identifies uppercase letters
- · Identifies lowercase letters
- · Listen to stories with interest
- · Answer questions about a story
- · Repeats songs from memory

#### **Mathematics Readiness**

- · Rote counts to 10
- · Identifies numbers to 10
- · Uses ordinal number first through fifth
- · Identifies patterns
- · Creates simple patterns
- · Recognizes quantitative differences: big/little, more/fewer, empty/full, and short/long

# Language and Literacy Development

· Is using language effectively to express needs and wants

# **Date Assessed** Date Mastered

- · Can speak in sentences using 10 to 12 words
- · Can recognize letters and familiar words
- · Can print own name
- · Verbalizing many questions
- Enjoys sharing information with peers and adults

# **Approaches toward Learning**

- Can anticipate what happens next independently, or with the use of classroom pictures prompts
- · Puts away books or other materials where they belong when finished
- Self-selects a variety of activities during free choice.
- · Can asks others for information, "Why, Who, Where, When, and how questions?"
- · Expresses intention and interests, (e.g., "I want to work in the block area again today. I brought a car for the road.").

# **Social and Emotional Development**

- · Play well with peers
- · Has a very active imagination
- · Engages in new adventures
- · Communicates to a friend, "I like it because the colors are pretty."
- Makes up a new way of playing the Memory game and explains the rules to playmates

# **Date Assessed** Date Mastered

# Physical and Motor Development: Fine (small) Motor Skills

- · Hold pencil correctly
- · Colors within lines
- · Cuts a line with scissors
- · Traces vertical lines
- · Traces horizontal lines
- · Traces slanted lines
- · Traces curves and circles
- · Traces letters and numbers
- · Prints first name
- · Prints letters and numbers

# Gross (Large) Motor Skills

- · Runs with without falling
- · Jumps with two feet
- Walks backward
- · Hops on one foot
- · Balances on one foot
- · Skips, alternating feet
- · Catches a ball
- · Can swing well

The Georgia Department's website (https://www.gadoe.org/Curriculum-Instruction-and-Assessment/Assessment/Documents/GKIDS/Resources\_18-19/GKIDS) provides links to training.

# **Part III Family Engagement**

Kindergarten teachers have multiple opportunities to develop relationships that may impact students and their families for a lifetime. Kindergarten teachers should know that solid relationships with families promote parent involvement and family engagement. Family engagement and parent involvement both involve positive interactions with families. Kindergarten teachers should know that with family engagement, these interactions occur in the manner of a continuing and collaborative relationship.

Kindergarten teachers may promote family engagement when engaging families in an interactive process of relationship-building. This strategy involves kindergarten teachers being respectful toward a family's language and culture. With this strategy, kindergarten teachers may partner with families to have a shared responsibility for nurturing, caring, and learning of students. For additional information on Key Features of Family Engagement: https://usa.childcareaware.org/2017/10/family-engagement-look-like/

# Part IV: Leadership and Professional Development

Professional development (PD) is an essential strategy that multiple school districts use to structure professional learning to improve practices for teachers and student learning outcomes. The plan may include a conference, online training seminar, workshop, or collaborative learning among peers of a grade level. Regardless of the approach, the primary goal is to support teacher learning and improve student achievement. It is vital that teacher professional development helps teachers to improve

student outcomes. There are many approaches in professional development for teachers, such as teachers providing professional development. Since teachers are in the classrooms trying new strategies and gaining wisdom to be shared, they are the ideal facilitators.

The following are common areas for professional development through
Chattahoochee-Flint GYSTC at Chattahoochee-Flint Regional Educational Service
Agency (https://gystc.org/chattahoochee-flint-gystc/).

- Common Core State Standards
- Face-to-face trainings
- On-site training
- A web-based professional learning platform
- Online resources

For additional information Around Effective Professional Development:

 Maximizing the Use of New State Professional Learning Investments to Support Student, Educator, and School System Growth https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/publications/execsummary maximizing-learning-investments.pdf

# Teacher leadership

For additional information on Teacher leadership:

http://www.ascd.org/publications/books/105048/chapters/What-Is-Teacher-linear

Leadership%C2%A2.aspx

https://www.learningforward.org/teacher-leaders

https://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/finding\_common\_ground/2017/06/unlocking\_te acher\_leadership\_finding\_the\_hidden\_leaders\_in\_your\_building.html

# Part V: Assessment of Program Quality

Assessment of program quality is a systematic process of describing standards and results of strategies. The method of evaluation of program quality offers school administrators and teachers with data to understand the progress of students to meet state standards that are aligned to improved student outcomes. Assessment of program quality also provides school administrators and teachers information concerning programming, such as revising the curriculum and the daily schedule.

Kindergarten teachers should know that a high-quality kindergarten program annually evaluates the quality of the program, to gain an understanding and identifying factors concerning students' outcomes. The Georgia Department's website (https://www.gadoe.org/Curriculum-Instruction-and-

Assessment/Accountability/Pages/default.aspx) pages on Accountability, Partnership and Assistance provide links to several self-assessment tools aligned with areas of District Standards.

# References

- Bassok, D., Latham, S., & Rorem, A. (2016). Is kindergarten the new first grade? *Science Daily*, *I*(4), 1-31. https://doi.org10.1177/2332858415616358
- Cappelloni, N. L. (2013). Kindergarten readiness. Corwin.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective Teacher Professional Development.
  - https://doi.org/learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Effective\_Teacher\_Professional\_Development\_REPORT.pdf.
- Luby, J., Barch, D., Whalen, D. Tillman, R., & Freedland, K. (2018). Development for early childhood depression. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18030321
- Reeves, D. (2015). Top five tips for effective data teams. The School Superintendents

  Association. http://www.aasa.org/content.aspx?id=6760
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Harvard University Press.

# Appendix B: Kindergarten Teachers' Interview Questions

Kindergarten Teachers' Implementation Methods for School Readiness Skills in a

Rural School
Participant:
Site:
Date: Time:
I. Interview Questions 1-5 will focus on how you teach the five domains of school
readiness to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.
1. Describe how you teach physical well-being and motor development.
Possible follow up question: Tell me about how you teach incoming kindergarten
children to transition from activities to activities in the kindergarten environment
Possible follow up question: Tell me about how you teach your students to care
for their personal needs such as washing their hands after using the bathroom.
Possible follow up question: How do you teach incoming kindergarten children to
eat breakfast, lunch, and snack in the kindergarten classroom?
2. Describe how you teach social and emotional development.
Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach collaboration among
incoming kindergarten children.
Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach incoming kindergarten
children to play games (letter bingo) with peers and adults.
Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach your students to finish tasks,
raise their hands, and take turns and share

Possible follow up question: When your students become frustrated, describe how you teach your students to refrain from hitting, kicking, or biting their peers and adults.

3. Describe how you teach language development.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach decoding skills.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach standard grammar.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach phonemic awareness.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach students to use their words to acquire new knowledge.

4. Describe how you teach approaches toward learning.

Possible follow up question: How do you teach your students to show creativity, independence, cooperativeness, and persistence?

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach your children to solve problems.

5. Describe how you teach cognition and general knowledge.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach reading, writing, speaking, listening, language, and mathematic skills.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach kindergarten sight words.

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach your students to count (1 to 100).

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach pattern recognition (squares, circles, triangles, and rectangles).

Possible follow up question: Describe how you teach learning across five domains of school readiness.

# Appendix C: Observation Protocol

Kindergarten Teachers' Implementation Methods for School Readiness Skills in a Rural School

Identification Number:	Date:	
Kindergarten Classroom:		
Observation Initiation Time:		_
Observation Conclusion Time:		

I will record the events that I observe in each participant's kindergarten classroom to answer the one research and then analyze the data using thematic analysis. The research question includes (a) how kindergarten teachers implement the five domains of school readiness at a Title 1 school to improve incoming kindergarten student learning.